# Characterization of Activity Budgets by Beef Cattle on Pasture

by

Temitope O. Oloyede

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

in

Animal Science

## Department of Agricultural, Food and Nutritional Science University of Alberta

© Temitope O. Oloyede, 2024

### Abstract

Much of the cattle production cycle in western Canada occurs while grazing on openrange pasture, in which cattle exhibit complex behavior. Among these behaviors is how cattle spend their time grazing, walking, and resting. While these metrics may help explain behavioral responses and associated production, few studies have examined these attributes in cattle. This study examined cattle activity budgets using leg-mounted pedometers while grazing during summer and fall within a typical native Parkland rangeland of central Alberta, Canada. Moreover, these behaviors were evaluated relative to differences in environmental conditions (e.g., weather) and inherent animal attributes (age, RFI-fat and breed composition), and also related these behaviors to heifer and cow/calf production during the grazing season.

The first study evaluated activity budgets during an unusually warm summer and fall (2021) to evaluate the impact of heat stress on behavior. Cattle were found to have greater movement, as exhibited by daily step counts, during times of elevated heat stress, as characterized by the thermal heat index (THI). Additionally, heifers had higher movement rates than cows with calves, particularly in summer. Heat stress conditions not only altered daily movement rates and lying/resting times, but also altered diurnal patterns of activity, with increased movement overnight and at midday during heat stress conditions, and reduced activity in the morning and afternoon. Fewer impacts of heat stress were found in fall as compared to summer, despite the continued occurrence of short periods of heat stress (less than a day).

In a subsequent study using data from five cattle herds tested over 3 years, cow age was found to alter activity, with higher movement rates (and greater lying times) in heifers than cows, with movement further declining in older cows (up to 9 yr of age). In contrast, cattle activity on pasture had little association with either breed composition or RFI-fat (tested as a yearling in drylot). Cattle production metrics were found to depend on animal activity, with cows and heifers having greater weight gain in animals having greater daily movement rates (step counts) and reduced lying times. Additionally, several complex interactions were found between activity (step counts) and cattle age, particularly on the weight gain of calves, suggesting a need for further studies to better understand the role of beef cattle behavior (activity) on pasture, its underlying causes, and subsequent impact on cattle productivity.

### Preface

This thesis is an original work by Temitope Oloyede. Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Libraries to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly, or scientific research purposes only. Where the thesis is converted to, or otherwise made available in digital form, the University of Alberta will advise potential users of the thesis of these terms.

The author reserves all other publication and other rights in association with the copyright in the thesis and, except as herein before provided, neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form whatsoever without the author's prior written permission.

# Dedication

I dedicate this work to God almighty, the creator of the heaven and earth, the one who formed me before I was conceived. Also to Madam Ofure Rachael Eromosele, I can't forget your kindness till eternity.

### Acknowledgements

Special appreciation goes to the various funding agencies supporting this work, including Results Driven Agricultural Research (RDAR), Alberta Innovates (via the Smart Agriculture and Food Digitalization and Automation Program), the Canadian Agricultural Partnership (CAP), and the Alberta Beef Producers, without whom this work could not have occurred. My uttermost appreciation goes to my main supervisor, Dr. Edward Bork, under your tutelage I have grown, learned, unlearn and relearned, supporting me through every phase of this program. I would also like to acknowledge my committee members and mentors who immensely supported me during the course of this program, specifically Drs. Carolyn Fitzsimmons, Changxi Li and Francisco De Novais, whose immense contributions to this program have made this research a success. To Lisa Raatz, a special thank you for helping with organization, which proved to be very helpful in the completion of my program. I would also like to recognize Hailey Bolen for helping out with the organization of the cattle weight data I used in my analyses.

To the precision ranching group, thank you for making this experience worthwhile. To wonderful research assistants and summer students who helped make this work possible, including Ankhtsetseg, Katherine, Tianna, and Mikayla, thank you for making this experience special; your contributions to the success of this program are in no way little. My appreciation will not be complete without mentioning our wonderful Kinsella Ranch Staff (Vern, Sarge, Dave, Wyatt, and Regan, among others) for their support during the course of this program.

Finally, last but not least, I would like to recognize my parents and family members, Mr. and Mrs. Oloyede, my siblings Adebayo, Abiodun, Olaitan, Adewumi, Favour Okafor, the Adejumo's family, RGC family, Seyi, Tosin, Abike, Cynthia, Doxa Gospel church, and CAC citadel of power, Prophet Tewogbade, and Apostle Ilori. Thank you all for your prayers.

Table of Contents	
Abstract	ii
Preface	iv
Dedication	v
Acknowledgements	vi
Table of Contents	vii
List of Tables	ix
List of Figures	X
List of Abbreviations	xiv
Chapter 1. Review of cattle activity budget and production dynamics in beef c	attle grazing
systems	1
1.1 Global population demands and beef cattle production	
1.2 Western Canada's contribution to beef cattle production	2
1.3 Determinants of success in a pasture-based beef cattle production	
1.4 Cattle grazing behavior and activity budgets on pasture	
1.5 Measuring cattle activity budgets on pasture	
1.6 Measuring cattle performance on pasture	
1.7 Knowledge gaps, thesis goals, and objectives	
1.8 References	
2.1 Introduction	
2.2 Materials and Methods	
2.2.1 Study area	
2.2.2 Cattle herd	
2.2.3 Environmental data collection and derivation of THI	
2.2.4. Data analysis	41
2.3.1 Identification of heat stress days	
2.3.2 Cattle daily activity during summer and fall with respect to THI	
2.3.3 Cattle diurnal activity budgets and response to heat stress	
2.3.4 Apparent thresholds of THI regulating cattle activity	47
2.4 Discussion	

## **Table of Contents**

2.4.1 Quantification of seasonal heat stress	49
2.4.2 Diurnal patterns of cattle activity on pasture	50
2.4.3 Cattle daily activity budgets in relation to age class and potential heat stress	54
2.4.4 Potential heat stress thresholds separating cattle activity levels on pasture	57
2.5 Conclusions	58
2.6 References	60
Chapter 3: Linking cattle activity budgets on pasture to animal attributes and performance	85
3.1 Introduction	85
3.2 Materials and Methods	87
3.2.1 Study area	87
3.2.2 Cattle herds	87
3.2.3. Quantification of cattle activity	89
3.2.4 Cattle weight gain	90
3.2.5 Data stratification and analysis	90
3.3 Results	94
3.3.1 Purebred Angus activity responses	94
3.3.2 Factors regulating activity in the large KC herd and their performance	96
3.3.3 Factors regulating activity and performance of the small KC herd	96
3.4 Discussion	98
3.4.1 Age effects on cattle activity budgets	98
3.4.2 Intrinsic genomic attributes regulating cattle activity	100
3.4.3 Cattle production responses in relation to activity	102
3.5 Conclusion	106
3.6 References	107
Chapter 4: Synthesis	124
4.1 General Overview	124
4.2 Research Summary	125
4.3 Management Implications	127
4.4 Future Research Opportunities	128
Bibliography	130
Appendices A	164
Appendices B	167

# List of Tables

<b>Table 2.1</b> Mean climatic conditions during the experimental grazing periods of 2021		
between June 28 and November 8. THI is the Temperature-Humidity Index.		
RH is the Relative Humidity. Values in parentheses are 1 standard		
deviation	76	
<b>Table 2.2</b> Descriptive activity summary during the experimental grazing periods of		
2021 between June 28 and November 8. Values in parentheses are 1 standard		
deviation (sd)	76	
Table 2.3 Summary ANOVA results examining mean daily step counts (steps d <sup>-1</sup> )		
and lying time (hr $d^{-1}$ ) in relation to animal age class (cow vs heifer) and		
daily temperature-humidity index (THI), as well as their interaction, during		
each of the summer (June 28 – Aug 24) and fall (Aug 28 – Nov. 8) grazing		
periods during 2021	77	
Table 3.1 Summary of all experimental animal used in the trials and their		
corresponding activity data from 2021 to 2023	119	
Table 3.2 Summary of all experimental animals in the various trials and their		
corresponding production data from 2021 to 2023	120	
Table 3.3 Summary ANOVA results examining summer cow weight gain, summer		
calf weight gain, and cow-calf weight gain in relation to cow mean daily step		
counts (steps d <sup>-1</sup> ), age, and their interactions as evaluated for Angus cows in		
the summer grazing season of 2022	121	

# List of Figures

Figure	<b>2.1</b> Mean daily temperatures (solid line) during the grazing trial. Also shown	
	are the maximum and minimum temperature ranges per day (grey) and the	
	historical 30 yr norm (1991-2020, dashed line)	78
Figure	e 2.2 Summary of mean temperature-humidity index (THI) values that cattle	
	were exposed to while grazing based on either A) daily THI values, or B)	
	hourly THI values, throughout the 2021 summer grazing season at the	
	Kinsella Research Station. Data include the summer (left) and fall (right)	
	periods	79
Figure	e 2.3 Changes in mean (±SD) temperature-humidity index (THI) computed on	
	an hourly basis for each of the days with presumed heat stress (THI $\ge$ 68; n =	
	16) and days without heat stress (THI < 68; $n = 42$ ) during the summer 2021	
	grazing period	80
Figure	2.4 Relationship between mean daily step counts of either cows or heifers,	
	and temperature-humidity index (THI) during A) the 2021 summer grazing	
	season, and B) the 2021 fall grazing season, at the Kinsella Research Ranch.	
	Also depicted are the relationship between mean daily lying time of either	
	cows or heifers, and heat stress level (THI), during C) the 2021 summer	
	grazing season, and D) the 2021 fall grazing season. Interactions between	
	animal class × THI are all significant at $P \le 0.05$ . Equations indicate the	
	significance of the individual relationships. Shaded areas represent the	
	standard error for each response	

Figure 2.5 Changes in mean diurnal step counts (±SEM) over a 24-hr period during	
days of presumed heat stress exposure (temperature-humidity index, THI $\geq$	
68; $n = 16$ ) and non-stress (THI < 68; $n = 42$ ) days, for A) cows and B)	
heifers. Data are from the summer grazing period (June 28 – August 24)	
during 2021. Within an age class and hour, paired step counts denoted with	
an * differ, P < 0.05	83

Figure 2.6 Changes in mean diurnal lying time (±SE) over a 24-hr period during		
days of presumed heat stress exposure (temperature-humidity index, THI $\geq$		
68; n = 16) and non-stress (THI < 68; n = 42) days, for A) cows and B)		
heifers. Data are from the summer grazing period (June 28 – August 24)		
during 2021. Within an age class and hour, paired step counts denoted with		
an * differ, P < 0.05	84	
Figure 2.7 Changes in mean diurnal step counts (±SE) over a 24-hr period during		
fall for cows and heifers. Data are from the fall grazing period (August 28 –		
November 8) during 2021	85	
Figure 2.8 Changes in mean diurnal lying time (±SE) over a 24-hr period during fall		
for cows and heifers. Data are from the fall grazing period (August $28 -$		
November 8) during 2021	85	
Figure 2.9 Regression tree-CART model results depicting the impact of daily THI		
(Temperature-Humidity Index) values on changes in observed daily step		

- Figure 3.1 Summary of the relationship between A) mean daily steps counts and cow age, and B) mean daily lying time and cow age, as evaluated for Angus cows during the summer grazing season of 2022.
- Figure 3.3 Relationship between cow-calf aggregate weight gain and the interactionof cow age and mean daily step counts, as evaluated during the summergrazing season of 2022. The interaction is significant at p = 0.005 and AdjR<sup>2</sup> = 0.16.....124Figure 3.4 Summary of the mean comparison between A) mean daily step counts

# List of Abbreviations

Hr	Hour
BC	Breed composition
RFI-Fat	Residual Feed Intake Fat adjusted
THI	Temperature Humidity Index
SC	Step count
LT	Lying time
%	Percentage
WTG	Weight Gain
ADG	Average daily gain
3D	3 Dimensional
SEM	Standard error of the mean
SD	Standard deviation
AIC	Akaike Information Criterion
ΔΑΙC	Delta Akaike Information Criterion
NRC	National Research Council

# Chapter 1. Review of cattle activity budget and production dynamics in beef cattle grazing systems

### 1.1 Global population demands and beef cattle production

The human population is projected to reach 9.3 billion by 2050, according to estimations from the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (Alexandratos et al., 2012). The effects of the fast-growing population, as stated by Eisler et al. (2014), also impact access to food, leading people to an undernourished condition, especially protein deficiency. To help balance population growth with providing nutritious food sources, it is clear that livestock production will need to contribute, with no net decrease in the amount of meat consumed per capita, over the past 10 years per capita meat consumption (Alexandratos et al., 2012). Within this context, beef cattle production emerges as an essential mechanism for the agricultural sector to address the escalating protein deficit accompanying demographic expansion.

According to the 2024 World Markets and Trade report by the United States Department of Agriculture, the current total beginning stocks for cattle worldwide amounted to 944 million head (USDA, 2024). At the same time, there is a challenge in further increasing the number of cattle as this process could impact competition for food between animals and humans, as well as pose further difficulties in maintaining the health of livestock. Approximately 70% of the grains utilized globally are allocated to animal feed, and 40% are specifically utilized by ruminants, particularly cattle (Alexandratos et al., 2012). Therefore, increasing the number of cattle could lead to issues in terms of food competition, especially in developing countries. Moreover, a larger population of animals necessitates enhanced hygiene and health management practices to prevent the spread of infectious diseases and maintain individual animal welfare, which could have financial implications for farmers, particularly in high-density production systems (Eisler et al., 2014). As a result, seeking alternative strategies supporting sustainable livestock production, is essential to mitigate or minimize the impact of expanding the cattle population, with a primary emphasis on animal welfare and productivity (Eisler et al., 2014; Thompson and Nardone, 1999).

### **1.2 Western Canada's contribution to beef cattle production**

Canada holds a crucial position in beef production with 11.5 million cattle and ranking as the world's 8th-largest beef producer, including accounting for 4.4% of total global beef exports (USDA, 2024). Canada maintains a herd of 10.3 million cattle on beef operations, and a significant majority (86%), or approximately 8.9 million head, are produced and processed in western Canada, which includes Alberta, British Columbia, Saskatchewan, and Manitoba (Statistics Canada, 2023). With 5 million head in beef operations, Alberta has the largest cattle herd in Canada, contributing 43.2% to the national total inventory, followed by Saskatchewan (20.5%) and Ontario (13.2%) (Statistics Canada, 2023). Typical Canadian beef production systems are represented by an initial cow-calf stage, followed by backgrounder or stocker, and finally feedlot (or finishing) operations, with many commercial farms having more than one operation category (Sheppard et al., 2015).

The cow-calf stage is characterized by a forage-based system, where calves stay with the cows until weaning (Pogue et al., 2018), and that usually requires minimal external resources, with the pasture playing an important role in cattle diets (Alemu et al., 2017). Beef production operational inputs become crucial in the winter months, when pregnant cows remain either on pasture or in confined feeding areas, and in most situations are fed with supplemental hay and/or straw (Alemu et al., 2017). This is due to the nutrition necessary for pregnant cows when the natural forage may be limited or unavailable in the winter period. According to Sheppard et al.

(2015) the majority of cattle farms (91%) define themselves as cow-calf operators. A backgrounder farmer specializes in feeding weaned calves until they are ready to be finished. Backgrounder operations vary in their strategies to achieve post-weaning growth, which is either on pasture and/or confinement in drylot, depending on the season, before eventually being moved to finishing operations where they are fed to achieve market weight (Alemu et al., 2017; Pogue et al., 2018). Finally, feedlot operators are farmers who focus on finishing steers and heifers using a high-grain diet (Pogue et al., 2018), with 13% of cattle farmers operating with this approach (Sheppard et al., 2015). Given the large footprint of the cow/calf sector, the Canadian beef cattle breeding herd inevitably relies on a significant amount of grazing land to support its production, especially during the primary grazing season from May to October, that can potentially extend into the dormant season (Legesse et al., 2016). Based on the characteristics of these beef cattle systems, it is clear that grazing is an essential component of cattle diets and their management.

Given the prevalent role of the cow-calf production operation in Canada (Sheppard et al., 2015), and how this activity heavily relies on the use of pastures (Bailey, 2010; Vallentine, 2016), cattle activity may increase due to the large expanse of land in which grazing occurs. Cattle graze on about 36 M ha across the Prairie provinces, which include Manitoba, Saskatchewan, and Alberta. The area consists of 4 M ha of cultivated pasture, 6 M ha of tame (planted) forage crops, and 26 M ha of natural (never cultivated) grazing land. Because the majority of the production area is natural pastures, understanding the determinants involved in regulating grazing-based production is central to ensuring an economically sustainable beef production industry.

### 1.3 Determinants of success in a pasture-based beef cattle production

Grazing is the process whereby herbivores consume plants to obtain energy and nutrients. Moreover, grazing is typically embedded within an ecological system of a given geographic area, in which complex interactions (interrelationships and interdependence) occur among all living organisms, including in relation to the local environment with specific physical and/or chemical attributes (Heitschmidt and Stuth, 1991). During free-range grazing, especially in natural (i.e., native) pastures, animals make decisions to select (i.e., locate and consume) plants in different habitats, thereby enhancing their nutritional intake at minimal energetic cost (Senft et al., 1987; Kaufmann et al., 2013). Habitats constitute all the physical and geographical circumstances that make conditions favorable for supporting life, including individuals or communities, as a result of favorable biotic and abiotic interactions (Yapp, 1922; Heitschmidt and Stuth, 1991).

Within the native pastures of western Canada, available habitats vary widely in a relatively small area, and can include, for example, open grasslands, wetlands, or closed canopy forests (Kaufmann et al., 2013; Wheeler, 1976; Arthur, 1983), making the process of habitat selection potentially complex. Therefore, beef production on pasture involves a variety of biotic and abiotic factors that influence the growth, health, behavior, and productivity of cattle. These factors include variation in the quality, quantity, and diversity of forages (Senft et al., 1987; Bailey et al., 1996; Bork et al., 2012; Kaufmann et al., 2013), genetic components of the animal (Mwangi et al., 2019; Walmsley et al., 2016), animal health (Lamy et al., 2012), animal bioenergetics (Webster, 1989), water supply (Veira, 2007), residual feed intake (Arthur and Herd, 2009), climatic and weather conditions (Gauly et al., 2013), and even the use of technology (Lamb et al., 2016).

Forage quality and availability are pivotal where the production system is based on the grazing process. Plant community composition, and variation in the seasonal phenological development of vegetation, both affect foraging opportunities (Dzowela et al., 1990; Lamy et al., 2012). As Canada has a distinctly temperate environment, with strongly seasonal conditions (Zhang et al., 2000), this seasonal dynamic alters both the environment and foraging conditions under which grazing occurs, including for example, between summer, fall, and winter. With the ongoing seasonal use of pastures in cow-calf production systems, it is important to understand how cattle may alter their activity throughout the different seasons.

Changes in pasture quality and quantity, as well as the availability of drinking water, may alter the length of time that cattle spend searching for forage, feeding, and resting/ruminating (Schlecht et al., 2006). The quality and quantity of forage available are important factors that affect animal productivity, and these, in turn, change markedly across seasons (Melo et al., 2022). For instance, during the summer there is often abundant biomass available, and this forage is typically high in quality (protein and energy) due to adequate rainfall, warm temperatures, and the presence of extended sunlight to maintain plant growth (Grant et al., 2014). Unlike summer, however, foraging conditions are often markedly different during fall, which coincides with rapidly advancing plant senescence before winter (Buxton et al., 2003; Monteith et al., 2011). At this time, forage quantity may still be sufficient, but decreases in forage quality are likely to occur, which may alter animal behavior, including the time allocated to travel to preferred habitats, search for and locate preferential forage plants, and consume them. Reduced rainfall during fall may also dry up summer water sources, necessitating that animals move further to find drinking water, and this in turn, may pose a larger challenge for lactating cows that have higher intake requirements of water.

Another production determinant for beef cattle is the genetic component of the animal. Aharoni et al. (2009) compared activity levels (measured in hourly step counts and standing time) of Baladi and Beef Master × Simmental cross cattle and found that the Baladi cattle were more active with a higher number of daily step counts, standing time, and grazing time, despite having a higher lying time among the two breeds. Furthermore, the ratio of the energy cost of each activity metric to the metabolic body weight of the two breeds of cows was also compared, with Baladi cattle having a higher value, indicating a higher activity metric and lower metabolic body weight. In addition, Baladi cattle spent more time lying down as compared to the Beef Master cattle (Aharoni et al., 2009); however, of note is that the pattern of dry matter intake was reversed between groups, with the crossbred cattle consuming more feed. Some breeds of cattle have also been shown to generally be more docile and less temperamental, such as Simmental, Hereford, Beef Master, and British White, all of which therefore appear to be less active as compared to cattle originating from more upland environments, such as Angus (Widi et al., 2015). Within crossbred cattle, different types of breeds are combined and each breed has a percentage contribution present, which is referred to in cattle as retained heterozygosity, or breed composition (VanRaden et al., 2007). In theory, breed composition should also affect the behavior of cattle, depending on the predominant breed of cattle present within the genotype, and whether that breed is likely to be more active or less active.

Another determinant that can affect cattle production on pasture or feedlot is residual feed intake. Residual feed intake (RFI) is a measure of feed efficiency, calculated as the difference between actual and expected feed intake, and is independent of body size and growth (Koch et al., 1963; Arthur et al., 1996; Basarab et al., 2003; Nkrumah et al., 2006). RFI is generally recognized as the preferred metric for assessing beef cattle efficiency (Herd and Arthur, 2009). In

a drylot setting, where the environment and feed intake are homogeneous and strictly regulated, phenotypic measurements of RFI are frequently taken in beef cattle (Basarab et al., 2003; Wang et al., 2006). Due to the difficulty in determining individual feed consumption on pasture, previous RFI investigations with cattle on pastures that involved grazing have been difficult (Meyer et al., 2008). Furthermore, because feed type, feed intake, activity levels, and surroundings might differ greatly, RFI results from the same cattle tested in a drylot and on pasture may not be identical. Cattle productivity is influenced by the forages selected, which can vary in abundance, composition, and quality over rangeland landscapes due to widespread variation in biotic and abiotic environmental factors (Bailey et al., 1996), including the habitats they are selected from. Variation in cattle activity levels can be attributed to variation in RFI (Herd et al., 2004). RFI and daily pedometer counts were found to have a phenotypic association of 0.32 (Richardson et al., 2001), and high RFI (inefficient) bulls took an average of 6% more steps per day than low RFI bulls (Arthur et al., 2001a). According to Arthur et al. (2001a), the increase in activity and energy expenditure was brought on by an increase in the distance traveled, with more time spent standing and ruminating, as well as increased energy used for feeding, walking, and ruminating (Herd et al., 2004).

Environmental factors such as the health of the herd can also affect the productivity of beef cattle. Diseased animals will be less active and less productive (Holmes, 1993; Lopes et al., 2012). Sick animals will have reduced weight gain, which is an important metric for measuring output from the herd, particularly of animals grazing on pasture (Keyserling et al., 2009). Environmental factors can also affect the productivity of the herd through changes in nutrition, as both a low supply of forage, and the intake of forages low in energy content (such as carbohydrates) will not provide the nutrition needed for optimal maintenance, growth and reproduction (Herd and Sprout, 1986).

The productivity of beef cattle can also be affected by climatic and environmental variables such as air temperature, humidity, and rainfall, primarily by changing cattle behavioral responses during either excessively cold periods or heat wave events (Morignat et al., 2014). Several researchers have identified animal death as one of the significant effects of heat stress on livestock (Stull et al., 2008; Vitali et al., 2009). During 2011 heat waves were recorded to have killed over 4,000 cattle in Iowa (Lees et al., 2019). Livestock death not only led to direct welfare impairment of the cattle herd, but also reduced beef production profitability (Barrett et al., 2020). St-Pierre et al. (2003) reported that heat stress within dairy cattle cost the industry about \$900 M annually in the United States, by negatively affecting reproduction, dietary intake, milk production, and animal survival (Coventry and Philips, 2000).

### 1.4 Cattle grazing behavior and activity budgets on pasture

Rangelands are characterized by distinct topography and microclimates, giving rise to diverse plant communities with varying forage quality and productivity across seasons. The availability of forage therefore varies markedly in space, but also fluctuates temporally, which affects the seasonal and diurnal grazing activity of free-ranging cattle (Owen-Smith, 2008). It has been suggested that pastoral systems may require cattle to use more energy while foraging due to the need to travel to, search within, and select their diets from these complex ecosystems, which could impact the growth of beef or dairy cattle (Bailey et al., 1996; Di Marco and Aello, 1998).

Cattle typically spend most of their day grazing and moving around, covering 2 to 8 km distances, and grazing for 8 to 10 hr (Herbel and Nelson, 1966). Therefore, the selective behavior of cattle can markedly alter their activity, and therefore performance, on pasture. Heterogeneous landscapes at various spatial scales, such as feeding stations, plant communities

(habitats), and landscapes, allow for highly selective foraging, which can alter their activity budgets, including the time dedicated to grazing, walking, and resting (lying down) on pasture (Bailey et al., 1996; Coughenour, 1991; Senft et al., 1987).

The choice of grazing habitat has been commonly investigated in relation to different cattle breeds (Bailey et al., 2001; VanWagoner et al., 2006). Research by Bailey et al. (2001) concluded that breeds adapted to steeper slopes (such as Tarantaise) make better use of mountainous terrain than Herefords, which were historically bred and adapted to environments with more level ground. The adaptability of different breeds to different landscapes (i.e., slopes) can impact the distance traveled, and therefore area covered, during routine daily activities (Walker, 1995). With Piedmontese-sired animals using steeper slopes and greater vertical and horizontal separation distances from water than Angus cattle, VanWagoner et al. (2006) discovered comparable results. In a later investigation, Bailey et al. (2015) demonstrated that grazing behavior was a heritable feature, where they identified 5 quantitative trait loci (QTL) in cattle that contributed to a Terrain Use Index. Bailey et al. (2015) concluded that the selection by cattle for high-elevation ranges could be partly explained by cattle genetics. Another vital consideration to genetic potential is that grazing animals tend to learn grazing behaviors as young animals from their dams, fellow herd members, as well as via post-ingestive sensory feedback. Simitzis et al. (2008) found that flavor preference development begins as early as inutero, and continues through suckling (Nolte and Provenza, 1992a) and the first exposure to solid forages (Nolte and Provenza, 1992b) when infants are exposed to flavors by mimicking their mother. Over time, the attention and subsequent recall of flavor increases, thereby strengthening the persistence of preference for early-life flavors (Nolte and Provenza, 1992b).

Regardless of whether an animal was raised by its mother or a different dam as a calf, cattle will graze in the same places in the environment from where they were introduced, and are strongly impacted by their early life herd members (Howery et al., 1998). Young animal feeding and movement routines will be repeated throughout their lifetime, and may even be more persistent than later-learned habits (Launchbaugh and Howery, 2005; Provenza and Balph, 1988). With calves being able to learn from their dams, the distance of ground covered while searching for forage, as well as the actual time spent consuming forage, can also vary due to social interaction. Collectively, animal food preferences are shaped by these behaviors and postingestive feedback (Provenza, 1995), which are part of the social and biophysical environments that interact with the animal's genome during development, and allow the animal to adapt its specific diet to the local environment and foraging conditions (Galyean and Gunter, 2016).

The amount of time an animal spends ruminating each day will also depend on the state of the pasture (Welch and Smith, 1970). Cattle likely ruminate for five to nine hours daily on average (Evans et al., 1973; Pahl et al., 2014). Most rumination happens when cattle are resting at night, although it also happens between feeding bouts during the day. Due to the lengthy time required to break down mature forage, daily intake may eventually be limited when highly mature, low-quality forage is ingested, thereby reducing passage rates and associated forage intake levels, particularly in ruminants. Given the key role of changes in forage quality in altering digestive physiology, the season of grazing can also affect feeding patterns and associated activity budgets. In a study conducted by Jochims et al. (2020), they reported that grazing time in summer was 57% of the total length of the day, while during winter this declined to about 47%. These investigators further reported that daylight duration affected animals as they tended to spend more time grazing during summer when there was more daylight than in winter.

Activities such as standing time, lying time, and step counts were also found to have an energy cost in different studies with sheep and cattle (Blaxter and Wainman, 1962; Forbes et al.,

1927; Osuji, 1974), with energy expenditure increases of 11% and 15% for sheep and cattle, respectively, when grazing on rangeland as compared to being fed in a pen (Blaxter, 1967).

Walking is an important activity with associated bioenergetic costs for animals (Fancy and White, 2018; Kramer and Sylvester, 2011). Walking on pasture may be tied to travel time when moving from resting or sheltered areas to preferred foraging habitats, or to search time while foraging within preferred habitats, as well as the energy expended by cattle in traveling to and consuming available drinking water (Maurya et al., 2012). Walking of unrestrained cattle on open range is associated with the use of 45 to 60 kcal per 100 kg of body weight (Osuji, 1974; ARC, 1980; CSIRO, 1990), and most cows will further increase the energy expended in the search for forage and water to sustain lactation for their calves (Grant and Albright, 1995). Therefore, since walking uses considerable energy, understanding the effort expended on specific behaviors such as walking may help cattle producers select cows that conserve energy while optimizing nutrient intake within complex pasture environments.

### 1.5 Measuring cattle activity budgets on pasture

Measuring the activity of beef cattle on pasture will help correlate their activity with production, and thereby better understand how activity may be modified to enhance performance. Early studies on cattle activity were unclear on whether activity was a precise reflector of their performance (Claperton, 1961; Macoon et al., 2003). However, other studies have reported that there are no significant changes in cattle performance relative to activity budgets such as walking time and distance; instead, poor performance was attributed to poor forage quality and quantity restrictions during the dry season (Nicholson, 1987). Despite this, a more recent study investigating grazing cattle performance reported that cattle that grazed under an intensive

silvopastoral system had better performance than those in a conventional system, and attributed the difference to a reduction in movement (walking) of cattle (Cardona et al., 2013). Nonetheless, most studies have not explored the effect of cattle activity directly on cow performance. Dohme-Meier et al. (2014) suggested that cattle activity on pasture might not have a significant effect on cattle performance, as grazing cattle have a reduced response in their milk production, which he attributed to the cow's ability to mobilize body reserves to support the additional energy required when cattle activity (walking) increased in their search for forage.

Activity budgets of animals can be measured using pedometers. Many studies have reported that pedometers can be used on animals other than cattle and have even been tested on small ruminants like sheep and goats (Askar et al., 2013, 2015; Beker et al., 2010). Different travel patterns can affect how quickly an animal is moving. According to Anderson and Kothman (1980) the horizontal movement of animals while grazing requires more energy, which results in more trips. Roefols et al. (2005) concluded that pedometers are useful tools to measure an animal's activity, including identifying an animal's estrus status, particularly in dairy cattle. Additionally, pedometers are frequently used to determine whether a cow is lame (Mazrier et al., 2006). However, it has also been reported that pedometers can be used in the automatic detection of lameness within cattle (Alsaaod et al., 2019), although this capability does appear to be present in older pedometer designs.

According to Edward and Tozer (2004) tracking changes in a person's behavioral activity in terms of walking, lying down, and standing up, pedometers can help in detecting illness and metabolic abnormalities. Pedometers are frequently used to track behavioral changes in animals undergoing experimental trials or undergoing physiological changes such as between pre- and post-partum (Askar et al., 2015; Bachmann et al., 2014). However, pedometers were manually set up in this study, with animals brought in weekly to download data from pedometers. Pedometers

have primarily been used in feedlots for dairy cattle and/or beef cattle (Roefols et al., 2005). One of the main drawbacks of utilizing pedometers on rangeland is that, unlike cattle in feedlots, animals must be gathered and handled when downloading the data.

The accuracy of the reading of pedometers was mostly caused by specific operations and designs of the pedometers, as the distance covered by the animal will be accurate if the pedometers are in good condition (Walker et al., 1985). With contemporary improvements in the current designs of pedometers, pedometers can send notifications of activity wirelessly to the computer station, and notify the producer of different situations for the herd. Regular monitoring of animals will increase the effectiveness of the pedometer and improve the welfare of the animal, including whether the fitted straps of the pedometers become too tight, in turn, avoiding animal discomfort or health complications.

### 1.6 Measuring cattle performance on pasture

Cattle performance is essential for determining and optimizing beef productivity on pasture (Dunks and Guye, 2022; Fordyce et al., 2021). Different metrics are used in determining cattle performance. They include cow weight gain, calf weight gain, cow-calf weight gain, and cow backfat thickness. Cow weight gain is the increase in weight over a particular grazing period, which could be seasonal (summer or fall) or an aggregate weight gain over a prolonged grazing period (summer and fall combined). This is a measure of the herd performance, including their production determinants, such as nutrition, pasture quality and quantity, and health status of the animals (Laske et al., 2012; Romanzini et al., 2018).

Furthermore, another measurement of cow/calf herd performance is the associated calf weight gain. This represents the mothering ability of the cow as the associated weight gain of the

calf over a grazing season (Gelsinger et al., 2016; Peischel et al., 1980). With favorable calf weight gain, producers will have higher weaning weights, leading to an increase in profitability, as demonstrated by the sale of weaned calves (Ghodasara et al., 2015). Another similarly important metric may be the aggregate weight gain of the cow-calf unit, which is the combined cow weight gain and that of the 205–day adjusted weaning weight of the calf (Richardson, 1979). These metrics are most valued by producers as they signify the ability of both cows and calves to achieve increased weight gain over a given grazing period, thereby improving the sale value of the calf at year end, and the condition of the dam heading into winter, both of which directly impact economic profitability (Elmore and Mullenix, 2022).

Another important economic trait is backfat thickness, which indicates the energy reserves of the cow, an overall body condition score, and a potential carcass quality determinant (Schröder and Staufenbiel, 2006; Yukun et al., 2019). Cow backfat thickness is measured using an ultrasound scanner to quantify the backfat of cows before and after a given grazing period (Brethour, 1992; Schröder and Staufenbiel, 2006). This information can then be used to determine how the amount of fat deposited during the grazing season relates to various other factors, including cow activity budgets.

### 1.7 Knowledge gaps, thesis goals, and objectives

Many studies examining cattle activity budgets, heat stress, and weight gain have been conducted, primarily on dairy cattle within feedlot environments. However, few studies have been conducted on beef cattle, including in open rangelands where behavioral changes in cattle activity can be complex, and be influenced by important covariates such as the season of grazing (and associated foraging conditions), animal age, breed composition, and previously established RFI of cattle, or the climatic conditions, including temperature and humidity. The goal of this study was to characterize the behavioral activity of beef cattle while grazing on open rangeland, and relate this activity to different biotic and abiotic factors. Furthermore, this activity will be linked to important cattle production metrics such as cow weight gain, calf weight gain, cow-calf aggregate weight gain, and changes in backfat thickness.

More specifically, I examined how potential heat stress, season of grazing, animal age, and time of the day affect cattle activity budgets while on pasture, including step counts of animals and their lying time. In Chapter 2, I quantified the impact of heat stress on cattle activity during the extreme (warm) temperatures experienced by cattle during the summer of 2021, including responses to these covariates, for instance, how step counts or lying time changes with an increase in thermal heat index (THI) during heat stress periods. Chapter 3 focuses on how cattle production varies in relation to activity budgets of cattle monitored over three grazing seasons from 2021 through 2023. The primary objective here was to see if production metrics can be explained using observed activity metrics, such as step counts, lying time, and standing time. Targeted production metrics include cow weight gain, calf weight gain, cow-calf weight gain, and changes in backfat thickness. In doing so, this will evaluate whether cows put on more weight at the expense of their calves, support greater weight gain in their calves at the expense of their gain, or alternatively, have independent growth responses in their calves as compared to their own fitness gains.

The overall goal of this thesis was to identify how commercial beef cattle grazing under open-range conditions allocate their energy to different activities, thereby influencing their performance (primarily weight gain). The final chapter, Chapter 4, will review the results of this research, its application to the beef industry, and its implications for science and technology, as well as identify future research opportunities

### **1.8 References**

- Aharoni, Y., Henkin, Z., Ezra, A., Dolev, A., Shabtay, A., Orlov, A., Yehuda, Y., and Brosh, A. (2009). Grazing behavior and energy costs of activity: a comparison between two types of cattle. Journal of Animal Science, 87(8): 2719-2731. <u>https://doi.org/10.2527/jas.2008-1505</u>.
- Alemu, A. W., Amiro, B. D., Bittman, S., MacDonald, D., and Ominski, K. H. (2017).
  Greenhouse gas emission of Canadian cow-calf operations: A whole-farm assessment of
  295 farms. Agricultural Systems. 151:73–83. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agsy.2016.11.013</u>
- Alemu, A.W., Amiro, B.D., Bittman, S., MacDonald, D., and Ominski, K.H. (2016). A typological characterization of Canadian beef cattle farms based on a producer survey.
  Canadian Journal of Animal Science. 96(2): 87–202. <u>https://doi.org/10.1139/cjas-2015-0060</u>.
- Alexandratos, N., and Bruinsma, J., (2012). Prospect for food and nutrition. Pg 23-41, In: World Agriculture Towards 2030/2050: The 2012 Revision., edited by Alexandratos, N., and Bruinsma, J, Food and Agriculture Organization, Rome, Italy.

https://doi.org/10.22004/AG.ECON.288998

- Allen, J. D., Hall, L. W., Collier, R. J., and Smith, J. F. (2015). Effect of core body temperature, time of day, and climate conditions on behavioral patterns of lactating dairy cows experiencing mild to moderate heat stress. Journal of Dairy Science, 98(1), 118–127. <u>https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2013-7704</u>.
- Agricultural Research Council (1980). The Nutrient Requirement of Livestock, Commonwealth Agricultural Bureau, Wantage, UK. 381 pp.

- Arthur, P. F., Archer, J. A., Johnson, D. J., Herd, R. M., Richardson, E. C., and Parnell, P. F.
  (2001a). Genetic and phenotypic variance and covariance components for feed intake,
  feed efficiency and other postweaning traits in Angus cattle. Journal of Animal Science.
  79: 2805-2811.
- Arthur, P. F., Herd, R. M., Wright, J., Xu, G., Dibley, K., Richardson, E. C., and Parnell, P. (1996). Net feed conversion efficiency and its relationship with other traits in beef cattle.
  Proceedings of Australia Society of Animal Production. 21: 107-110.
- Bailey, A., McCartney, D., and Schellenberg M. (2010). Management of Canadian prairie rangeland. Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada, Swift Current Research and Development Centre, Swift Current, SK. pp 76.
- Bailey, D. W., Gross, J. E., Laca, E. A., Rittenhouse, L. R., Coughenour, M. B., Swift, D. M., and Sims, P. L. (1996). Mechanisms that result in large herbivore grazing distribution patterns. Journal of Range Management, 49(5): 386-400. https://doi.org/10.2307/4002919
- Barrett, D., Tilling, O., Button, E., Hart, K., MacGillivray, F., Jansen, J., Fitzgerald, K., and Sherwin, G. (2020). Youngstock health: effective disease prevention today ensuring tomorrow's profitable herd. British Journal of Livestock Science. 25(2): 1-24. https://doi.org/10.12968/live.2020.25.s1.1
- Basarab, J. A., Colazo, M. G., Ambrose, D. J., Novak, S., McCartney, D., and Baron, V. S.
  (2011). Residual feed intake adjusted for backfat thickness and feeding frequency is independent of fertility in beef heifers. Canadian Journal of Animal Science. 91(4): 573–584. https://doi.org/10.4141/cjas2011-010
- Basarab, J. A., Price, M.A., Aalhus, J. L., Okine, E. K., Snelling, V. M., and Lyle, K. L. 2003. Residual feed intake and body composition in young growing cattle. Canadian Journal of Animal Science. 83:189-204.

- Beck, P., Stewart, C., Sims, M., Gadberry, M., and Jennings, J. (2016). Effects of stocking rate, forage management, and grazing management on performance and economics of cow– calf production in southwest arkansas1. Journal of Animal Science. 94(9): 3996-4005. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas.2016-0634
- Berckmans, D.(2014). Precision livestock farming technologies for welfare management in intensive livestock systems. Revue Scientific Technique. 33(1):189-96. doi: 10.20506/rst.33.1.2273. PMID: 25000791.
- Bernabucci, U., Biffani, S., Buggiotti, L., Vitali, A., Lacetera, N., and Nardone, A. (2014). The effects of heat stress in Italian Holstein dairy cattle. Journal of Dairy Science. 97(1): 471– 486. <u>https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2013-6611</u>
- Bork, E., Willms, W., Tannas, S., and Alexander, M. (2012). Seasonal Patterns of Forage
   Availability in the Fescue Grasslands Under Contrasting Grazing Histories. Rangeland
   Ecology and Management. 65(1): 47–55. https://doi.org/10.2111/REM-D-11-00087.1
- Bouraoui, R., Lahmar, M., Majdoub, A., Djemali, M., and Belyea, R. (2002). The relationship of temperature-humidity index with milk production of dairy cows in a Mediterranean climate. Animal Research. 51(6): 479–491. <u>https://doi.org/10.1051/animres:2002036</u>
- Brethour, J. (1992). The repeatability and accuracy of ultrasound in measuring backfat of cattle. Journal of Animal Science. 70(4) 1039-1044 . https://doi.org/10.2527/1992.7041039X
- Brosh, A., Henkin, Z., Ungar, E., Dolev, A., Orlov, A., Yehuda, Y., and Aharoni, Y. (2006).
  Energy cost of cows' grazing activity: Use of the heart rate method and the Global
  Positioning System for direct field estimation. Journal of Animal Science, 84 (7) 19511967. <u>https://doi.org/10.2527/JAS.2005-315</u>.

- Cardona, C., Ramírez, J., Morales, A., and Rosales, R. (2013). Energy use in cattle in intensive silvopastoral systems with Leucaena leucocephala and its relationship to animal performance. CES Medicina Veterinaria y Zootecnia. 8: 70-81.
- CCA, 2019. Canada's beef industry: Fast facts. Canadian Cattlemen's Association. https:// canadabeef.ca/canadian-beef-industry-fast-facts/ (accessed 13.07.2020).
- Collier, R. J., and Gebremedhin, K. G. (2015). Thermal Biology of Domestic Animals. Annual Review of Animal Biosciences. 3(1): 513–532. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-animal-022114-110659
- Cook, N. B., Mentink, R. L., Bennett, T. B., and Burgi, K. (2007). The Effect of Heat Stress and Lameness on Time Budgets of Lactating Dairy Cows. Journal of Dairy Science, 90(4): 1674–1682. <u>https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2006-634</u>
- Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organization (CSIRO). 1990. Feeding systems for Australian livestock: Ruminants. CSIRO Publications, Melbourne, Australia. pp 265
- De Rensis, F., Garcia-Ispierto, I., and López-Gatius, F. (2015). Seasonal heat stress: Clinical implications and hormone treatments for the fertility of dairy cows. Theriogenology, 84(5): 659–666. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.theriogenology.2015.04.021
- Dikmen, S., Alava, E., Pontes, E., Fear, J. M., Dikmen, B. Y., Olson, T. A., and Hansen, P. J. (2008). Differences in thermoregulatory ability between slick-haired and wild-type lactating Holstein cows in response to acute heat stress. Journal of Dairy Science, 91(9): 3395–3402. <u>https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2008-1072</u>
- Di Marco, O. N., and Aello, M. S. (1998). Energy cost of cattle walking on the level and on a gradient. Journal of Range Management. 51(1): 9-13. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/4003556</u>

- Dohme-Meier, F., Kaufmann, F.D., Görs, S., Junghans, P., Metges, C.C., Van Dorland, H.A., Bruckmaier, R.M., and Münger, A. (2014). Comparison of energy expenditure, eating pattern and physical activity of grazing and zero-grazing dairy cows at different time points during lactation. Journal of Livestock Science. 162: 86 – 96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.livsci.2014.01.006.
- Dunks, A. and Guye, M. (2022). Review on dairy cattle reproductive performance under different production system in Ethiopia. American Journal of Food Science and Technology. 1(1):
   <u>1-9. https://doi.org/10.54536/ajfst.v1i1.407</u>
- Dzowela, B. H., Kumwenda, M. S. L., Msiska, H. D. C., Hodges, E. M., and Gray, R. C. (1990). Seasonal trends in forage dry matter production of some improved pastures and animal performance in relation to chemical composition in Malawi. Animal Feed Science and Technology. 28(34): 255-266.
- Eisler, M. C., Lee, M. R. F., Tarlton, J. F., Martin, G. B., Beddington, J., Dungait, J. A. J.,
  Greathead, H., Liu, J., Mathew, S., Miller, H., Misselbrook, T., Murray, P., Vinod, V. K.,
  Van Saun, R., and Winter, M. (2014). Agriculture: Steps to sustainable livestock. Nature: 507(7490): 32–34. https://doi.org/10.1038/507032a
- Elmore, M., and Mullenix, K. (2022). 137 Application of Performance Metrics to Evaluate Cow Performance: A Collaboration of the Alabama Beef Cattle Improvement Association and the Alabama Cooperative Extension System. Journal of Animal Science. 100(1) pp 5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jas/skac028.008</u>
- Fancy, S. G., and White, R. G. (2018). Incremental cost of activity, chapter 7 pg: (143-160)In Bioenergetics of wild herbivores. CRC Press, Boca Raton, Florida, United States.

FAOSTAT, 2020. Food and agriculture data. Retrieved on 15 October 2020 from <a href="http://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#home">http://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#home</a>.

- Fordyce, G., Shephard, R., Moravek, T., and McGowan, M. (2021). Australian cattle herd: a new perspective on structure, performance and production. Animal Production Science. 63(4): 410-421. https://doi.org/10.1071/an20342
- Gauly, M., Bollwein, H., Breves, G., Brügemann, K., Dänicke, S., Daş, G. and Wrenzycki, C.
  (2013). Future consequences and challenges for dairy cow production systems arising from climate change in Central Europe–a review. Journal of Animal Science. 7(5): 843-859.
- Gelsinger, S., Heinrichs, A., and Jones, C. (2016). A meta-analysis of the effects of preweaned calf nutrition and growth on first-lactation performance. Journal of Dairy Science. 99(8): 6206-6214. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2015-10744.
- Ghodasara, S., Murthy, K., Gajbhiye, P., and Savsani, H. (2015). Effects of suckling versus weaning on performance of primiparous (Bos indicus) cows and on growth rate of their calves. The Indian Journal of Veterinary Sciences and Biotechnology. 11: 44-48.
- Grant, K., Kreyling, J., Dienstbach, L. F., Beierkuhnlein, C., and Jentsch, A. (2014). Water stress due to increased intra-annual precipitation variability reduced forage yield but raised forage quality of a temperate grassland. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment. 186: 11-22.
- Grant, R. J., and Albright, J. L. (1995). Feeding behavior and management factors during the transition period in dairy cattle. Journal of Animal Science. 73(9): 2791-2803.
- Heitschmidt, R. K., and Stuth, J. W. (1991). Grazing management: An ecological perspective. Timber Press, University of Michigan, pp 259.

- Herd, D. B., and Sprott, L. R. (1986). Body condition, nutrition and reproduction of beef cows. Texas Agricultural Extension Service, College Station, Texas. pp 12.
- Herd, R. M. and Arthur, P. F. (2009). Physiological basis for residual feed intake. Journal of Animal Science. 87: 64- 71.
- Herd, R. M., Arthur, P. F., Hegarty, R. S. and Archer, J. A. (2004). Potential to reduce greenhouse gas emissions from beef production by selection for reduce residual feed intake. Proceedings of the 7th world congress on genetics applied to livestock production, Montpellier, France. Communique Number. 10-22.
- Holmes, P. (1993). Interactions between parasites and animal nutrition: the veterinary consequences. Proceedings of the Nutrition Society. 52: 113 - 120. https://doi.org/10.1079/PNS19930043.
- Igono, M. O., Bjotvedt, G., and Sanford-Crane, H. T. (1992). Environmental profile and critical temperature effects on milk production of Holstein cows in desert climate. International Journal of Biometeorology. 36(2): 77–87. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01208917
- Jochims, F., Soares, É., Oliveira, L., Kuinchtner, B., Casanova, P., Marin, L., and Quadros, F. (2020). Timing and Duration of Observation Periods of Foraging Behavior in Natural Grasslands. Frontiers in Veterinary Science. 7(01):519698.
  https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2020.519698
- Kaufmann, J., Bork, E., Alexander, M., and Blenis, P. (2013). Habitat selection by cattle in Foothill landscapes following variable harvest of aspen forest. Forest Ecology and Management. 306:15–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2013.06.004
- Kie, J. G., and Boroski, B. B. (1996). Cattle Distribution, Habitats, and Diets in the Sierra Nevada of California. Journal of Range Management. 49(6): 482-488. https://doi.org/10.2307/4002286
- Kilgour RJ (2012). In pursuit of 'normal': A review of the behaviour of cattle at pasture. Applied Animal Behaviour Science. 138: 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applanim.2011.12.002.
- Koch, R. M., Swiger, L. A., Chambers, D. and Gregory, K. E. (1963). Efficiency of Feed Use in Beef Cattle. Journal of Animal Science. 22(2) 486-494.
- Kramer, P. A., and Sylvester, A. D. (2011). The energetic cost of walking: a comparison of predictive methods. PLoS One. 6(6): e21290.
- Kulshreshtha, S., and Kort, J. (2009). External economic benefits and social goods from prairie shelterbelts. Agroforestry System. 75(1): 39–47. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10457-008-9126-5
- Lamb, G. C., Mercadante, V. R. G., Henry, D. D., Fontes, P. L. P., Dahlen, C. R., Larson, J. E., and DiLorenzo, N. (2016). Invited review: advantages of current and future reproductive technologies for beef cattle production. The Professional Animal Scientist. 32(2): 162-171.
- Lamy, E., van Harten, S., Sales-Baptista, E., Guerra, M. M. M., and de Almeida, A. M. (2012).
  Factors influencing livestock productivity, Chapter 2 pg: 19-51, in Environmental stress and amelioration in livestock production. Springer Heidelberg, New York Dordrecht, London.
- Laske, C., Teixeira, B., Dionello, N., and Cardoso, F. (2012). Breeding objectives and economic values for traits of low input family-based beef cattle production system in the State of

Rio Grande do Sul. Revista Brasileira De Zootecnia. 41: 298-305. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1516-35982012000200010.

- Lees, A. M., Sejian, V., Wallage, A. L., Steel, C. C., Mader, T. L., Lees, J. C., and Gaughan, J. B. (2019). The impact of heat load on cattle. An Open Access Journal from MDPI. 9(6): 322. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani9060322.
- Legesse, G., Beauchemin, K., Ominski, K., McGeough, E., Kroebel, R., Macdonald, D. and McAllister, T. (2016). Greenhouse gas emissions of Canadian beef production in 1981 as compared with 2011. Animal Production Science, 56(3):153-168. <u>https://doi.org/10.1071/an15386</u>
- Linvill, D. E., and Pardue, F. E. (1992). Heat Stress and Milk Production in the South Carolina Coastal Plains1. Journal of Dairy Science. 75(9): 2598–2604. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(92)78022-9
- Lopes, P., Adelman, J., Wingfield, J., and Bentley, G. (2012). Social context modulates sickness behavior. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology. 66: 1421-1428. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00265-012-1397-1.
- Macoon, B., Sollenberger, L. E., Moore, J. E., Staples, C. R., Fike, J. H., and Portier, K. M. (2003). Comparison of three techniques for estimating the forage intake of lactating dairy cows on pasture. Journal of Animal Science. 81(9): 2357-2366.
- Maurya, V. P., Sejian, V., Kumar, K., Singh, G., and Naqvi, S. M. K. (2012). Walking stress influence on livestock production, Chapter 4, pg: 75-95, in Environmental stress and amelioration in livestock production. Springer-Verlag, Edited by, Sejian, V., Naqvi, S.M.K., Ezeji, T., Lakritz, J., and Lal, R, Heidelberg, Berlin.

- Melo, C. D., Maduro Dias, C. S., Wallon, S., Borba, A. E., Madruga, J., Borges, P. A. and Elias,R. B. (2022). Climate variability and soil fertility influence forage quality andproductivity in Azorean pastures. Agriculture. 12(3): 358.
- Meyer, A. M. Kerley, M. S. and Kallenbach, R. L. 2008. The effect of residual feed intake classification on forage intake by grazing beef cows. Journal of Animal Science. 86(10): 2670-2679.
- Morignat, E., Perrin, J. B., Gay, E., Vinard, J. L., Calavas, D., and Henaux, V. (2014).Assessment of the impact of the 2003 and 2006 heat waves on cattle mortality in France.PLoS One. 9(3): e93176.
- Munksgaard, L., Jensen, M. B., Pedersen, L. J., Hansen, S. W., and Matthews, L. (2005).
  Quantifying behavioural priorities—Effects of time constraints on behaviour of dairy cows, Bos taurus. Applied Animal Behaviour Science. 92(1): 3–14.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applanim.2004.11.005
- Mwangi, F. W., Charmley, E., Gardiner, C. P., Malau-Aduli, B. S., Kinobe, R. T., and Malau-Aduli, A. E. (2019). Diet and genetics influence beef cattle performance and meat quality characteristics. Foods. 8(12): 648.
- Mysterud, A. (2006). The concept of overgrazing and its role in the management of large herbivores. Wildlife Biology. 12(2): 129-141.
- Nicholson, M. (1987). Effects of night enclosure and extensive walking on the productivity of zebu cattle. The Journal of Agricultural Science. 109:445 - 452. https://doi.org/10.1017/S002185960008165X.

- Nkrumah, D. J., Okine, E. K., Mathison, G. W., Schnid, K., Li, C., Basarab, J. A., Price, M. A., Wang, Z. and Moore, S. S. 2006. Relationships of feedlot feed efficiency, performance, and feeding behaviour with metabolic rate, methane production, and energy partitioning in beef cattle. Journal of Animal Science. 84: 145-153
- Nordlund, K. V., Strassburg, P., Bennett, T. B., Oetzel, G. R., and Cook, N. B. (2019).
  Thermodynamics of standing and lying behavior in lactating dairy cows in freestall and parlor holding pens during conditions of heat stress. Journal of Dairy Science. 102(7): 6495–6507. <u>https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2018-15891</u>
- Owen-Smith, N. (2008). Effects of temporal variability in resources on foraging behaviour.
   Chapter 8, pp 159-181, in Resource ecology: Spatial and temporal dynamics of foraging.
   Springer, Edited by, Herbert, H.T., and Frank, V.L, Dordrecht, Netherlands.
- Peiper, U., Edan, Y., Devir, S., Barak, M., and Maltz, E. (1993). Automatic Weighing of Dairy Cows. Journal of Agricultural Engineering Research. 56: 13-24. https://doi.org/10.1006/JAER.1993.1057.
- Peischel, A., Schalles, R., Owensby, C., and Smith, E. (1980). Intake of milk and range forage by nursing calves. Kansas Agricultural Experiment Station Research Reports. pp 24-25. https://doi.org/10.4148/2378-5977.2607.
- Pogue, S.J., Kröbel, R., Janzen, H.H., Beauchemin, K.A., Legesse, G., de Souza, D.M., Iravani, M., Selin, C., Byrne, J., McAllister, T.A., 2018. Beef production and ecosystem services in Canada's prairie provinces: A review. Agricultural System. 166: 152–172. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agsy.2018.06.011</u>.
- Richardson, F. (1979). Analysis of some factors which affect the productivity of beef cows and of their calves in a marginal rainfall area of Rhodesia. 4. The growth and efficiency of live-

weight gain of weaned and sucking calves at different ages. Journal of Animal Production. 28: 213-222. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0003356100042513.

- Richardson, E. C. Herd, R. M., Oddy, V. H., Thompson, J. M., Archer, J. A. and Arthur, P. F. 2001. Body composition and implications for heat production of Angus steer progeny of parents selected for and against residual feed intake. Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture. 41: 1065-1075.
- Romanzini, E., Bernardes, P.A., Munari, D.P., Reis, R.A., and Malherios, E.B. (2018). A review of three important points that can improve the beef cattle productivity in Brazil. Animal Husbandry, Dairy and Veterinary Science. 2(3): 1-4.

https://doi.org/10.15761/ahdvs.1000140

- Sales-Baptista, E., d'Abreu, M. C., and Ferraz-de-Oliveira, M. I. (2016). Overgrazing in the Montado? The need for monitoring grazing pressure at paddock scale. Agroforestry Systems. 90: 57-68.
- Schindler, D. W., and Donahue, W. F. (2006). An impending water crisis in Canada's western prairie provinces. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 103(19): 7210-7216.
- Schlecht, E., Hiernaux, P., Kadaouré, I., Hülsebusch, C., and Mahler, F. (2006). A spatiotemporal analysis of forage availability and grazing and excretion behaviour of herded and free grazing cattle, sheep and goats in Western Niger. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment. 113(14): 226-242.
- Schröder, U., and Staufenbiel, R. (2006). Invited review: Methods to determine body fat reserves in the dairy cow with special regard to ultrasonographic measurement of backfat thickness. Journal of Dairy science. 89(1):1-14. <u>https://doi.org/10.3168/JDS.S0022-0302(06)72064-1</u>.

- Schütz, K., Davison, D., and Matthews, L. (2006). Do different levels of moderate feed deprivation in dairy cows affect feeding motivation. Applied Animal Behaviour Science. 101: 253-263. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APPLANIM.2006.02.008.
- Schütz, K. E., Rogers, A. R., Poulouin, Y. A., Cox, N. R., and Tucker, C. B. (2010). The amount of shade influences the behavior and physiology of dairy cattle. Journal of Dairy Science. 93(1): 125–133. <u>https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2009-2416</u>
- Senft, R. L., Coughenour, M. B., Bailey, D. W., Rittenhouse, L. R., Sala, O. E., and Swift, D. M.
  (1987). Large Herbivore Foraging and Ecological Hierarchies. BioScience. 37(11): 789– 799. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/1310545</u>
- Sheppard, S. C., Bittman, S., Donohoe, G., Flaten, D., Wittenberg, K. M., Small, J. A.,
  Berthiaume, R., McAllister, T. A., Beauchemin, K. A., McKinnon, J., Amiro, B. D.,
  MacDonald, D., Mattos, F., and Ominski, K. H. (2015). Beef cattle husbandry practices
  across Ecoregions of Canada in 2011. Canadian Journal of Animal Science. 95(2): 305–321. https://doi.org/10.4141/cjas-2014-158
- Spiers, D. E., Spain, J. N., Sampson, J. D., and Rhoads, R. P. (2004). Use of physiological parameters to predict milk yield and feed intake in heat-stressed dairy cows. Journal of Thermal Biology. 29(7): 759–764. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtherbio.2004.08.051</u>
- Statistics Canada. (2023). Number of cattle, by class and farm type [dataset]. Government of Canada. https://doi.org/10.25318/3210013001-ENG
- Statistics Canada, 2019a. Table: 32-10-0155-01 Selected livestock and poultry, historical data. Statistics Canada, Ottawa, ON, Canada doi: 10.25318/3210015501-eng (accessed 15.01.2019).

- St-Pierre, N. R., Cobanov, B., and Schnitkey, G. (2003). Economic Losses from Heat Stress by US Livestock Industries1. Journal of Dairy Science. 86: E52–E77. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(03)74040-5
- Stull, C. L., Messam, L. L.McV., Collar, C. A., Peterson, N. G., Castillo, A. R., Reed, B. A.,
  Andersen, K. L., and VerBoort, W. R. (2008). Precipitation and Temperature Effects on
  Mortality and Lactation Parameters of Dairy Cattle in California. Journal of Dairy
  Science. 91(12): 4579–4591. <u>https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2008-1215</u>
- Tasdemir, S., Urkmez, A., and Inal, S. (2011). Original papers: Determination of body measurements on the Holstein cows using digital image analysis and estimation of live weight with regression analysis. Computers and Electronics in Agriculture. 76(2) 189-197. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.COMPAG.2011.02.001.
- Thompson, P. B., and Nardone, A. (1999). Sustainable livestock production: Methodological and ethical challenges. Journal of Livestock Production Science: 61(23): 111–119. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0301-6226(99)00061-5
- United Nations. 2015 Revision of World Population Prospects, United Nations. Available online: https://esa.un.org/unpd/wpp/publications/files/keyfindingswpp2015.pdf (accessed on 25 April 2016)
- USDA. (2024). Livestock and Poultry: World Markets and Trade. United States Department of Agriculture. 1400 Independence Ave., S.W. Washington D.C. pp 19
- Vallentine, J. F. (2000), chapter 1 Introduction to grazing, pp 1-19, in Grazing management, Academic press, Utah, United States.

- VanRaden, P. M., Tooker, M. E., Cole, J. B., Wiggans, G. R., and Megonigal Jr, J. H. (2007). Genetic evaluations for mixed-breed populations. Journal of Dairy Science. 90(5): 2434-2441.
- Veira, D. M. (2007). Meeting water requirements of cattle on the Canadian prairies. Journal of Rangeland Ecology and Management. 29(1): 79-86.
- Vitali, A., Segnalini, M., Bertocchi, L., Bernabucci, U., Nardone, A., and Lacetera, N. (2009). Seasonal pattern of mortality and relationships between mortality and temperaturehumidity index in dairy cows. Journal of Dairy Science. 92(8): 3781–3790. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2009-2127
- Von Keyserlingk, M. A. G., Rushen, J., de Passillé, A. M., and Weary, D. M. (2009). Invited review: The welfare of dairy cattle—key concepts and the role of science. Journal of Dairy Science. 92(9): 4101-4111.
- Walker, J. W. (1995). Viewpoint: Grazing management and research now and in the next millennium. Journal of Range Management. 48(4): 350-357. https://doi.org/10.2307/4002488
- Walmsley, B. J., Lee, S. J., Parnell, P. F., and Pitchford, W. S. (2016). A review of factors influencing key biological components of maternal productivity in temperate beef cattle. Animal Production Science. 58(1): 1-19.
- Wang, Z., Nkrumah, J.D., Li, C., Basarab, J. A., Goonewardene, L. A., Okine, E. K., Crews, Jr.D. H. and Moore, S.S. 2006. Test duration for growth, feed intake and feed efficiency in beef cattle using the GrowSafe system. Journal of Animal Science. 84: 2289-2298.
- Webster, A. J. F. (1989). Bioenergetics, bioengineering and growth. Journal of Animal Science.48(2): 249-269.

- Welch, J. G., and Smith, A. M. (1970). Forage Quality and Rumination Time in Cattle. Journal of Dairy Science. 53(6): 797–800. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(70)86293-2
- West, J. W. (2003). Effects of Heat-Stress on Production in Dairy Cattle. Journal of Dairy Science. 86(6): 2131–2144. <u>https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(03)73803-X</u>
- Widi, T. S. M. (2015). Mapping the Impact of Crossbreeding in Smallholder Cattle Systems in Indonesia (Order No. 28233198). Available from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global.(2563500808).<u>https://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=https://www.pro quest.com/dissertations-theses/mapping-impact-crossbreeding-smallholdercattle/docview/2563500808/se-2</u>
- Yukun, S., Pengju, H., Yujie, W., Ziqi, C., Yang, L., Baisheng, D., Runze, L., and Yonggen, Z. (2019). Automatic monitoring system for individual dairy cows based on a deep learning framework that provides identification via body parts and estimation of body condition score. Journal of Dairy Science. 102(11): 10140-10151. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2018-16164.
- Zimbelman, R., Rhoads, R., Rhoads, M., Duff, G., Baumgard, L., and Collier, R. (2009). A Reevaluation of the Impact of Temperature Humidity Index (THI) and Black Globe Humidity Index (BGHI) on Milk Production in High Producing Dairy Cows. Proceeding of Southwest Nutrition and Management Conference, Tempe, AZ. University of Arizona. pp 158-168.
- Zhang, X., Vincent, L. A., Hogg, W. D., and Niitsoo, A. (2000). Temperature and precipitation trends in Canada during the 20th century. Atmosphere-ocean. 38(3): 395-429.

# Chapter 2: Potential heat stress impacts on beef cattle activity budgets while on pasture

# **2.1 Introduction**

Mammals, which include large herbivores, are homeotherms that maintain a constant internal body temperature independent of external temperature (Piccione et al., 2020). Homeotherms have a physiologic mechanism called thermal homeostasis, a regulatory process that generates biological responses, like shivering or sweating, to maintain constant body temperature, despite a variable external environment (Fernández-Peña et al., 2023). In this context, each species has a thermoneutral zone, defined as the temperature range in which the animal does not expend energy to stay warm or cool. According to Kadzere et al. (2002), the thermoneutral zone is important for livestock since it contributes to a minimal physiological cost and maximal productivity.

Heat stress is a condition of exposure to temperatures outside the thermoneutral zone, when the body temperature increases to some level that animals cannot dissipate sufficient body heat to maintain thermal homeostasis, and occurs in an environment with high humidity, temperature, or low air movement (Morrison, 1983; Bernabucci et al., 2010). Temperatures above the thermoneutral zone exceed the upper critical temperature while temperatures below the thermoneutral zone are below the lower critical temperature (Kingma et al., 2014). Global climate change has been reported to alter various environmental conditions such as air temperature, water availability, and carbon dioxide levels in the atmosphere, in turn, resulting in heat stress on crops and livestock (Hatfield et al., 2011). To provide more context, according to climate change predictions, the average global surface temperature has increased by 1.09 °C

since 1900, and is expected to continue increasing by another 1.5°C between 2030 and 2052 (Calvin et al., 2023).

Heat stress has negative effects on livestock production and can be fatal in the worst situations (Stull et al., 2008; Vitali et al., 2009; Carvajal et al., 2021). Considering this scenario, Carvajal et al. (2021), studying the thermal comfort indices and climate projection in livestock across 10 agroclimatic zones, concluded that around 7% of the global cattle population is currently exposed to dangerous heat conditions. Moreover, based on their projection, this percentage will increase to around 48% of cattle by 2100. As a consequence, heat stress also has the potential to affect important socioeconomic variables. For instance, heat stress creates a total annual economic loss to livestock industries of between \$1.69 and \$2.36 B across the United States (St-Pierre et al., 2003). Of this amount, between \$897 to \$1500 million (USD) is attributed to the dairy industry, and \$370 million (USD) to the beef industry. In Australia, heat stress brings annual economic loss to feedlots of around \$16.5 million (AUD) (Sackett, 2006). Canada also contends with analogous challenges; for instance, dairy cows in Western Canada endure heat stress for an estimated 40% of the summer (Ominski et al., 2002). Moreover, dairy cows experienced heat stress for 135.8 days a year in Southwest Quebec, and 95.3 days annually in Eastern Quebec, between 2010 and 2015 (Ouellet et al., 2021). Heat stress affects milk production, leading to an estimated \$34.5 million (CAD) annual economic loss for Ontario and Quebec (Campos et al., 2022). Livestock exposure to conditions outside the thermoneutral zone is not just a productivity and economic issue, but may also generate concerns over animal welfare (Polsky and Von Keyserlingk, 2017).

Behavioral changes caused by heat stress are potential useful indicators to livestock managers because they can occur before the decrease in animal fitness and productivity, suggesting it is important to recognize and understand behavioral changes early on so that

mitigative action can be undertaken prior to an economic loss (Schütz et al., 2011, Lynch and Rechcigl, 2018). Previous studies have identified heat stress on animals through different behavioral responses, such as an increase in lying time, the seeking of shade, and physiological responses such as changes in heart rate or decreased feed intake (Bouraoui et al., 2002; Schütz et al., 2011; Collier and Gebremedhin, 2015).

Heat stress has previously been measured using the body temperature of the animal (De Rensis et al., 2015); however, the use of easily measured environmental conditions has also been found to be reliable and directly reflects the environmental hazard being mitigated (Dikmen et al., 2008). While air temperature can be used to quantify potential heat stress, the use of a single-aggregate variable combining temperature and relative humidity, in a variable called the Temperature-Humidity Index (THI), has also been popular (St-Pierre et al., 2003; West, 2003; Bernabucci et al., 2014). The THI was first introduced by Thom (1959) as a 'discomfort index' to describe the effect of ambient temperature on humans, but Bianca (1962) adapted the form of THI to model the rectal temperature of bull calves. The THI application to livestock goes back to assessments of decreasing milk production in dairy cows, where it was a promising tool to evaluate heat stress on production traits (Berry et al., 1964).

As a combination of humidity and temperature the THI is crucial due to the added role that high humidity plays in further increasing the negative impacts of high temperature on animal stress (West, 2003; Bernabucci et al., 2014), primarily due to an increased impairment in the ability of the organism to cool itself via sweating (Armstrong, 1994). Several studies have shown that estimates of THI are related to the rectal temperatures of cattle experiencing heat stress, which indicates how an environmental index can be associated with thermal homeostasis (Dikmen and Hansen, 2009). The THI can be divided into different categories that potentially indicate the level of heat stress, but definitions vary between researchers and conditions (Segnalini et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2020). Armstrong (Armstrong, 1994) used THI < 71 as a thermal comfort zone, while De Rensis et al. (2015) defined THI < 68 to be outside the thermal danger zone for cows, with a drastic production decline when THI  $\geq$  75. Following that, Zimbelman et al. (2009) found that as THI reduced from 72 to a threshold of 68, milk production levels increased from about 15 kg·cow<sup>-1</sup>·day<sup>-1</sup> to around 30 kg·cow<sup>-1</sup>·day<sup>-1</sup> after the initial THI equation was established. However, Gorniak et al. (2014) reported the upper THI threshold might be as low as 60, denoting a reduction in feed intake and milk production for temperate climates in Germany. Moreover, a similar threshold was also reported by Hammani et al. (2013) from an experiment in Luxembourg. Because THI has different model adaptions and is applied to different climates and breeds around the world, the threshold depends on a combination of factors. In particular, even if breed, nutrition, housing type, and other factors can modify the susceptibility of animals to hot conditions, cattle studies suggested that a THI < 68 is generally a safe condition, while mild discomfort occurs around 68  $\leq$  THI < 72, and high discomfort with THI  $\geq$  75 (Bouraoui et al., 2002; Hahn et al., 2003).

Cattle maintain thermal regulation through homeostasis, where they regulate their internal body temperature within acceptable limits (Godyn et al., 2019). Homeothermy charts shows that there are three different zones in which environmental temperature can affect livestock: the thermoneutral zone, homeothermal zone and survival zone (Ehrlemark and Sallvik, 1996). The thermoneutral zone is the zone when animals are within the acceptable thermal comfort and do not need any physiological mechanism to maintain their internal heat as well as a balance with the environment in order for maximum production and performance (Godyn et al., 2019). Increases in THI  $\geq$  68 move the body temperature towards the upper critical temperature and when it exceeds the cattle's tolerance, they respond physiologically by modifying their behavior in order to dissipate heat and maintain a balance in their internal heat, for example increasing

water intake, decreasing dry matter intake or seeking of shade (Allen et al., 2015). In extreme temperatures when the body temperature moves beyond the upper critical temperature or below the lower critical temperatures, the condition of hyperthermia and hypothermia sets in, respectively (Godyn et al., 2019). In this zone animals struggle to maintain a balance with their internal temperatures, thereby resulting in damage of the normal physiological functions (Bettaieb and Averill-Bates 2015). In a bid to maintain and dissipate heat, physiological changes occur such as an increase in rectal temperature where the animal dissipates heat through the rectum in order to maintain homeostasis (Cook et al., 2007; Rashamol et al., 2018). Increases in respiratory rates are another physiological means of dissipating excess heat in the animal, with an average of 41 breaths per minute on optimal heat condition (Cardoso et al., 2015); animals tend to lose heat to the environment by increasing their respiratory rate, which was exemplified by an increase up to 80 breaths per minute (Baena et al., 2019).

This study examines the activity budgets of commercial beef cattle grazing on pasture during the 2021 grazing season in Western Canada, which coincided with an unprecedented heat wave that covered much of North America, and even other northern temperate regions globally. More specifically, we address the following objectives: 1) identify heat stress days experienced by beef cattle while grazing on Aspen Parkland pastures in central Alberta, Canada, during the summer and fall of 2021, 2) report cattle daily activity patterns on pasture in terms of hourly step counts and lying time, and 3) compare differences in cattle activity budgets with respect to animal age class (i.e., cows vs heifers), diurnal cycles (i.e., time of day), and projected heat stress and non-heat stress periods. In addition, we use THI as a proxy for heat stress to report on activity responses (step counts and lying time) across two different temporal scales, including at the daily level, and at the hourly level in relation to diurnal changes in heat stress exposure.

Finally, we identify thresholds of THI where beef cattle appear to alter their behavior, as evidenced by step counts.

#### 2.2 Materials and Methods

# 2.2.1 Study area

The study area was located in east central Alberta at the 5,000 ha University of Alberta Roy Berg Kinsella Research Ranch (53°01'N; 111° 34' W), situated 140 km SE of Edmonton, Alberta, Canada. The station is within the Aspen Parkland natural subregion, a complex mosaic of *Populus tremuloides* forest, *Symphoricarpos occidentalis* shrublands, hydrophytic riparian wetlands dominated by *Carex* spp., and upland grasslands comprised of C<sub>3</sub> grasses such as *Festuca hallii, Hesperostipa curtiseta, Pascopyrum smithii*, and *Koeleria macrantha*, at approximately 700 m elevation. Specific details about the general area are available at Natural Regions and Subregions of Alberta (2006).

The trial occurred in 2021 during the summer and fall seasons, where cattle were treated as a single herd in two different native pastures, moving from summer to fall pasture in late August. Summer and fall pastures were approximately 69.3 and 61.6 hectares, respectively. Summer grazing occurred from 24 June to 26 August, while the fall grazing season was from 27 August to 10 November of the current year.

# 2.2.2 Cattle herd

This study examined the behavior of Kinsella Composite (KC) crossbred cattle comprised of progenies of three synthetic lines that were maintained separately at the University of Alberta

Kinsella Research Ranch during 1960 to 1989, and were subsequently pooled (Berg et al., 2014). The KC cattle are descendants of three synthetic lines; Beef Synthetic 1 (BS1) which mainly consisted of Angus, Charolais, and Galloway; Beef Synthetic 2 (BS2) mainly of Angus, Charolais, Galloway, and Hereford; a Dairy Synthetic (DS) of Brown Swiss, Holstein, Simmental. More details about breed composition is discussed by Goonewardene et al. (2003). Briefly, beef Synthetic line 1 was composed of approximately 33% Angus and Charolais, approximately 20% Galloway, and the remainder of other beef breeds; Beef Synthetic line 2 with approximately 60% Hereford and 40% other beef breeds; and the Dairy × Beef Synthetic was composed of approximately 60% dairy cattle (Holstein, Brown Swiss, or Simmental) and approximately 40% of other breeds, mainly Angus and Charolais. After 1994, four years of crosses (BS1 x DS, BS2 x DS, BS1 x BS2) were conducted, and in the fourth year all herds were combined into one herd. Selection since merging of the synthetic herds was based on growth and yearling weight in heifers, and KC bulls were selected based on pasture and feedlot growth performance, and birth weight was limited to 42.6 kg. The net result of the crossed herds led to cattle with approximately 33% Black Angus, 15% Hereford, 8% Charolais, and 56% other breeds. Some experimentation with purebred Angus and Charolais bulls crossed with KC cows was conducted after the merging, but always the same selection criteria was placed on replacement heifers and bulls. Beefbooster M4 bulls, consisting mainly of Limousin and Gelbvieh, were also introduced in 2013.

A total of 58 KC cattle, including 37 cows ( $552.2 \pm 38.3$  kg; 3 years old) with calves at side ( $91.8 \pm 13.3$  kg), and 21 heifers ( $387.9 \pm 18.7$  kg; 1 yr old) were included in the trial. Additionally, two bulls were grazed with the breeding herd but not tested for behavior. At the start of the summer 2021 grazing period, all heifers and cows, as well as accompanying calves, were handled, and pedometers attached to the left hind leg of heifers and cows on June 24. IceQube+ pedometers (Peacock Technology Ltd., Stirling, Scotland) were placed above the fetlock using velcro straps. These pedometers are designed to collect cow activity data within 15 min intervals continuously for each animal while deployed. Pedometers were read when animals were processed on 26 August at the transition from summer to fall pasture, and for those animals who lost pedometers, a replacement was deployed. Thereafter, pedometers remained on the animals until 10 November, 2021, at which time they were removed and read.

Pedometers were read using a portable IceHub<sup>TM</sup> unit, and subsequently downloaded to the IceRobotics Cloud<sup>TM</sup>, and later retrieved for analysis. Compiled data included information on step counts (number) and lying time (used to derive % of time spent lying down) across individual 15 min intervals for the 140-day long grazing period. Data were not available for animals that lost pedometers while grazing on pasture, which was more common in summer than fall, at 9 and 0 pedometers, respectively. Additionally, 5 animals did not receive pedometers for the fall period in 2021 due to animal welfare considerations. All animal handling and pedometer use was approved through Animal Use Protocol #00003850 at the University of Alberta.

## 2.2.3 Environmental data collection and derivation of THI

The study area has a continental climate, a region characterized by long cold winters and short warm summers with elevated precipitation. Average annual precipitation is approximately 391.6 mm, with more than half occurring during the growing season (May to August), with a peak in July (data of 1991-2020, Agriculture and Irrigation, Alberta Forestry and Parks, Alberta Environment and Protected Areas and Environment Canada). In 2021 specifically, accumulated rainfall throughout the summer and fall grazing periods was 103 mm.

Weather conditions during the 2021 grazing season, particularly summer, also coincided with unusually high temperatures, including over prolonged periods of time (Figure 2.1), making it an ideal situation to evaluate cattle behavioral responses to potential heat stress. Historical conditions for the study area indicate that the number of days with maximum temperatures above 30°C is relatively low. For example, between 2011 and 2020 the city of Edmonton, Alberta experienced an average of 3.9 days annually with a maximum air temperature above 30°C, which ranged from 1 day in each of 2016 and 2019, to a peak of 7 days in 2018. However, during 2021 the number of days with maximum temperatures above 30°C increased sharply to 17. At Kinsella, the number of days with maximum temperatures above 30°C was 14 during 2021 (Table 2.1), including 3 days with maximum temperatures above 35°C (Kinsella ACIS, 2021).

Here, THI was used as a proxy for determining where, when and how much potential heat stress beef cows may have been experienced during the 2021 grazing season. Computations of THI were as follows:

 $THI = (1.8 \times T + 32) - [(0.55 - 0.0055 \times RH) \times (1.8 \times T - 26)],$  (1) where T is the average temperature in °C and RH is average relative humidity in % (National Research Council, 1971). Hourly and daily THI were calculated from hourly T and RH, and average T and RH of each day, respectively.

Temperature and humidity data were obtained for the Kinsella weather station of the Alberta Climate Information Service (Kinsella ACIS, 2021); this station was situated approximately 5 km south of the study pasture. The following parameters were retrieved: long-term (30 yr) historical daily means, together with actual daily values for average air temperature, maximum air temperature, minimum air temperature, mean relative humidity, maximum relative humidity, all of which are summarized in Table 2.1.

Specific weather data were downloaded for the period coinciding with the grazing periods during summer and fall 2021, specifically 24 June to 8 November, 2021 (Table 2.1). This period was characterized by extended periods of extreme high temperatures and drought in summer, and cold temperatures in November. Average daily temperatures ranged from 35.3 °C to -13.8 °C over the 4.5 months (Figure 2.1), while the relative humidity ranged from 16.7 to 100%.

## 2.2.4. Data analysis

Data analysis was done in R version 4.3.2. (R Core Team, 2023) using the set of packages available on 'tidyverse' library version 2.0.0 (Wickham et al., 2019). Raw activity data from pedometers placed on individual animals were initially downloaded and examined to identify missing data and eliminate any periods associated with malfunctioning pedometers or the effects of human animal handling. In this context, the first 4 days after initial processing and during early pasture turnout (June 24-27, 2021) were excluded, owing to the fact of two consecutive animal handling days, during which time cattle may not have been exhibiting their normal voluntary activity and behavior, as well as to allow for acclimation to initial summer grazing. Similarly, data from August 25-27, 2021 were excluded as animals were being gathered for processing, then moved from summer to fall pasture, and finally year end processing on November 9-10.

The primary response variables from the pedometers included hourly and daily step counts, together with the proportional time spent standing and lying down. After downloading all data, a final visual assessment was done, and any days for a specific animal that had less than 23 hr of data on step counts or lying time were removed. This process eliminated less than 2% of the total data, but prevented underestimation of average step counts or lying time due to unequal sampling throughout the day. Finally, animals were removed from further analysis if they had

data for less than 50% of all days within a given grazing season; only two animals were removed in summer and none in fall. Finally, data on step counts, provided in 15 min intervals, were aggregated to both individual hours (steps hr<sup>-1</sup>) and individual days. Hourly data were used to facilitate testing of differences in daily activity budgets, or across individual hours throughout the 24-hr day. Actual lying times were used to compute the % of time that animals spent laying down, again either on a daily basis, or aggregated to hourly time bins throughout each day. All analyses were conducted separately for the summer and fall grazing periods due to the changeover in pasture in late August of 2021.

In this study, a daily THI at or exceeding 68 was initially used as a threshold to identify individual days with potential heat stress conditions (Bernacubbi et al., 2014). Thus, individual days while cattle were on pasture in which the mean computed daily THI was at or above 68 was considered a heat stress day (Figure 2.2A). All other days were considered to be non-heat stress days. Next, data on daily mean step counts and lying times were evaluated using an Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) with PROC MIXED in SAS software (Stroup et al., 2018), using heat stress days based on THI as a fixed effect. This analysis was initially done using THI as a continuous covariate, together with animal age class (heifer vs cow) and their interaction, as fixed effects, with individual animals included as random effects. This approach led to estimates for fixed effects along with standard errors. Modeling the covariance structure is particularly crucial when analyzing repeated measures data, as measurements taken in close temporal proximity exhibit a higher correlation compared to those taken at greater time intervals. The analysis was done separately for summer and fall, with statistical significance set at P < 0.05. Where interactions were found using THI as a continuous covariate, cattle activity (either step counts or lying times) were regressed against THI for each animal age class, to further characterize the differences in activity pattern in response to increasing heat stress. Relationships were assessed using their

significance (p-value), adjusted R<sup>2</sup>, and the resulting equations. In addition, as mean daily THI levels were found to exceed the threshold of 68 during summer, but not fall, an additional ANOVA was run for summer using THI as a categorical treatment, in which THI (heat wave vs non-heat wave), animal age class, and their interaction, were tested as fixed effects, for their effect on daily step counts and lying times. Individual animals were considered random.

To further understand the diurnal behavior patterns of cattle and how they were altered by heat stress, we computed the THI for each individual hour throughout the grazing trial (Figure 2.2B). As periods of heat stress were more common in summer, this analysis was limited to summer, and was done on both cows and heifers combined, as initial examination of the diurnal responses indicated cows and heifers responded similarly. A mixed model ANOVA was conducted on hourly step counts and lying times, using the known heat wave status for each individual day (above or below a THI of 68) and time of day as fixed effects, along with their interaction. Individual animals and days were included as random effects. Where significant interactions of heat wave status and time of day occurred, we graphed the diurnal pattern of activity across the 24h daily cycle, and conducted paired comparisons between heat wave and non-heat wave conditions within each hour. This analysis provided insight into nuanced temporal patterns of animal activity throughout the 24h diurnal cycle in relation to known heat wave conditions. Finally, to identify different thresholds of THI and how they may alter cattle behavior in terms of average step counts, we used classification and regression trees (CART). CART graphs were created with R packages including "rpart" version 4.1–23 (Therneau and Atkinson, 2023), "rattle" version 5.5.1 (Williams, 2011), in R software. This process identified thresholds in THI separating cattle activity (step counts) into different activity classes (e.g., low, medium and high). This was done separately for each grazing season (summer and fall).

# 2.3 Results

#### 2.3.1 Identification of heat stress days

The number of days with a computed THI value at or above 68, the threshold for potential heat stress in this study, was found to be 16 days out of 58 days (27.5%) for the summer grazing period (Table 2.1). There were three extended periods during summer in which daily THI values exceeded 68 (Figure 2.2A). Based on that daily THI, Figure 3 shows that heat stress times on these 16 days were primarily between 8 am and 11 pm. In contrast, during the fall no days of potential heat stress occurred from 28 August to 8 November using this 'average' daily threshold (Figure 2.2A). However, when THI was examined on an hourly basis, the duration of periods over which cattle were exposed to THI levels greater than 68 notably increased during summer (Figure 2.2B), with animals consistently facing heat stress from 7 am through 2 am, providing more depth to understanding daily heat stress exposure. Moreover, there were also short periods of time on several days during fall when THI values briefly exceeded a threshold of 68 (Figure 2.2B), specifically in the afternoon between 11 am and 6 pm.

# 2.3.2 Cattle daily activity during summer and fall with respect to THI

A summary of descriptive statistics from this study is reported in Table 2.2. In summer, the animal age class (cow or heifer) and potential heat stress conditions, represented by the nominal variable THI, consistently effected daily cattle mean step counts and lying times (Table 2.3). Days associated with potential heat stress led to a 14% increase (P < 0.0001) in total daily step counts (THI  $\ge 68 = 4962.1 \pm 50.3$  SEM steps d<sup>-1</sup>; THI < 68 = 4351.4 ± 30.8 steps d<sup>-1</sup>), a response consistent between animal classes. Correspondingly, lying times declined by <1% on days with potential heat stress (P < 0.0001) from 9 hr 43 min ( $\pm 2 \min 18$  s) to 9 hr 34 min ( $\pm 3 \min 43$  s). While mean daily step counts did not differ between heifers (4695.6  $\pm 53.2$  SEM steps d<sup>-1</sup>) and cows (4422.2  $\pm 30.2$  steps d<sup>-1</sup>) during summer (P = 0.15), lying times were impacted by animal age class (P = 0.009). Cows spent 12.0% less time lying down (9 hr 18 min  $\pm 2 \min 18$  s) compared to heifers (10 hr 34 min  $\pm 2 \min 59$  s).

When THI was assessed as a continuous variable in conjunction with age class, interactions of animal age class by THI (P < 0.05) were detected during the summer grazing period on both daily step counts and lying times (Table 2.3). While step counts generally increased for both cows and heifers as daily THI increased (Figure 2.4A), heifers tended to increase their step counts to a greater extent relative to cows as THI intensified. Also, a sigmoid response was evident, with relatively stable step counts between a THI of 54 and 68, proposing a thermal comfort zone, wherein animals were not changing behavior, while step counts increased sharply for both age classes when THI exceeded 68. In contrast, lying time tended to decline more markedly in heifers as THI increased, while cows did not change the amount of lying time and was independent of THI (Figure 2.4C), corroborating the results in Table 2.3.

During the fall grazing period, both daily step counts and lying times of cattle were affected by animal age class ( $P \le 0.04$ ) and the interaction of age class by THI (P < 0.01; Table 2.3). Cows had greater step counts than heifers (cows:  $3404.4 \pm 23.2$  SEM steps d<sup>-1</sup>; heifers:  $3326.0 \pm 34.1$  steps d<sup>-1</sup>) at this time of year, with the interaction reflecting a tendency for cows to have lower step counts than heifers at very low THI, but elevated step counts relative to heifers at elevated THI (Figure 2.4B), particularly where THI exceeded 55. Similar to the pattern observed in summer, daily lying times of heifers (11hr 25 min  $\pm 2$  min 10s) during fall generally exceeded that (P = 0.04) of cows (9 hr 55 min  $\pm 1$  min 40 s), with the interaction reflecting that while both

cows and heifers spent less time lying down with increasing THI, this reduction was greater for cows than heifers as THI increased (Figure 2.4D).

#### 2.3.3 Cattle diurnal activity budgets and response to heat stress

Cattle, including both cows and heifers, exhibited a strongly diurnal pattern in animal activity (Figures 2.5 and 2.6), with most of the movement evident through large increases in step counts around midnight, and again at midday, with the latter tapering off in early afternoon, only to rise to modest levels of activity in the early evening. In contrast, a lengthy period of inactivity was evident during early to late morning. While this pattern was evident in both summer and fall, for both cows and heifers, this pattern was not as pronounced during the fall when less movement occurred, coincident with a longer window of non-activity (Figures 2.7 and 2.8).

When diurnal patterns of step counts and lying times were assessed during the summer grazing period in relation to daily periods of suspected heat wave and non-heat conditions, marked differences were evident (Figures 2.5, 2.6). Both cows and heifers exhibited marked spikes in activity, as demonstrated by step counts, at 2 am in the early morning hours during periods of known heat wave conditions, particularly in comparison to non-heat wave conditions (Figure 2.5). By 6 am, step counts declined to very low levels for both cows and heifers, with periods of heat stress likely to lead to even lower levels of movement at that time, and instead, further increase lying time (Figure 2.6). By approximately 10 am, the presence of heat stress conditions led to earlier and greater rates of movement by cattle, as exemplified by increased step counts from 10 am through 1 pm, and a concomitant reduction in lying time (Figure 2.6). This pattern again switched in mid-afternoon through early evening, as step counts were once again lower under heat stress conditions, particularly for cows in the afternoon (Figure 2.5A) and

heifers in the evening (Figure 2.5B). Not surprisingly, lying times of cattle (both cows and heifers) were generally greater under heat stress conditions during this same time, before switching yet again in the late evening (~9 pm).

Likewise, when the diurnal patterns during the fall were compared to summer, the same pattern of activity was found with differences in time principally for non-activity periods (Figures 2.7, 2.8). Because no days of overall heat stress were detected in fall, both cows and heifers showed peaks in activity from 11 pm to 1 am, as demonstrated by step counts, followed by a low activity from 4 am to 11 am, which constituted a longer time window of reduced activity compared to summer (Figures 2.5, 2.7). Moreover, unlike in the summer, some level of movement was still identified in fall during this period, with a small increase in step counts between 6 and 8 am. Parallel to step count patterns, periods of lying time were also longer in fall compared to summer (Figures 2.6, 2.8). In the fall, cattle spent 30-50% of their time resting from 2 am to 12 pm (Figure 2.8). In fall greater movement by cattle occurred from 1 pm through 4 pm, and generally at greater step counts compared to the same time of day in summer (Figures 2.5, 2.7).

# 2.3.4 Apparent thresholds of THI regulating cattle activity

A decision tree plotted from the regression of mean step counts and THI for each of the summer and fall periods revealed contrasting results (Figure 2.9). Of the 4516 summer observations, 9% (n=220), 96% (n=2173) and 5% (n=126) of the data passed through node THI  $\geq$  70, THI between 54 and 69, and THI < 54, respectively (Figure 2.9A). The regression tree therefore predicts a modest increase in step counts when animals are exposed to a THI  $\geq$  54, with the greatest increase in step counts when THI  $\geq$  70, thereby sharply intensifying overall

movement during heat stress days. Notably, this pattern mirrors the non-linear responses reported earlier (Figure 2.4A). During fall, however, of the 3792 study observations, 51% (n=1868) and 49% (n=1924) of the data passed through node THI  $\geq$ 47 and THI < 47, respectively (Figure 2.9B). Overall, the fall regression tree predicts an increase in step counts when animals are exposed to a THI  $\geq$  47.

# **2.4 Discussion**

Heat stress is an important and alarming concern since the number of days that animals are facing having this condition is increasing (Solymosi et al., 2010). Heat stress is a physiological response to environmental conditions that cause severe symptoms such as increased heart rates, respiration, and dehydration (Bishop-Williams et al., 2015). Moreover, behaviors such as seeking shade and decreasing feed intake have previously been reported, with severe cases resulting in lost performance, reproduction, welfare, and even death (Bouraoui et al., 2002; Schütz et al., 2011; Collier and Gebremedhin, 2015; Bishop-Williams et al., 2015). Heat stress effects in animals is related to three factors: the weather conditions (American Society of Agricultural Engineers, 1997), the susceptibility of the animal (Brown-Brandl and Jones, 2011), and management practices, including feed (Brosh et al., 1998), water (Bicudo and Gates, 2002; González Pereyra et al., 2010) or handling procedures (Brown-Brandl et al., 2010).

In this study, we collected data on cow and heifer movement using pedometers in a free range pastoral system. Information such as step counts and lying time proved informative regarding changes in behavior of animals, including the diurnal pattern of activity during summer and fall. Moreover, using THI as an index of stress, we were able to quantify changes in behavior, including movement patterns throughout the day.

#### 2.4.1 Quantification of seasonal heat stress

During the 2021 grazing season, and using an initial THI threshold of 68, we found that all the days with average daily potential heat stress conditions occurred during the summer rather than the fall grazing season. Moreover, our count of 16 days is similar to other studies such as Reiczigel et al. (2009), who reported increasing levels of THI above 68 in Hungary from 5 to 17 days/year, over a period of 30 years. The historical 30 yr normal temperatures provided by the Kinsella Weather Station are generally much lower compared to the average daily temperatures experienced during 2021, especially during the summer period (Figure 2.1). Moreover, our number of documented heat stress days in 2021 are higher than projections reported by VanderZaag et al. (2024). These authors, studying the impact of future heat stress in dairy cattle in Canada, concluded that Calgary, Edmonton and Red Deer (AB), areas near our study location, will not surpass 10 days annually with THI > 65 by 2030-2070, yet our results from 2021 defied this conclusion.

The unusually warm conditions of 2021 are also in agreement with projections of temperature changes for Canada. Qian et al. (2023) discussed climate conditions in the near, middle and distant future for soybean production in Canada, and reported a warmer climate scenario is likely, with an increase of 1.6, 2.8 and 4.1 °C in mean temperature by 2030, 2050 and 2070, respectively, for May to September. These climate conditions will not just affect crop production but also animal production, as discussed recently by VanderZaag et al. (2024), with trends for increasing temperature, humidity, and THI > 65 for most of the west coast and eastern Canada, affecting 84% of Canada's dairy herd. According to VanderZaag et al. (2024), future climate projection scenarios (2030-2070) will lead to 90% of the national cattle herd experiencing

more frequent, intense, and longer durations of heat stress. Our results did not show any mean daily THI values above 68 after mid-August, which is consistent with the rapid decline in daylight and average daily temperatures experienced within the northern temperate environment of central Alberta as summer wanes.

Importantly, our assessment of cattle behavior during 2021 coincided with a year of known extremes in temperature more broadly across North America (Emerton et al., 2022; McKinnon and Simpson, 2022; Thompson et al., 2022), providing a robust test of elevated temperatures on cattle behavior. During the summer grazing season reported on here, we documented 16 days of potential heat stress (based on the mean daily THI threshold of 68) from the 55 days of grazing in that season. However, we also note that when THI values were computed on an hourly basis, that the number of days with any hourly THI values above 68 increased to 35, suggesting that the actual period of time during which potential heat stress occurred may have extended throughout much, if not most, of the 2021 summer grazing season. Moreover, when computed using hourly weather conditions (Figure 2.2B), we even found that a total of 9 days during the fall grazing season had some period of time with a THI  $\geq$  68, suggesting that cattle may also have experienced heat stress, albeit briefly during the day, after August 28, between 11 am and 6 pm. Where heat stress did occur, this condition was most likely to occur between late morning and early evening, coincident with peak daily temperatures, with little to no heat stress in the late overnight periods (3 - 6 am, Figure 2.3). Whether and how these short intervals of heat stress may differentially affect cattle behavior, is less understood.

# 2.4.2 Diurnal patterns of cattle activity on pasture

We report here on the patterns of cattle activity while grazing on pasture within the Aspen Parkland during a 24-hr diurnal cycle. During summer cattle exhibited a distinctly diphasic activity pattern, with peak activity during the overnight hours, as well as from midday through the mid-afternoon and evening. This pattern was evident as both large increases in step counts, separated by lengthy periods of time spent lying down and resting (or ruminating). Our mean daily step counts increased from 4345 to 4941 steps d<sup>-1</sup> (181 steps h<sup>-1</sup> to 206 steps h<sup>-1</sup>) with the onset of heat stress conditions during summer. Mróz et al. (2017), studying daily activity in polish Holstein cattle, reported varying movement intensity depending on the housing system, stocking density and age of animals. Animals housed indoors at an increased stock density showed high activity in relation to other groups with outdoor access and lower density. According to Mróz et al. (2017), reduced welfare may make animals overactive due to stress. Additionally, studies report that heifers exhibit higher stress levels than cows, which make them even more active (Wójcik and Olszewski, 2015; Mróz et al., 2017), the combination of which is in agreement with our findings of greater activity in heifers than cows, especially during summer and coincident with increased heat stress periods. During fall, all cattle had lower activity compared to summer (Table 2.2). Jorns et al. (2022), comparing differences in step counts of Angus cattle grazing either large season-long pastures or smaller, mob-stocked pastures within the Collaborative Adaptive Rangeland Management study in Colorado, USA, also concluded that lower daily step counts were taken by cattle grazing traditional (season-long pastures) as the grazing season progressed. Results by Brzozowska et al. (2014) also reported an increased number of steps per day in cows during the summer months.

Ferrell and Jenkins (1985) concluded that up to 65–70% of the total energy required for growth is used for maintenance. Compared to heifers, cows have a 10 to 27% higher maintenance energy requirement because of lactation (Montaño-Bermudez et al., 1990). In this context, cows

with more energy demand may have to spend more time searching for and consuming feed, and thereby spend less time lying down (Matthews et al., 2012), which could account for the increased step counts in cows relative to heifers during fall, a period when forage is becoming less available and harder to find. Parallel to that, Mróz et al. (2017) reported that animals in a more stressed environment rested frequently but only for short periods, resulting in a lower total resting time. Collectively, these studies provide support of our findings where we observed cows spending less time lying down compared to heifers, and lying times declined for both groups of cattle when THI was higher (Tables 2.2, 2.3). Moreover, according to Tucker and Schütz (2009), cows lose a considerable amount of their body heat from their underside; thus, the reduction in lying time of cattle with greater heat stress conditions may be an important thermoregulation strategy that allows animals to increase the movement of air around their body for cooling.

Cows spend 8–12% of their time moving and standing, 20–25% feeding and drinking, and most of the time (40–50%) lying down (Grant and Miner, 2007). The distinct movement pattern of cattle induced by heat stress documented here is consistent with other studies (Cook et al., 2007; Allen et al., 2015; Abeni and Galli, 2017; Heinicke et al., 2018; Herbut and Angrecka, 2018), and is likely indicative of a combination of the need to acquire feed and water on a regular basis. Notably, our results reveal that cattle had the highest movement rates based on step counts during the overnight hours, likely in an effort to achieve adequate gut fill of forage. Step counts have previously been associated with foraging effort in cattle (Jorns et al., 2022). Following sunup in the early morning hours (typically ~4-5 am in this region of Western Canada), cattle movement slowed markedly, almost to nil, presumably due to the need to rest and ruminate following peak feeding periods, as cattle are known to have daily rumination times of 2.5 - 10 hr (Beauchemin, 2018). Reduced movement during periods of rumination were also reported by others (Adin et al., 2009; Schirmann et al., 2012), and is consistent with prior studies on beef

cattle for this time of the day (Omontese et al., 2022). Of note is that aside from differences in overall step counts, we did not find any large differences in the temporal pattern of movement between heifers and cows, suggesting that this pattern was not strongly influenced by the presence of calves, nor the need for dams to support lactation. We did, however, find that heifers were generally inclined to spend more time lying down during summer overall, which could reflect the need for cows to stand and support periodic lactation, even when not feeding, as discussed previously.

Of note is that both cows and heifers exhibited large increases in movement after the morning rest period and just prior to noon, and following a spike in activity through early afternoon. This movement slowed until late afternoon, only to increase in early evening. While we did not collect supplementary information on the potential mechanisms influencing this intricate behavioral pattern, we hypothesize that two key factors contribute to this. First, following an extended period of rest with near minimal activity from 5 am until 10 am (~5 hr), we postulate that advancing digestion and passage of forage may have led to an increasing urge to begin feeding as hunger set in near noon. Moreover, this pattern was again consistent for both cows and heifers, suggesting this was independent of reproductive status.

Second, and perhaps more important, may be the need to consume drinking water. Following an extended period of rest and rising temperatures throughout the morning, particularly in summer, it is likely that cattle left their resting areas (often shaded groves of forests) to travel to water. Previous studies suggest that cattle on pasture typically consume about 35 L of water a day (Bicudo and Gates, 2002), which may trigger movement to water in the afternoon when THI is greater. While the added burden of lactation can further increase the need for water consumption by 0.87 kg of water per kg of milk produced (Winchester and Morris, 1956), other studies also report positive correlations (Murphy et al., 1983; Murphy, 1992; Meyer

et al., 2004; Cardot et al., 2008). We found similar or even greater peak levels of movement by heifers relative to cows, suggesting that the presence of calves was unlikely to be regulating rates of cattle movement at midday. Following the initiation of cattle activity at noon, cattle movement slowed but did not altogether stop in the afternoon, only to increase again as evening started, before temporarily slowing near sundown (~ 10 pm). We postulate that after obtaining drinking water, cattle spent much of the afternoon and evening hours in various stages of feeding, potentially exploring different habitats, and intermittently resting, before beginning the extensive feeding cycle again overnight.

#### 2.4.3 Cattle daily activity budgets in relation to age class and potential heat stress

In this study the impacts of heat stress on cattle were assessed using both overall daily activity budgets, as well as diurnal changes in activity. At the coarser temporal scale of individual days, cows and heifers consistently demonstrated differences in activity, including in relation to heat stress. However, previous studies that examined heat stress impacts on cattle behavior (e.g., Tucker and Schütz, 2009) have not investigated when those animals travel; hence, we also examined fine-scale temporal patterns of cattle activity in relation to heat stress. Unlike activity budgets at the daily scale, diurnal patterns of activity were similar between cows and heifers, but were instead differentiated between conditions with and without heat stress, reinforcing the importance of examining cattle activity at multiple temporal scales.

Assessed across days, cows and heifers consistently differed in their daily activity budgets, and these responses were consistently further altered by heat stress conditions. Despite having similar step counts to heifers in summer, cows had reduced lying times in summer, which may be indicative of the maternal urge among cows to support their relatively young calves (2-4

months old) through regular lactation. As heifers did not have calves this would have maximized their ability to rest during intervals between primary feeding bouts. During fall, while cows continued to have reduced lying times, cows also demonstrated higher movement rates, which were particularly evident under warmer conditions. Although the cause of this response is unknown, we hypothesize that due to their larger size, coupled with the ongoing energetic demands of lactation, cows may have had greater overall forage intake requirements, which could have necessitated longer feeding bouts. Longer feeding bouts, in turn, particularly during fall when foraging conditions were declining and calves were larger, could have led to an associated increase in both travel time and distance (to and from bedding areas), but even in this situation these animals were minimally thermal stressed and had less movement.

During summer and fall, cattle generally increased their overall movement rates during individual days of greater heat stress, suggesting a behavioral change in response to elevated temperature in general. Moreover, this increase was particularly apparent for heifers in summer, and cows in fall. Not surprisingly, elevated heat stress conditions were also associated with a reduction in lying time, particularly for heifers in summer and cows during fall. These results could indicate that cattle increased the distance of animal movement, potentially as they sought to utilize optimal cover for shade (Tucker and Schütz, 2009), or as animals moved between shaded sites and their preferred foraging areas or necessary drinking water sources. Notably, while the absence of days with an average THI above the 68 threshold during fall did not allow for a specific test of acute heat stress effects on cattle activity after August 28, our results still revealed an increase in step counts for both cows and heifers with THI increases, and a reduction in lying time, at daily THI levels through to a value of 64. Thus, our results provide clarification of the key responses in cattle activity across a wide range of climatic conditions, even levels that may previously have been considered non-stressful.

While the presence of potential heat stress conditions led to a similar overall diurnal activity pattern during the summer grazing period, both cows and heifers demonstrated two important changes with exposure to elevated daily THI. First, the diphasic pattern of cattle movement became stronger for both cows and heifers, with step counts further increasing overnight and near noon, while declining in the morning and late afternoon, and even exhibiting a third peak during the evening. This response reinforces that cattle respond to potential heat stress by increasing their activity in the evening and overnight periods, presumably to focus much of their feeding effort when conditions are cooler. Second, and in support of our earlier conjecture that the need for drinking water could be a major driver of activity at noon, we consistently observed that the presence of potential heat stress conditions caused cattle to initiate movement approximately 1 hr earlier in late morning, likely due to the more urgent need to consume water. Cattle also exhibited increased overall rates of movement during the noontime period during heat stress conditions, which could be explained by the increased distance travelled probably to acquire water, as no GPS data was analyzed. Given that our sources of drinking water did not change during the summer grazing period, these increased distances are likely due to the greater distance traveled between preferred bedding areas utilized in the morning of heat wave days (i.e., larger, more closed canopy forests offering superior shade) and the available water sources. When combined with ongoing foraging efforts at midday, the need to acquire water may explain the high cattle movement rates at this time, which were then followed by another significant resting period with reduced movement. Notably, the latter period also coincided with the hottest part of the day typically found in the study area (i.e., from 3-6 pm; Figure 3), reinforcing the impact of potential heat stress on cattle activity.

Finally, cattle movement patterns in fall were generally similar to those in summer, with two key differences. Cows and heifers had similar step counts at peak movement periods,

suggesting that the presence of calves no longer restricted cow movement, possibly due to their advancing age and increasing independence from dams. Additionally, while movement patterns still exhibited large peaks in the overnight and noontime periods, cattle, particularly cows, exhibited some degree of movement during the morning period, and this could be indicative of a general increase in the urgency to continue feeding, possibly due to the increased demands of lactation with advancing calf growth. As our summer and fall grazing occurred in spatially unique pastures, we are unable to rule out the possibility that differences in habitat availability and preferred forage species abundance, as well as differences in forage phenology and associated quality, may explain the differences in cattle behavior between seasons.

# 2.4.4 Potential heat stress thresholds separating cattle activity levels on pasture

Past studies evaluating heat stress in cattle and their impacts on animal physiology and productivity have often utilized a threshold THI of 68 to identify stressful conditions (West, 2003; Bernabucci et al., 2014; Beauchemin, 2018), although other studies in Ontario, Canada have shown that animals subject to a THI > 74 demonstrate signs of heat stress (Husseini et al., 2020). Using a regression tree analysis to identify potential thresholds in THI relative to our beef cattle activity budgets on pasture, we found that marked differences in cattle behavior, as represented by their movement patterns (i.e., step counts), could be identified during the summer grazing period. Animals subject to hourly THI values below 54 had sharply reduced movement patterns, while animals exposed to THI values over 70 had markedly elevated movement. As relatively few studies have been done on animal behavior in relation to heat stress, particularly of free-ranging beef cattle, we suggest that a THI of 70 may be effective in identifying the level of heat stress that changes cattle behavior. This threshold is within the range reported in previous

studies (68 - 74), with further research needed to better understand why these changes in behavior occur, including the specific role of heat stress. Moreover, we also identified a lower THI threshold of 54 below which cattle exhibited sharply reduced movement in summer, to levels more similar to those evident during the fall grazing season.

What remains unknown is the specific mechanism(s) regulating why cattle may have altered their behavior in relation to changes in THI, and how these mechanisms may change through moderate, high or extreme levels of heat stress exposure. As cattle in our study had consistent access to the same habitats, forage supply, and drinking water sources within each pasture over a ~2 month grazing period within each grazing season, changes in resource availability (aside from forage depletion, which remained conservative) are unlikely to be the factor altering cattle activity. Instead, marked changes in weather conditions throughout each grazing period, which were shown to vary sharply over as little as a few weeks, most likely explain the variance in cattle activity. Parallel studies have reported how heat stress conditions, including THI, modulate animal behaviors and associated production and health (Gantner et al., 2015; Jožef et al., 2018; Gantner et al., 2019; Gantner et al., 2020). Further studies are necessary to better understand how behavior alteration is associated with cattle performance in free-ranging pastoral production systems of western Canada, including to verify how cow-calf pairs are allocating their energy in association with animal movement.

# 2.5 Conclusions

This study is among the first to document the specific impact of changes in potential heat wave conditions, as represented by THI, on the behavior of beef cattle grazing on native rangeland pasture during summer and fall. Cattle exhibited a pronounced biphasic movement
pattern during both seasons, but was even more pronounced with elevated temperatures during the summer of 2021. During summer, cattle tended to have higher movement rates overnight and at midday compared to other times. Cattle diurnal patterns of movement changed with potential heat stress conditions, with cattle increasing their daily step counts, particularly during the overnight periods, and again at midday. Cattle also initiated movement earlier in late morning with the presence of elevated THI, and reduced their movement in mid to late afternoon coincident with peak temperatures. Cows also demonstrated differential activity budgets relative to heifers, spending less time lying down in summer and fall, and walking less in summer while also exhibiting greater movement in fall. These results provide key insight as to the daily activity budgets of free-ranging beef cattle, including the potential role of heat stress on cattle activity.

## 2.6 References

- Abeni, F., and Galli, A. (2017). Monitoring cow activity and rumination time for an early detection of heat stress in dairy cow. International Journal of Biometeorology. 61(3): 417–425. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00484-016-1222-z
- Adin, G., Solomon, R., Nikbachat, M., Zenou, A., Yosef, E., Brosh, A., Shabtay, A., Mabjeesh,
  S. J., Halachmi, I., and Miron, J. (2009). Effect of feeding cows in early lactation with
  diets differing in roughage-neutral detergent fiber content on intake behavior, rumination,
  and milk production. Journal of Dairy Science. 92(7): 3364–3373.
  https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2009-2078
- Allen, J. D., Hall, L. W., Collier, R. J., and Smith, J. F. (2015). Effect of core body temperature, time of day, and climate conditions on behavioral patterns of lactating dairy cows experiencing mild to moderate heat stress. Journal of Dairy Science. 98(1): 118–127. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2013-7704
- American Society of Agricultural Engineers. (1997). Livestock environment 5: Proceedings of the fifth International Symposium, Bloomington, Minnesota, May 29-31, 1997. 2 (R. W. Bottcher and S. J. Hoff, Eds.; Vol. 2). ASAE.
- Armstrong, D. V. (1994). Heat Stress Interaction with Shade and Cooling. Journal of Dairy Science. 77(7): 2044–2050. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(94)77149-6
- Baena MM, Costa AC, Vieira GR, Rocha RFB, Ribeiro ARB, Ibelli AMG, Meirelles SLC (2019) Heat tolerance responses in a Bos taurus cattle herd raised in a Brazilian climate. Journal of Thermal Biology 81: 162–169. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtherbio.2019.02.017

Beauchemin, K. A. (2018). Invited review: Current perspectives on eating and rumination activity in dairy cows. Journal of Dairy Science. 101(6): 4762–4784. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2017-13706

- Berg, R. T., Makarechian, M., and Arthur, P. F. (2014). The University of Alberta beef breeding project after 30 years–A review. Beef and Range Report, 6.
- Bernabucci, U., Biffani, S., Buggiotti, L., Vitali, A., Lacetera, N., and Nardone, A. (2014). The effects of heat stress in Italian Holstein dairy cattle. Journal of Dairy Science. 97(1): 471– 486. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2013-6611
- Bernabucci, U., Lacetera, N., Baumgard, L. H., Rhoads, R. P., Ronchi, B., and Nardone, A. (2010). Metabolic and hormonal acclimation to heat stress in domesticated ruminants. Journal of Animal Science. 4(7): 1167–1183. https://doi.org/10.1017/S175173111000090X
- Berry, I.L., Shanklin, M.D., and Johnson, H.D. (1964). Dairy Shelter Design Based on Milk Production Decline as Affected by Temperature and Humidity. Transactions of the American Society of Agricultural and Biological Engineers. 7(3): 0329–0331. https://doi.org/10.13031/2013.40772
- Bettaieb A, Averill-Bates DA (2015) Thermotolerance induced at a mild temperature of 40 °C alleviates heat shock-induced ER stress and apoptosis in HeLa cells. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta. 1853:52–62. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamcr.2014.09.016
- Bianca, W. (1962). Relative Importance of Dry- and Wet-Bulb Temperatures in Causing Heat Stress in Cattle. Nature. 195(4838): 251–252. https://doi.org/10.1038/195251a0
- Bishop-Williams, K. E., Berke, O., Pearl, D. L., Hand, K., and Kelton, D. F. (2015). Heat stress related dairy cow mortality during heat waves and control periods in rural Southern

Ontario from 2010–2012. BMC Veterinary Research. 11(1): 291. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12917-015-0607-2

- Bouraoui, R., Lahmar, M., Majdoub, A., Djemali, M., and Belyea, R. (2002). The relationship of temperature-humidity index with milk production of dairy cows in a Mediterranean climate. Animal Research. 51(6): 479–491. https://doi.org/10.1051/animres:2002036
- Brosh, A., Aharoni, Y., Degen, A. A., Wright, D., and Young, B. A. (1998). Effects of solar radiation, dietary energy, and time of feeding on thermoregulatory responses and energy balance in cattle in a hot environment. Journal of Animal Science. 76(10): 2671. https://doi.org/10.2527/1998.76102671x
- Brown-Brandl, T.M., and Jones, D.D. (2011). Feedlot Cattle Susceptibility to Heat Stress: An Animal-Specific Model. Transactions of the American Society of Agricultural and Biological Engineers. 54(2): 583–598. https://doi.org/10.13031/2013.36462
- Brown-Brandl, T. M., Eigenberg, R. A., and Nienaber, J. A. (2010). Water spray cooling during handling of feedlot cattle. International Journal of Biometeorology. 54(6): 609–616. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00484-009-0282-8
- Brzozowska, A., Łukaszewicz, M., Sender, G., Kolasińska, D., and Oprządek, J. (2014). Locomotor activity of dairy cows in relation to season and lactation. Applied Animal Behaviour Science. 156: 6–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applanim.2014.04.009
- Calvin, K., Dasgupta, D., Krinner, G., Mukherji, A., Thorne, P. W., Trisos, C., Romero, J.,
  Aldunce, P., Barrett, K., Blanco, G., Cheung, W. W. L., Connors, S., Denton, F.,
  Diongue-Niang, A., Dodman, D., Garschagen, M., Geden, O., Hayward, B., Jones, C.,
  and Péan, C. (2023). IPCC, 2023: Climate change 2023: Synthesis report. Contribution of
  working groups I, II and III to the sixth assessment report of the intergovernmental panel
  on climate change [core writing team, Lee, H., and Romero, J. (eds.)]. IPCC, Geneva,

Switzerland. (First). Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC). pp 81 https://doi.org/10.59327/IPCC/AR6-9789291691647

- Campos, I. L., Chud, T. C. S., Oliveira, H. R., Baes, C. F., Cánovas, A., and Schenkel, F. S. (2022). Using publicly available weather station data to investigate the effects of heat stress on milk production traits in Canadian Holstein cattle. Canadian Journal of Animal Science. 102(2): 368–381. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjas-2021-0088
- Cardoso, C.C., Peripolli, V., Amador, S.A., Brandão, E.G., Esteves, G.I.F., Sousa, C.M.Z.,
  França, M.F.M.S., Gonçalves, F.G., Barbosa, F.A., Montalvão, T.C., Martins, C.F.,
  Fonseca-Neto, A.M., and McManus, C. (2015) Physiological and thermographic response
  to heat stress in zebu cattle. Journal of Livestock Science. 182:83–92.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.livsci.2015.10.022
- Cardot, V., Le Roux, Y., and Jurjanz, S. (2008). Drinking Behavior of Lactating Dairy Cows and Prediction of Their Water Intake. Journal of Dairy Science. 91(6): 2257–2264. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2007-0204
- Carvajal, M. A., Alaniz, A. J., Gutiérrez-Gómez, C., Vergara, P. M., Sejian, V., and Bozinovic,
  F. (2021). Increasing importance of heat stress for cattle farming under future global climate scenarios. Science of The Total Environment. 801: 149661.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.149661
- Collier, R. J., and Gebremedhin, K. G. (2015). Thermal Biology of Domestic Animals. Annual Review of Animal Biosciences. 3(1): 513–532. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-animal-022114-110659

- Cook, N. B., Mentink, R. L., Bennett, T. B., and Burgi, K. (2007). The Effect of Heat Stress and Lameness on Time Budgets of Lactating Dairy Cows. Journal of Dairy Science. 90(4): 1674–1682. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2006-634
- De Rensis, F., Garcia-Ispierto, I., and López-Gatius, F. (2015). Seasonal heat stress: Clinical implications and hormone treatments for the fertility of dairy cows. Theriogenology. 84(5): 659–666. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.theriogenology.2015.04.021
- Dikmen, S., Alava, E., Pontes, E., Fear, J. M., Dikmen, B. Y., Olson, T. A., and Hansen, P. J. (2008). Differences in Thermoregulatory Ability Between Slick-Haired and Wild-Type Lactating Holstein Cows in Response to Acute Heat Stress. Journal of Dairy Science. 91(9): 3395–3402. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2008-1072
- Dikmen, S., and Hansen, P. J. (2009). Is the temperature-humidity index the best indicator of heat stress in lactating dairy cows in a subtropical environment? Journal of Dairy Science, 92(1), 109–116. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2008-1370
- Ehrlemark, A.G., and Sallvik, K.G. (1996). A model of heat and moisture dissipation from cattle based on thermal properties. Transaction of American Society of Agricultural and Biological Engineers. 39:87–194
- Emerton, R., Brimicombe, C., Magnusson, L., Roberts, C., Di Napoli, C., Cloke, H. L., and
   Pappenberger, F. (2022). Predicting the unprecedented: Forecasting the June 2021 Pacific
   Northwest heatwave. Weather. 77(8): 272–279. https://doi.org/10.1002/wea.4257
- Fernández-Peña, C., Reimúndez, A., Viana, F., Arce, V. M., and Señarís, R. (2023). Sex differences in thermoregulation in mammals: Implications for energy homeostasis. Frontiers in Endocrinology. 14: 1093376. https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2023.1093376

- Ferrell, C. L., and Jenkins, T. G. (1985). Cow Type and the Nutritional Environment: Nutritional Aspects. Journal of Animal Science. 61(3): 725–741. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas1985.613725x
- Gantner, V., Bobić, T., Potočnik, K., Gregić, M., and Kučević, D. (2019). Persistence of heat stress effect in dairy cows. Mljekarstvo. 69(1): 30–41. https://doi.org/10.15567/mljekarstvo.2019.0103
- Gantner, V., Mijic, P., Kuterovac, K., Barac, Z., and Potocnik, K. (2015). Heat stress and milk production in the first parity Holsteins – threshold determination in eastern Croatia. Poljoprivreda/Agriculture. 21(1 Supplement): 97–100. https://doi.org/10.18047/poljo.21.1.sup.22
- Godyń D, Herbut P, Angrecka S (2019) Measurements of peripheral and deep body temperature in cattle – a review. Journal of Thermal Biology. 79:42–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtherbio.2018.11.011
- González Pereyra, A. V., Maldonado May, V., Catracchia, C. G., Herrero, M. A., Flores, M. C., and Mazzini, M. (2010). Influence of Water Temperature and Heat Stress on Drinking Water Intake in Dairy Cows. Chilean Journal of Agricultural Research. 70(2): 328–336. https://doi.org/10.4067/S0718-58392010000200017
- Goonewardene, L. A., Wang, Z., Price, M. A., Yang, R.-C., Berg, R. T., and Makarechian, M. (2003). Effect of udder type and calving assistance on weaning traits of beef and dairy×beef calves. Livestock Production Science. 81(1): 47–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0301-6226(02)00194-X
- Gorniak, T., Meyer, U., Südekum, K.-H., and Dänicke, S. (2014). Impact of mild heat stress on dry matter intake, milk yield and milk composition in mid-lactation Holstein dairy cows

in a temperate climate. Archives of Animal Nutrition. 68(5): 358–369. https://doi.org/10.1080/1745039X.2014.950451

- Grant, R. J., and Miner, W. H. (2007). Taking Advantage of Natural Behavior Improves Dairy Cow Performance. https://api.semanticscholar.org/CorpusID:195810617
- Hahn, G. L., Mader, T. L., and Eigenberg, R. A. (2003). Perspective on development of thermal indices for animal studies and management. Lacetera, N., Bernabucci, U., Khalifa, H.H., Ronchi, N., and Nardone, A. (Eds.), Interaction between climate and animal production (pp. 31–44). Brill, Wageningen Academic, Wageningen, Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.3920/9789086865178\_004
- Hammami, H., Bormann, J., M'hamdi, N., Montaldo, H. H., and Gengler, N. (2013). Evaluation of heat stress effects on production traits and somatic cell score of Holsteins in a temperate environment. Journal of Dairy Science. 96(3): 1844–1855.
  https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2012-5947
- Hatfield, J. L., Boote, K. J., Kimball, B. A., Ziska, L. H., Izaurralde, R. C., Ort, D., Thomson, A.
  M., and Wolfe, D. (2011). Climate Impacts on Agriculture: Implications for Crop
  Production. Agronomy Journal. 103(2): 351–370.
  https://doi.org/10.2134/agronj2010.0303
- Heinicke, J., Hoffmann, G., Ammon, C., Amon, B., and Amon, T. (2018). Effects of the daily heat load duration exceeding determined heat load thresholds on activity traits of lactating dairy cows. Journal of Thermal Biology. 77: 67–74.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtherbio.2018.08.012
- Herbut, P., and Angrecka, S. (2018). Relationship between THI level and dairy cows' behaviour during summer period. Italian Journal of Animal Science. 17(1): 226–233. https://doi.org/10.1080/1828051X.2017.1333892

- Jorns, T. R., Derner, J. D., Augustine, D. J., Briske, D. D., Porensky, L. M., Scasta, J. D., Beck, J. L., and Lake, S. (2022). Movement Dynamics and Energy Expenditure of Yearling Steers Under Contrasting Grazing Management in Shortgrass Steppe. Rangeland Ecology and Management. 85: 38–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rama.2022.09.001
- José R. Bicudo and Richard S. Gates. (2002). Water Consumption, Air and Water Temperature Issues Related to Portable Water Systems for Grazing Cattle. 2002 Chicago, IL July 28-31, 2002. 2002 Chicago, IL July 28-31, 2002. pp 1-11. https://doi.org/10.13031/2013.12628
- Jožef, I., Gregić, M., Bobić, T., Važić, B., and Gantner, V. (2018). Determination of the Effect of Daily Production Level of Primiparous Holstein Cows on Response to Heat Stress Conditions (THI Threshold) in Eastern Croatia. AΓPO3HAHE, 19(2): 89-90. https://doi.org/10.7251/AGREN1802089J
- Kadzere, C. T., Murphy, M. R., Silanikove, N., and Maltz, E. (2002). Heat stress in lactating dairy cows: A review. Livestock Production Science. 77(1): 59–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0301-6226(01)00330-X
- Matthews, L. R., Cameron, C., Sheahan, A. J., Kolver, E. S., and Roche, J. R. (2012).
  Associations among dairy cow body condition and welfare-associated behavioral traits.
  Journal of Dairy Science. 95(5): 2595–2601. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2011-4889
- McKinnon, K. A., and Simpson, I. R. (2022). How unexpected was the 2021 pacific northwest heatwave? Geophysical Research Letters. 49(18): e2022GL100380. https://doi.org/10.1029/2022GL100380
- Meyer, U., Everinghoff, M., G\u00e4deken, D., and Flachowsky, G. (2004). Investigations on the water intake of lactating dairy cows. Livestock Production Science. 90(2–3): 117–121. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.livprodsci.2004.03.005

- Morrison, S. R. (1983). Ruminant Heat Stress: Effect on production and means of alleviation. Journal of Animal Science. 57(6): 1594–1600. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas1983.5761594x
- Mróz, P., Wójcik, P., Department of Animal Genetics and Breeding, National Research Institute of Animal Production, Balice, Poland, Pankowski, M., and Alta Polska Ltd., Łowicz, Poland. (2017). Daily activity of polish holstein-friesian cows depending on variable housing conditions during lactation. Folia Pomeranae Universitatis Technologiae Stetinensis Agricultura, Alimentaria, Piscaria et Zootechnica. 338(44): 119–130. https://doi.org/10.21005/AAPZ2017.44.4.13
- Munksgaard, L., Jensen, M. B., Pedersen, L. J., Hansen, S. W., and Matthews, L. (2005). Quantifying behavioural priorities—Effects of time constraints on behaviour of dairy cows, Bos taurus. Applied Animal Behaviour Science. 92(1): 3–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applanim.2004.11.005
- Murphy, M. R. (1992). Water Metabolism of Dairy Cattle. Journal of Dairy Science. 75(1): 326– 333. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(92)77768-6
- Murphy, M. R., Davis, C. L., and McCoy, G. C. (1983). Factors Affecting Water Consumption by Holstein Cows in Early Lactation. Journal of Dairy Science. 66(1): 35–38. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(83)81750-0
- Natural regions and subregions of Alberta: Natural Regions Committee. (2006). Government of Alberta.
- Ominski, K. H., Kennedy, A. D., Wittenberg, K. M., and Moshtaghi Nia, S. A. (2002).
  Physiological and Production Responses to Feeding Schedule in Lactating Dairy Cows
  Exposed to Short-Term, Moderate Heat Stress. Journal of Dairy Science. 85(4): 730–737.
  https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(02)74130-1

- Omontese, B., Zakari, F., and Webb, M. (2022). Rumination and Activity Patterns in Angus and Angus-Cross Beef Calves: Influences of Sex, Breed, and Backgrounding Diet. Animals. 12(14): 1835. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani12141835
- Ouellet, V., Grenier, P., Santschi, D. E., Cabrera, V. E., Fadul-Pacheco, L., and Charbonneau, É. (2021). Projected economic losses from milk performance detriments under heat stress in Quebec dairy herds. Canadian Journal of Animal Science. 101(2): 242–256. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjas-2020-0069
- Piccione, G., Giannetto, C., Giudice, E., and Refinetti, R. (2020). Persistent homeothermy in large domestic mammals maintained under standard farming conditions. Journal of Basic and Clinical Physiology and Pharmacology. 31(2): 20180121. https://doi.org/10.1515/jbcpp-2018-0121
- Polsky, L., and Von Keyserlingk, M. A. G. (2017). Invited review: Effects of heat stress on dairy cattle welfare. Journal of Dairy Science. 100(11): 8645–8657. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2017-12651
- Qian, B., Smith, W., Jing, Q., Kim, Y. M., Jégo, G., Grant, B., Duguid, S., Hester, K., and Nelson, A. (2023). Climate conditions in the near-term, mid-term and distant future for growing soybeans in Canada. Canadian Journal of Plant Science. 103(2): 161–174. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjps-2022-0233
- R Core Team. (2023). R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing. https://www.R-project.org/
- Reiczigel, J., Solymosi, N., Könyves, L., Maróti-Agóts, Á., Kern, A., and Bartyik, J. (2009). Examination of heat stress caused milk production loss by the use of temperature-Humidity indices. Magyar Allatorvosok Lapja. 131: 127–144.

- Romanello N, Junior JBL, Junior WB, Brandão FZ, Marcondes CR, Pezzopane JRM, Pantoja MHA, Botta D, Giro A, Moura ABB, Barreto AN, Garcia AR (2018) Thermoregulatory responses and reproductive traits in composite beef bulls raised in a tropical climate. International Journal of Biometerology. 62:1575–1586. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00484-018-1557-8
- Sackett D, H. P. (2006). Assessing the economic cost of endemic disease on the profitability of Australian beef cattle and sheep producers. Final Report of Project AHW.087. Meat and Livestock Australia, Sydney. https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.2.30417.48487
- Schirmann, K., Chapinal, N., Weary, D. M., Heuwieser, W., and Von Keyserlingk, M. A. G. (2012). Rumination and its relationship to feeding and lying behavior in Holstein dairy cows. Journal of Dairy Science. 95(6): 3212–3217. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2011-4741
- Schütz, K. E., Rogers, A. R., Cox, N. R., Webster, J. R., and Tucker, C. B. (2011). Dairy cattle prefer shade over sprinklers: Effects on behavior and physiology. Journal of Dairy Science. 94(1): 273–283. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2010-3608
- Segnalini, M., Bernabucci, U., Vitali, A., Nardone, A., and Lacetera, N. (2013). Temperature humidity index scenarios in the Mediterranean basin. International Journal of Biometeorology. 57(3): 451–458. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00484-012-0571-5
- Solymosi, N., Torma, C., Kern, A., Maróti-Agóts, Á., Barcza, Z., Könyves, L., Berke, O., and Reiczigel, J. (2010). Changing climate in Hungary and trends in the annual number of heat stress days. International Journal of Biometeorology. 54(4): 423–431. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00484-009-0293-5

- St-Pierre, N. R., Cobanov, B., and Schnitkey, G. (2003). Economic Losses from Heat Stress by US Livestock Industries. Journal of Dairy Science. 86 E52–E77. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(03)74040-5
- Stroup, W. W., Milliken, G. A., Claassen, E. A., and Wolfinger, R. D. (2018). SAS for mixed models: introduction and basic applications. SAS Institute.
- Stull, C. L., Messam, L. L. McV., Collar, C. A., Peterson, N. G., Castillo, A. R., Reed, B. A., A ndersen, K. L., and VerBoort, W. R. (2008). Precipitation and Temperature Effects on Mortality and Lactation Parameters of Dairy Cattle in California. Journal of Dairy Science. 91(12): 4579–4591. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2008-1215
- Therneau, T., and Atkinson, B. (2023). rpart: Recursive Partitioning and Regression Trees. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=rpart
- Thom, E. C. (1959). The Discomfort Index. Weatherwise. 12(2): 57–61. https://doi.org/10.1080/00431672.1959.9926960
- Thompson, V., Kennedy-Asser, A. T., Vosper, E., Lo, Y. T. E., Huntingford, C., Andrews, O., Collins, M., Hegerl, G. C., and Mitchell, D. (2022). The 2021 western North America heat wave among the most extreme events ever recorded globally. Science Advances. 8(18): eabm6860. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.abm6860
- Tucker, C., and Schütz, K. (2009). Behavioral responses to heat stress: Dairy cows tell the story. Western Dairy Nutrition Conference, Tepme, AZ February. Erişim: Http://Animal. Cals. Arizona. Edu/Swnmc/Proceedings/2009/02Tucker\_09. Pdf. Visited, 3–04.
- VanderZaag, A., Riche, E. L., Qian, B., Smith, W., Baldé, H., Ouellet, V., Charbonneau, É., Wright, T., and Gordon, R. (2024). Trends in the risk of heat stress to Canadian dairy

cattle in a changing climate. Canadian Journal of Animal Science. 104(1): 11–25. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjas-2023-0040

- Vesna, Gantner, Marković, B., Gavran, M., Šperanda, M., Kučević, D., and Gregić, M. (2020). The effect of response to heat stress, parity, breed and breeding region on somatic cell count in dairy cattle. Veterinarski Arhiv. 90(5): 435–442. https://doi.org/10.24099/vet.arhiv.0697
- Vitali, A., Segnalini, M., Bertocchi, L., Bernabucci, U., Nardone, A., and Lacetera, N. (2009). Seasonal pattern of mortality and relationships between mortality and temperaturehumidity index in dairy cows. Journal of Dairy Science. 92(8): 3781–3790. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2009-2127
- Wang, J., Li, J., Wang, F., Xiao, J., Wang, Y., Yang, H., Li, S., and Cao, Z. (2020). Heat stress on calves and heifers: A review. Journal of Animal Science and Biotechnology. 11(1): 79-87. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40104-020-00485-8
- West, J. W. (2003). Effects of Heat-Stress on Production in Dairy Cattle. Journal of Dairy Science. 86(6): 2131–2144. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(03)73803-X
- Wickham, H., Averick, M., Bryan, J., Chang, W., McGowan, L., François, R., Grolemund, G.,
  Hayes, A., Henry, L., Hester, J., Kuhn, M., Pedersen, T., Miller, E., Bache, S., Müller, K.,
  Ooms, J., Robinson, D., Seidel, D., Spinu, V., and Yutani, H. (2019). Welcome to the
  Tidyverse. Journal of Open Source Software. 4(43): 1686.
  https://doi.org/10.21105/joss.01686
- Williams, G. J. (2011). Data Mining with Rattle and R: The art of excavating data for knowledge discovery. Springer, Jamson centre, Australia. pp 382. https://rd.springer.com/book/10.1007/978-1-4419-9890-3

- Winchester, C. F., and Morris, M. J. (1956). Water Intake Rates of Cattle. Journal of Animal Science. 15(3): 722–740. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas1956.153722x
- Wójcik, P. T., and Olszewski, A. (2015). Use of pedometers to analyse 24-hour activity and fertility of Limousin cows. https://api.semanticscholar.org/CorpusID:78726329
- Zimbelman, R., Rhoads, R., Rhoads, M., Duff, G., Baumgard, L., and Collier, R. (2009). A Reevaluation of the Impact of Temperature Humidity Index (THI) and Black Globe Humidity Index (BGHI) on Milk Production in High Producing Dairy Cows. Proceeding of Southwest Nutrition and Management Conference, Tempe, AZ. University of Arizona. pp 158-168.

## **Tables and Figures**

**Table 2.1**. Mean climatic conditions during the experimental grazing periods of 2021 between June 28 and November 8. THI is the Temperature-Humidity Index. RH is the Relative Humidity. Values in parentheses are 1 standard deviation.

Environmental Parameters	Summer (June 28 –	Fall (Aug. 28 –
	Aug. 24)	Nov. 8)
Daily Minimum Temperature (°C)	0.6	-15.3
Daily Maximum Temperature (°C)	35.5	28.3
Daily Mean Temperature (°C)	18.3 (4.1)	6.9 (5.9)
Days of Maximum Temperature > 30 °C	14	0
Days of Mean Daily Temp. > 25 °C	3	0
RH, Minimum (%)	40	44.6
RH, Maximum (%)	94	95
RH, Mean (%)	66.6 (12.5)	66.9 (10.3)
Average Daily THI	63.4 (5.7)	46.7 (8.8)
Number of days with daily $THI \ge 68$	16	0

**Table 2.2.** Descriptive activity summary during the experimental grazing periods of 2021 between June 28 and November 8. Values in parentheses are 1 standard deviation (sd).

			Step Count	Lying Time			
Season	Age Class	Min-Max	Avg day	Avg hour	Min-Max	Avg (hr d <sup>-1</sup> )	Avg (% d <sup>-1</sup> )
Summer	Cow	1343-9487	4263 (1245)	178 (51.9)	3.2-16.7	9.3 (1.6)	38.9
(THI<68)	Heifer	745-9378	4516 (1506)	188 (62.7)	4.9-15.5	10.6 (1.4)	44.4
Summer	Cow	1182-9131	4834 (1160)	201 (48.3)	3.2-15.4	9.2 (1.5)	38.5
(THI≥68)	Heifer	1877-9324	5167 (1435)	215 (59.8)	4.8-15.1	10.4 (1.4)	43.3
Fall	Cow	1012-9388	3404 (1188)	142 (49.5)	2.78-15.1	9.9 (1.4)	41.4
	Heifer	1275-8536	3326 (1166)	139 (48.6)	4.91-15.3	11.4(1.2)	47.7

**Table 2.3**. Summary ANOVA results examining mean daily step counts (steps  $d^{-1}$ ) and lying time (hr  $d^{-1}$ ) in relation to animal age class (cow vs heifer) and daily temperature-humidity index (THI), as well as their interaction, during each of the summer (June 28 – Aug 24) and fall (Aug 28 – Nov. 8) grazing periods during 2021.

		Step Count		Lying Time		
Season	Response	F-stat and df	P-value	F-stat	P-value	
Summer*	AgeClass(AC)	2.05 (1)	0.15	31.64	0.0086	
	THI(daily) ≥68	116.44(1)	<.0001	6.91	<.0001	
	$AC \times THI$	0.56 (1)	0.45	1.38	0.24	
Summer	AgeClass(AC)	2.47 (1)	0.12	13.48	0.0002	
	THI(daily)	215.5(1)	<0.001	2.44	0.12	
	$AC \times THI$	4.58 (1)	0.03	3.88	0.0489	
Fall	AgeClass(AC)	4.17	0.04	4.28	0.04	
	THI(daily)	659.24 (1)	<0.001	79.54	<0.001	
	$AC \times THI$	8.59(1)	0.0034	15.05	0.0001	

\* Analysis used THI days as a binary variable, with days classified as either those with heat stress (daily THI  $\ge$  68) or without heat stress (daily THI < 68). Subsequent analyses used THI as a continuous variable.



**Figure 2.1.** Mean daily temperatures (solid line) during the grazing trial. Also shown are the maximum and minimum temperature ranges per day (grey) and the historical 30 yr norm (1991-2020, dashed line).



**Figure 2.2.** Summary of mean temperature-humidity index (THI) values that cattle were exposed to while grazing based on either A) daily THI values, or B) hourly THI values, throughout the 2021 summer grazing season at the Kinsella Research Station. Data include the summer (left) and fall (right) periods.



**Figure 2.3.** Changes in mean ( $\pm$ SD) temperature-humidity index (THI) computed on an hourly basis for each of the days with presumed heat stress (THI  $\ge$  68; n = 16) and days without heat stress (THI < 68; n = 42) during the summer 2021 grazing period.



Temperature Humidity-Index



**Figure 2.4.** Relationship between mean daily step counts of either cows or heifers, and temperature-humidity index (THI) during A) the 2021 summer grazing season, and B) the 2021 fall grazing season, at the Kinsella Research Ranch. Also depicted are the relationship between mean daily lying time of either cows or heifers, and heat stress level (THI), during C) the 2021 summer grazing season, and D) the 2021 fall grazing season. Interactions between animal class × THI are all significant at  $P \le 0.05$ . Equations indicate the significance of the individual relationships. Shaded areas represent the standard error for each response.



**Figure 2.5.** Changes in mean diurnal step counts ( $\pm$ SEM) over a 24-hr period during days of presumed heat stress exposure (temperature-humidity index, THI  $\geq$  68; n = 16) and non-stress (THI < 68; n = 42) days, for A) cows and B) heifers. Data are from the summer grazing period (June 28 – August 24) during 2021. Within an age class and hour, paired step counts denoted with an \* differ, P < 0.05.



**Figure 2.6.** Changes in mean diurnal lying time ( $\pm$ SE) over a 24-hr period during days of presumed heat stress exposure (temperature-humidity index, THI  $\geq$  68; n = 16) and non-stress (THI < 68; n = 42) days, for A) cows and B) heifers. Data are from the summer grazing period (June 28 – August 24) during 2021. Within an age class and hour, paired step counts denoted with an \* differ, P < 0.05.



**Figure 2.7.** Changes in mean diurnal step counts ( $\pm$ SE) over a 24-hr period during fall for cows and heifers. Data are from the fall grazing period (August 28 – November 8) during 2021.



**Figure 2.8.** Changes in mean diurnal lying time ( $\pm$ SE) over a 24-hr period during fall for cows and heifers. Data are from the fall grazing period (August 28 – November 8) during 2021.



**Figure 2.9.** Regression tree-CART model results depicting the impact of daily THI (Temperature-Humidity Index) values on changes in observed daily step counts, presented separately for each of the A) summer grazing period, and B) fall grazing period, during 2021. The percentage at the bottom right represents the size of the sample passing through each node per split, while the value at the bottom left is the corresponding number of observations. The number at the top of the node represents the predicted step counts in a day with the specific condition of THI. Step counts were greater in summer when THI values exceeded 70, and lower with THI values below 54, while in fall THI values over 47 predicted an increase in daily movement.

# Chapter 3: Linking cattle activity budgets on pasture to animal attributes and performance

## **3.1 Introduction**

Pedometers can be used to track animal activity monitoring, welfare, and behavior, including that of free-ranging cattle while on pasture (Walker, 1995; Bailey et al., 1996). Previous studies using pedometers on cattle have verified their ability to detect estrus relative to visual detection in dairy cattle (Robert et al., 2009; Nielsen et al., 2010; Mayo et al., 2019), and also in determining the onset of lameness (O'Callaghan et al., 2003; Mazrier et al., 2006). These authors observed varying lying times on the day of estrus using pedometers from different manufacturers, but in all cases estrus detection was improved from pedometers compared to visual observation.

Increased animal activity can also directly elevate energy requirements. For example, Gangnat et al. (2017) found that calves with higher step counts were associated with a pasture having a steep slope, which in turn, led to a two- to eightfold increase in energy expenditure as compared to calves with lower step counts occupying a flatter pasture. This result is also supported by other studies, where higher energy expenditure was associated with cows having higher step counts (Brosh et al., 2010; Lachia et al., 1997).

In addition, intrinsic animal factors such as residual feed intake (RFI) and cow age can affect animal activity on pasture, as well as their productivity. A study conducted by Parsons et al. (2021) examined the influence of RFI and cow age on beef cattle performance and grazing behavior. They reported that inefficient cows travelled further in search of forage than efficient animals; however, what remained unclear is the role of animal activity in cattle decision-making to meet their minimum energy maintenance requirement, as the former study was conducted during winter, a season characterized by low forage quality and quantity conditions (Nelson and Moser, 1994; Oates et al. 2011). Parsons et al. (2021) further stressed that cow age affected the distance travelled by animals on pasture, with 2-year old cows travelling an average distance of 3 km each day, while 8-year old animals covered approximately 2.5 km. It remained unclear, however, whether these distances were traversed over different periods of time (durations). Cows that cover a long distance in a short period are likely to burn more energy, thereby increasing their requirement for energy, as increased movement rates in cows and mammals have been previously associated with glycogen depletion (Tarrant, 1989). Thus, the examination of average step counts in a day may be an appropriate tool to evaluate cattle movement and associated performance.

Additionally, cattle breeds may have different activity levels on pasture, including their movement patterns, which in turn, can influence their energy budgets and associated production. In a study by Russel et al. (2012) examining the grazing distribution and diet quality of Angus, Brangus, and Brahman cows, Angus cows maintained more linear grazing paths than the other two breeds, suggesting reduced use of energy while traversing pastures. Thus, the examination of breed composition may help explain how cattle activity on pasture varies, including in relation to production.

The specific objectives of this study were to:

- Identify the effect of animal factors such as previously established RFI, breed composition, and age of the animal, on observed cattle activity budgets, as measured by mean step counts, and percentage lying time, and,
- 2. Evaluate the relationship between activity budgets (mean step counts, and percentage lying time) and observed animal production performance (cow weight gain, calf weight

86

gain, and cow-calf weight gain), as measured during the summer and fall grazing seasons while on open-range pasture.

#### **3.2 Materials and Methods**

## 3.2.1 Study area

The study was conducted within native pastures at the University of Alberta Roy Berg Kinsella Research Ranch (KRR), situated approximately 140 km southeast of Edmonton, Alberta, Canada (53°02'N; 111°34'W). This area is represented by Aspen Parkland rangeland occupying hummocky terrain landscapes, with a high diversity of vegetation. Primary habitat types include open grasslands (< 10% shrub cover), shrublands occupied by either low-statured shrub species [*Symphoricarpos occidentalis* (western snowberry)] or tall shrubs (*Elaeagnus commutata*), interspersed patches of relatively dense forest (*Populus tremuloides*) or scattered low lying riparian wetlands (dominated by hydrophytic *Carex* spp.). The climate of this region is cool continental, with 394 mm of annual rainfall, with most (70%) occurring during the growing season (May through September). Forage growth is typically high during May through July, then slows in August, with senescence progressing rapidly in September and October as autumn transitions into winter.

The cattle grazing trials conducted here occurred during the summer and fall seasons of 2021 through 2023 inclusive, with cattle examined while grazing on native (previously uncultivated) pastures. Further details are provided below.

## 3.2.2 Cattle herds

87

All animals used in this study and the accompanying protocols were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of the University of Alberta (AUP #00003850). A total of 251 cattle (varying from 1-12 yr in age and ranging in weight from 379 – 634 kg) were evaluated during the summer and fall grazing periods of 2021 – 2023 (Table 3.1). A total of 5 experimental herds were monitored for activity using pedometers.

Two groups of cattle were subsets of larger herds grazing on relatively large native pastures. This included a group of 61 black Angus cows ( $591 \pm 84$  kg) with calves at side grazing in 2022 from July 14 to September 12. Within these same pastures during 2023, a group of 45 KC cows with calves were tested as part of a larger herd, from July 11 to Nov. 10 (Table 3.1).

Finally, during each of the years 2021, 2022, and 2023, a smaller cohort of first calf KC cows and heifers were grazed together (the 'small KC' herd) within the same pastures during summer and fall each year (n=49 - 58 head each year; see Table 3.1), with a different set of animals representing these same age classes each year. Summer and fall pastures were 69.3 ha and 61.6 ha in size, respectively. Summer grazing occurred from June 24 to August 26, 2021, while fall grazing was from August 27 to November 10, 2021. In 2022, grazing of these same two pastures occurred from June 24 – September 6, 2022, and from September 7 – September 23, 2022. Pedometers were removed earlier than normal in 2022 due to concerns over pedometer fit, specifically for the original pedometer design that used a narrow (1.5 cm) strap. In 2023, all pedometers deployed used a wider strap for improved comfort for animals (~2.5 cm), although pedometers were not placed on heifers to avoid pedometer overtightening on the leg with rapid growth of youthful animals. The small KC cattle herd grazed on the same pastures in 2023 from July 11 – September 12 – November 10, for the summer and fall, respectively.

All KC cattle had been previously tested in feedlot for Residual Feed Intake (RFI), a metric evaluating feed efficiency that is independent of animal size and growth, while the Angus

cattle were not tested for RFI. Furthermore, during the selection of KC animals for the 'small herd' of KC cattle each year, cattle were further stratified in selection according to their phenotypic RFI, where 20 cows were relatively more efficient (low RFI; Table 3.1), 20 were intermediate in RFI (controls), and 20 were relatively less efficient (high RFI) (Table 3.1) for ease of use during analysis.

#### 3.2.3. Quantification of cattle activity

Activity on all five herds were tested using IceQube+ pedometers (Peacock Technology Ltd., Stirling, Scotland). Pedometers were applied to the left hind leg in late June or early July, then monitored for the balance of the grazing season or until removed. Pedometers were checked frequently for comfort and fit, including at the time of transition from summer to fall pasture, when all animals were weighed.

IceQube+ pedometers are designed to collect activity data on cattle within fifteen-minute intervals for each animal while deployed. Pedometers generally remained on animals until early November, at which time they were removed and read using a portable IceHub unit, and then subsequently downloaded to the IceRobotics Cloud, and later retrieved for analysis. Compiled data included information on the step counts (steps hr<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>) and lying time (% of total time evaluated) across each grazing period, as represented by either summer only, fall only, or the summer and fall period combined.

Compiled activity data included information on cattle step counts (steps hd<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>, further separated by hourly counts) and lying time (%) across the 71 and 76-day-long grazing seasons for the large KC herd and Angus cattle, respectively. In addition, for the small KC herd, activity data were available for first calf cows during the summer of all years (2021-23), and for these same

89

cows in the fall of 2021 and 2023. Activity data on heifers were only available in the summer and fall of 2021, and the summer of 2022 (Table 3.1).

#### 3.2.4 Cattle weight gain

All animals (cows, and where applicable, calves) were weighed at the beginning and end of every grazing season (summer and fall), through the use of a hydraulic squeeze (Silencer Chutes, Raymond, AB, Canada) fitted with electronic load cells for weighing. Total weight gain over the grazing season was determined as the accumulated weight change over summer and fall, computed by subtracting the initial weight (June/July) from the final weight (November).

For all calves, the 205-d adjusted weaning weight (WW) was computed using the following formula (Hobbs and Smith, 1991):

205-d WW = [(calf weaning weight – calf birth weight)/ (calf weaning date – calf birth date)]  $\times$  (205 days + calf birth weight + dam age correction factor)

Finally, aggregate cow-calf (pair) weight gain was computed as the sum of cow weight gain and the calf 205-d adjusted weaning weight.

#### 3.2.5 Data stratification and analysis

Raw data from the pedometers was provided as information on animal behavior within 15 min long bins throughout the day. Data for individual animals were initially downloaded from the Cow Alert website. Next, data were examined to identify missing values and remove days with missing activity prior to analysis. All handling days were removed to accommodate for periods of time during which cattle were being confined and thereby unable to exhibit normal activity on pasture. Two days before handling and the day after handling were also removed to accommodate their gathering from pasture. After being processed to accommodate the pre-processing and processing days, all cattle activity data were converted from 15-minute bins into daily bins. Daily cow step count and lying time (in seconds) were calculated by summing the cow step counts and lying time on 15-minute bins into 24 hr periods; a total of 96 bins were summed to obtain daily activity data. Days in which individual animal readings with less than 93 bins were removed.

Animal performance data collected on either end of the grazing period (summer and fall) were matched with the individual activity data collected from the pedometers. In addition, information was compiled on the intrinsic attributes of cattle that may affect their behavior, as indicated by the activity metrics. Intrinsic attributes included cow age (particularly for the Angus herd, in which age ranged from 3-11 yr; Table 3.1), the RFI value of the KC cattle as previously determined in drylot as a heifer, and also for KC animals the percentage breed composition comprised of black Angus, which ranged from 17 to 55%.

Given the inherent differences in animal age classes, breed composition, and grazing (pasture) locations for the different grazing trials, a separate analysis was done for each of the black Angus and large KC herds. In contrast, the small KC cattle herd was comprised of both first calf cows and heifers each year, and grazed the same pastures in summer and fall, albeit as different animals. Thus, data from the three consecutive years of grazing for the small KC herd were combined for analysis, as pasture location and size, as well as potential differences in forage quantity and quality, were considered to be negligible for that herd.

All subsequent data analysis was done in SAS (SAS version 9.4) using the packages PROC MIXED and PROC REG. For significant interaction effects, 3-D graphs were generated in R version 4.3.2 (R Core Team, 2023) using the set of packages available on 'tidyverse' library version 2.0.0 (Wickham et al., 2019). Given the unique set of intrinsic conditions for each study

91

cattle herd, a separate analysis was done for the Angus, large KC herd, and small KC cattle herd (see Table 3.2 for a summary of behavior by these herds). This accounted for differences in pasture locations, size, conditions, as well as breed differences and prior performance evaluation (i.e., RFI).

Within each analysis, two discrete steps were performed, the first evaluating potential effects of intrinsic animal attributes, using PROC MIXED where (age, RFI, breed composition were the fixed effects) on activity budgets (mean daily step counts and mean daily lying time percentage were the dependent variable), with animal ID and year treated as random variables. The second was an evaluation of the association between activity budgets and observed cattle production metrics while grazing, using PROC REG where (mean daily step counts and mean daily lying time percentage, were the fixed effect) and production metrics such as (cow weight gain, calf weight gain, and cow+calf weight gain were the dependent variable) with animal ID and year were treated as the random variables. Statistical significance was set at P < 0.05 for all analyses, unless otherwise noted.

#### 3.2.5.1 Black Angus activity

To initially test the effects of different cow ages on activity budgets among the black Angus cattle, a regression was performed between cow age class (3 - 11 yr) and both mean daily step counts (steps hd<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>) and mean daily lying time (%), using all animals within this herd; this analysis was done with the PROC REG function in SAS version 9.4 (Stroup et al., 2018). Relationships were assessed using their significance (p-value), adjusted R<sup>2</sup>, and corresponding equations. Next, and given the demonstrated importance of cow age in altering activity budgets, black Angus cow weight gain, calf weight gain, and cow-calf aggregate weight gain, were each tested against the fixed effects of mean daily step counts (steps hd<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>), cow age, and their interaction, using PROC MIXED in SAS. A similar analysis was done for mean daily lying time within a 2-way interaction model. This identified whether the activity metrics, alone or in conjunction with cow age, effected the production variables. Individual animals were treated as random. Where significant relationships were found, particularly 2-way interactions of age × activity, a 3-D graph was constructed in R version 4.3.2. (R Core Team, 2023) using the set of packages available on 'tidyverse' library version 2.0.0 (Wickham et al., 2019).

## 3.5.2.2. Large KC herd

Behavior of Kinsella Composite crossbred cattle was analyzed separately in two groups: the large KC and small KC, each of which grazed a different set of pastures. Model selection was done through regression analysis to test the effect of intrinsic factors (RFI-Fat, cow age group and breed composition) as well as account for how they individually (or their possible interactions) contributed significantly to the model (where mean daily step counts and mean daily lying times were the dependent variables). Observed AIC values were used as the selection criteria, and delta AIC values were calculated. Models with a delta AIC less than 2 were considered to be equally plausible and were therefore tested further using the PROC REG function in SAS. Where there was an interaction between 2 or more treatments, the interactions were tested first, with significance set at p < 0.05, and the Adj-R<sup>2</sup> and equation used to explain any significant relationships. To understand the effect of activity metrics (step counts and lying times) on cow weight gain and calf 205-d weaning weights, a simple regression analysis was performed with either cow weight or calf weight as the dependent variable in response to mean daily step counts or mean daily lying times (%).

## 3.5.2.3 Small KC herd

Differences in activity metrics (step counts and lying times) were initially tested between the two-age classes (cows vs heifers) examined within the small KC herd using PROC GLIMMIX in SAS 9.4. Where significant differences in activity existed between cows and heifers, subsequent analyses were performed separately by age cohort. Fixed effects of RFI-fat and breed composition among the small KC animals, together with their interactions, were tested on activity variables (mean daily step counts and mean daily lying times), using year of testing and individual animal as a random effect separately on cows and heifers. To understand how activity budgets affected cattle performance, simple regressions were performed with cow weight gain and heifer weight gain regressed against mean daily step counts and mean daily lying times, with year of testing and individual animal as random effectAdditionally, in the case of first calf cows, the calf 205-d weaning weights were evaluated, together with the aggregate cow+calf gain over the entire grazing season.

#### **3.3 Results**

## 3.3.1 Purebred Angus activity responses
Angus cow step counts were inversely related to animal age (Fig. 3.1A), with step counts decreasing by ~25% (from 4000 to 3000 steps  $hd^{-1} d^{-1}$ ) as cow age increased from 3 to 11 years; no such relationship was evident for lying time and age (Fig. 3.1B). Based on these results, the subsequent analysis of activity effects on cattle weight gain included step counts in the ANOVA model (Table 3.3).

Both calf weight gain over the summer grazing period, together with cow+calf aggregate weight gain, were affected (P < 0.002) by the interaction of cow age and step counts among the Angus cattle (Table 3.3). Closer examination of these interactions using 3-D graphs indicated that younger cows who took fewer steps (an average of 3000 steps d<sup>-1</sup>) had calves with higher weight gains (average of 110 kg), while younger cows having higher steps counts (average of 4500 steps d<sup>-1</sup>) had calves with lower weight gains (averaging 85 kg; Fig. 3.2). In contrast, older Angus cows (age 11 yr) were found to have relatively similar levels of calf gain across all step count levels, although cows taking 4500 steps d<sup>-1</sup> were found to have the highest calf weight gain (125 kg). Overall, this relationship was statistically significant (p = 0.01, Adj-R<sup>2</sup> = 0.19; Fig. 3.2).

The interaction between cow mean daily step counts and cow age on aggregate cow-calf weight gain was also significant (p = 0.005, Adj-R<sup>2</sup> = 0.16; Fig. 3.3). The observed pattern for cow-calf gain was similar to the calf gain, although cow+calf gain was higher which indicated that it is being driven by the cows rather than calf gain. Younger cows (3-4 yr) taking fewer steps (~ 2500 steps d<sup>-1</sup>) had by far the highest cow+calf weight gain, with aggregate gains as high as 350 kg, whereas younger cows that took more steps had the lowest overall cow+calf weight gain (averaging 85 kg). Also notable was that older cows had divergent aggregate cow+calf weight gain with age, while more active cows (those with greater step counts) had greater weight gain with increasing age.

Unlike step counts, mean daily lying time had no effect on the performance of Angus cattle, either alone, or in combination with cow age (P > 0.39; See Table B3.11).

## 3.3.2 Factors regulating activity in the large KC herd and their performance

Singular fixed effects of RFI-fat, breed composition and cow age on the activity metrics (step counts and lying time) of the large KC cow herd were found to be the leading models based on a delta AIC of 2 (Appendix Tables B3.1, B3.3, B3.6, and B3.8) during both the summer and fall grazing seasons of 2023. To further test for the role of cow age, a mixed model procedure was done to compare step counts and lying times of cattle between the two age classes examined (3 vs 4 yr olds). Neither cattle step counts ( $F \ge 0.03$ ;  $P \ge 0.87$ ) nor lying times ( $F \ge 1.83$ ;  $P \ge 0.18$ ) differed in response to cow age in summer and fall. Additionally, regressions of step counts and lying times were not associated with RFI or breed composition for the large KC cattle herd during either portion of the 2023 grazing season (P > 0.09, Adj- $R^2 \le 0.05$ ; Tables B3.2, B3.4, B3.7, and B3.9).

Finally, simple linear regression was performed to determine whether the large KC cow herd animals were trading off weight gain on themselves versus their calves. However, no trade off was found between cow weight and calf weight over the summer and fall (P = 0.06,  $Adj-R^2 =$ 0.002; Figure B3.1). In addition, no significant relationship was found between either cow weight gain or calf weight gain against cow daily step counts and daily lying time ( $P \ge 0.14$ ,  $Adj-R^2 \le$ 0.03; Tables B3.5 and B3.10).

### 3.3.3 Factors regulating activity and performance of the small KC herd

Animal age class within the small KC herds tested over three years was distinguished between heifers (age 1) and first-calf cows (age 3). These age groups were found to differ significantly in both mean daily lying time (P < 0.001) and mean daily step counts (P = 0.06). Heifers had 5.5% greater daily step counts, and spent 16.2% greater time lying down each day, compared to cows with calves (Fig. 3.4). Due to these differences between age classes, further analysis was done separately for each age cohort.

There were no statistically significant relationships between RFI-fat, breed composition (percentage Angus), or their interaction, in relation to cow mean daily step counts ( $P \ge 0.25$ , Adj- $R^2 \le 0.03$ ; Table B3.12). Similar results were found between RFI-fat, breed composition (% Angus), and their interaction, to cow mean daily lying time ( $P \ge 0.15$ , Adj- $R^2 \le 0.01$ ). Furthermore, no significant relationships were found between RFI-fat, breed composition (% Angus), and their interaction, in relation to heifer mean daily lying time ( $P \ge 0.14$ , Adj- $R^2 \le 0.04$ ; Table B3.14).

A two-way interaction was evident, however, between RFI-fat and breed composition in relation to heifer mean daily step counts (P = 0.0005, Adj- $R^2 = 0.32$ ). Closer examination of this relationship (Fig. 3.5) indicated that efficient (negative RFI value) heifers with higher breed composition of Angus exhibited increased mean daily step counts to levels as high as 3999 steps d<sup>-1</sup>. However, inefficient heifers (i.e., those with a positive RFI value) with lower Angus breed composition had the lowest activity as reflected by mean daily step counts, with step counts dropping to as low as 3119 steps d<sup>-1</sup>.

A positive linear relationship was found between cow weight gain (excluding calf gain) and mean daily step counts in relation to both cows (P = 0.02, Adj- $R^2 = 0.06$ ; Fig. 3.6A) and heifers (P = 0.015, Adj- $R^2 = 0.16$ ; Fig, 3.6C) with no significant relationship in calf gain ( $P \ge$ 0.45; Adj- $R^2 \le 0.001$ ; Table B 3.17) of the small KC herd during the summer grazing periods over the three study years. In contrast, a negative linear relationship was found between weight gain and mean daily lying time in relation to both cows (P = 0.015, Adj-R<sup>2</sup> = 0.07; Fig. 3.6B), and heifers (P = 0.06, Adj-R<sup>2</sup> = 0.04; Fig. 3.6D). Unlike the summer grazing period, observed activity levels during fall were unrelated to the weight gain of heifers or cows (P  $\ge$  0.31; Adj-R<sup>2</sup>  $\le$  0.001, Table B 3.15 and Table B 3.16).

### **3.4 Discussion**

# 3.4.1 Age effects on cattle activity budgets

Intrinsic cattle attributes that were tested for their impact on cattle activity included age, and in the case of the small KC herd, associated reproductive status confounded with age (heifers vs cows with calves). Across age cohorts, both step counts and lying times tended to vary in relation to several of these attributes. For example, the herd with the largest range of ages tested was the black Angus, for which we found a negative relationship between mean daily step count and cow age. There are several explanations for this decline in movement (i.e., step counts) with age. As older cows are often heavier than younger ones (Deniz et al., 2021; Sessim et al., 2020), this may make younger cows more mobile and active as they traverse the landscape, in turn, increasing their step counts. However, older cows may also be more familiar with their foraging environment, and therefore exhibit reduced search times when foraging due to prior knowledge of the availability of key resources. Grandl et al. (2016) previously reported that older cows had more feed retention time and longer gut fill compared to younger cows, which could also explain the reduced movement; as digestibility in that same study was not affected by age, this suggests that older cows required less feed overall compared to younger ones. Should this be the case, this pattern would reduce an animal's search time while foraging and be further reflected by a declining step count as cow age increases.

Unlike the black Angus herd where we had a wide range of cattle ages, age had no effect on either step counts or lying time for the large KC herd. However, this lack of a difference may reflect the similar ages of the animals tested, which were limited to include cows that were either 3 or 4 years old. The similarity in age but also parity (i.e., both age cohorts had calves, either as first or second parity) may have limited the expression of differences in activity for these animals.

Finally, animal age class (cows and heifers) within the small KC herd was found to have an association with activity. Heifers had greater step counts but also longer total lying time than cows with calves, consistent with the pattern observed for the black Angus herd. This result has been previously reported by other studies (Hart et al., 1993; Kilgour, 2012; Villalba et al., 2015). We suspect that heifers had greater step counts than cows as the former are not constrained by the presence of calves (Crumb et al., 2019; De Passille et al., 2010). Having young calves at side could prevent cows from expressing their true behavior (e.g., exploring the landscape in search of forage), as cows will be more likely to stay near their calves (Johansen et al., 2023; Sahu et al., 2020), for example, to provide protection from predators and support lactation.

Another possible reason for the difference in activity between heifers and cows could be their different physiological states. As heifers are younger than cows they have higher metabolic rates and energy levels (Schuermann et al., 2019; Zou et al., 2007), which could naturally contribute to their increased movements. Furthermore, the social dynamics of heifers are known to be different from cows (Neisen et al., 2009), as heifers are associated with a more active social hierarchy. The latter can be expressed by frequent bouts of play and increased interactions among

their peers relative to cows (Field et al., 2023), which could ultimately increase the step counts of heifers. Longer lying times of heifers may arise due to the longer rest periods needed to recover from more active movement while standing, as well as the lack of calves, the latter of which would reduce the lying times of cows due to the periodic need to support lactation throughout the day.

### 3.4.2 Intrinsic genomic attributes regulating cattle activity

Cattle within the KC herds tested here had previously been tested for RFI score as a heifer in drylot, enabling an evaluation of associations between RFI and subsequent activity on pasture. Residual feed intake adjusted for backfat levels (RFI-fat) is defined as the difference between an animal's actual feed intake and its expected intake for the same growth and energy requirements within a given production system (Archer et al., 1999; Koch et al., 1963). In the current study, we initially postulated that efficient cows (low RFI cows) would walk less as they require reduced intake of forage, while inefficient cows (high RFI cows) may walk more as they require more feed to meet their energy needs. Ultimately, RFI-fat was not associated with the activity of any KC cows, including heifers, or 3 or 4 yr old cows.

These results coincide with other findings previously reporting that RFI [either as a divergent class (i.e., low RFI and High RFI) or as a continuous value] were not associated with the step counts of cows while grazing on pasture (Moore, 2018; Sprinkle et al., 2021). However, they also contradict several prior studies (e.g., Gregorini et al., 2015) reporting that low RFI is associated with reduced step counts when cattle are grazing, while a higher animal step count is associated with high RFI cattle while grazing. Cattle selection is determined at several scales, including the plant community, feeding station, and patch level (Senft et al., 1987; Kaufman et

al., 2013b). Of note, we are unable to partition our step counts into when cattle were actually grazing, and when they are not (e.g., travelling to water or shade), all of which would make it difficult to identify the full effect of RFI on cattle activity budgets.

As the KC cattle examined here were all crossbred, breed composition data for each animal was also used to evaluate activity patterns. As the predominant breed was Angus within the KC cattle, we used the proportional presence of Angus as a covariate to evaluate activity responses on pasture. Breed composition (percentage Angus) was ultimately not found to be associated with cattle activity. These results are unexpected because other studies suggest that the Angus breed is a particularly active one (VanWagoner et al., 2006; Verdon et al., 2021; Russel et al., 2012), and therefore cattle with increased Angus in their composition may be expected to exhibit increased activity. However, no association was found between breed composition and activity here. This could be because of complex interactions among the constituent breeds of each animal, the fact that Angus was limited to less than 60% of the composition of each animal, or due to limited variation that exists between the breed, or that breed-based effects may be more likely to appear within older cows (i.e., all KC animals tested were 4 yrs old or less).

Finally, of note is that we did find an interaction between RFI-fat and percent Angus (in the breed composition) in relation to the mean daily step counts of cattle, but only among the KC heifers, and not the cows. A similar dependency was reported on by Parsons et al. (2020), and supports other studies documenting this interaction (Gregorini et al., 2015) whereby animals with increased RFI-fat values and high Angus composition were associated with increased daily step counts. These findings suggest that inefficient cattle (and specifically heifers, rather than cows) may dedicate increased activity to movement while traversing the landscape. This increased movement, in turn, could reduce the energy available for weight gain, hence explaining the

change in feed efficiency for these high RFI animals (Hill et al., 2012), as they spend more time grazing compared to the efficient (low RFI-fat) cows (Herd et al., 2009). Alternatively, low RFI heifers may be more efficient because of their energy conserving strategy via reduced movement, which could occur if these animals are more adept at searching for and consuming forage, and therefore reach gut fill of high-quality forage faster. The further association of high step counts (i.e., movement rates) of cattle comprised of increased Angus, is consistent with this breed being very active (Verdon et al., 2021). In any case, the contingency of RFI × breed composition effects on the youngest cohort of KC cattle tested (heifers), and not cows with calves, suggest that these effects are either relatively weak, and/or disappear with age when cows may express other priority behaviors such as mothering and supporting their offspring.

#### 3.4.3 Cattle production responses in relation to activity

Cow step counts are considered an important activity metric (Charlton et al., 2022) that relate to energy expenditure in beef cattle production (Brosh et al., 2010; Lachia et al., 1997). One of the most important production variables for beef cattle producers is ultimately weight gain (Martin et al., 2021; Semchechem et al., 2021), and differences in animal age can influence the weight on calves. We documented a negative relationship between calf weight gain and cow mean daily step counts for younger black Angus cows, with a positive response of calf weight gain with higher step counts for older black Angus cows. In contrast, within the smaller herd of KC cattle a positive relationship existed for both cow and heifer weight gain in relation to their mean daily step counts, but a negative relationship of weight gain compared to their mean daily lying time. Therefore, cow and calf weight gain ultimately had different relationships to activity budgets for the two breeds studied (purebred black Angus vs crossbred KC cattle).

In the case of the black Angus herd, while cow-calf production was affected by the interaction of age × step counts, separate examination of each group (cows vs calves) showed that this response was driven primarily by the performance of calves rather than cows. In a cow-calf relationship, cows may put energy into themselves, elevating individual weight gain (Albright, 1993), or transfer increased nutrients into lactation for their calves (Kang et al., 2022), in which case they may reduce their own performance. Alternatively, energy may be allocated in a balanced way to achieve modest increases in both cow and calf weight gain (Riley et al., 2016). The absence of a relationship between black Angus cow weight changes and mean daily step counts, but the presence of a calf response, highlights the fact that calf growth is ultimately the commercial variable impacted by cow activity level, with a further dependency on dam age. More specifically, younger cows actively taking fewer steps ended up putting more energy into their calves, as supported by the development of larger calves (Wright et al., 1994). However, our study also showed that older black Angus cows with higher steps counts led to the most weight gain on calves. While the exact cause of this changeover is unknown for older cows, this response could be attributed to cows with improved search ability being able to make better decisions in finding and consuming forage on pasture, while also conserving energy (Newberry et al., 2008). Conversely, we are unable to rule out that among the older cows, animals with higher step counts may simply be healthier, in turn, translating into improved support for the nursing calf. It should be noted that older cows typically have inherently greater energy requirements than younger cows to sustain their production or have a better body condition score than the younger animals (NRC, 2000), which in turn, may translate into a requirement for more time spent grazing (and moving about) on pasture, despite a lower overall movement rate. Thus, older cows may be moving in a more beneficial manner while grazing, thereby leading to improved energy transfer to their calves.

The generalized reduction in animal movement with increased cow age could occur due to differences in cow experience, as young animals (e.g., heifers) that end up taking more steps may be too inexperienced to make optimal decisions in selecting the superior quality forage needed to meet their nutritional requirements and support lactation (Bailey et al., 2010; Lopes et al., 2013). Moreover, as these same young animals take more steps, they may expend more energy (Lachia et al., 2005; Maurya et al., 2012), which in turn, may potentially reduce the energy available for transfer to calves and support their growth (Bazeley and Hayton, 2013). Thus, inexperienced young cows may ultimately be more likely to put increased energy into calves, but only when they take fewer steps due to energy conservation, which will create less conflict between energy allocation between the dam and her calf.

Unlike the findings from the purebred black Angus herd, a preliminary test showed that there was no trade-off between cow and calf weight gain among the Kinsella Composite (KC) crossbred cattle, instead suggesting that cow and calf gain were independent of one another. Unlike the black Angus herd, we did not find a clear association between cow or calf weight gain and dam step counts from the large KC herd, nor did weight gain responses relate to observed differences in lying times among those cattle. While we postulate that cows spending more time lying down and having reduced step counts would end up with greater weight gain due to energy conservation, we found no such association for either the older KC cow herd or their calves. The lack of a relationship for this herd may arise due to the lower sample size (38 animals) tested on pasture during 2023, which may have limited the power to detect significant associations.

In contrast to the large KC herd, an association was found among both cows and heifers of the small KC herds tested over multiple years between weight gain and both step counts and lying times, potentially due to the larger sample size of animals examined. While it is possible

that the pastures used by the small KC herds may have had forage quality and quantity conditions more conducive to generating weight gain, this is unlikely given that the habitat types and foraging conditions remained similar between study areas. In any case, similar patterns were found in both the cows and heifers of the small KC herd, indicating that irrespective of their age (and reproductive status), KC cattle that walked more tended to put on more weight. This finding contradicted our expectations and suggested that cattle that walked more were not disadvantaged by increased energy expenditure, but rather benefited from greater movement, perhaps by finding and consuming better quality forage. Another study from the Mixedgrass Prairie in Alberta using pedometers on beef cattle reported a similar result (Moore et al., 2018) with a positive trend between body weight gain and decreased lying time. Moore et al. (2018) concluded that animals that had more search time had more weight gain. Our results further reinforced this, but also showed that cows who took more steps had increased weight gain on themselves, which has been reported previously (Freetly et al., 2020; Mandok et al., 2014). Overall, these findings highlight the need to further understand the mechanism behind how cattle with high step counts benefit, including via more search time, as evident by increases in weight gain for increased step counts, and decreased weight gain with increases in lying time.

Finally, it is important to note that cow step counts and lying time had no association with calf weight gain within the small KC herd tested over several years, indicating that alterations to the activity budgets of KC cows were more closely tied to individual dam performance, rather than that of their calves (Hafla et al., 2013). Additionally, no tradeoff in performance was detected between cow and calf gain for the small KC herd, although as noted previously, all cows within this herd were young (first parity), which could explain the lack of a response in calf gain, particularly as these animals were still growing, thereby creating competition in energy allocation

between themselves and their offspring (Kertz et al., 1997). Along with cow age, many other factors ultimately could explain the performance of cow-calf pairs in this herd, including dam health status, and even variation in energy requirement in the dam's lactation stage, thereby altering how nutrients were transferred to the calf.

# **3.5 Conclusion**

Our research is the first to evaluate in detail the activity budgets of cattle (step counts and lying times) grazing within native rangeland pastures of western Canada during summer and fall. Activity budgets were found to vary with animal age as younger cattle walked more than older ones. However, other intrinsic animal factors such as previously quantified RFI-fat scores (in drylot), and breed composition (percentage Angus) only influenced heifers but not cows. While increased activity (as demonstrated by greater step counts and reduced lying times) of heifers and young (first calf) cows generally led to greater weight gain within Kinsella Composite crossbred cattle, no responses in calf gain were observed for these young dams. In contrast, purebred black Angus cattle exhibited complex activity budgets in response to animal age, which was further reflected by variable calf weight gain. While young black Angus cows walking more had smaller calves, older black Angus cows walking more supported larger calves. Overall, these results highlight the importance of understanding the activity budgets of cattle, particularly that of mature cattle, including how this may alter important production outcomes.

# **3.6 References**

Albright, J. L. (1993). Feeding behavior of dairy cattle. Journal of Dairy Science. 76(2): 485-498.

- Bailey, D. W., Thomas, M. G., Walker, J. W., Witmore, B. K., and Tolleson, D. (2010). Effect of previous experience on grazing patterns and diet selection of Brangus cows in the Chihuahuan Desert. Journal of Rangeland Ecology and Management. 63(2): 223-232.
- Bazeley, K., and Hayton, A. (2013). Practical cattle farming. Crowood Press Ltd. Ramsbury, Marlborough, Wiltshere, United Kingdom. pp 224.
- Charlton, G., Gauld, C., Veronesi, F., Rutter, S., and Bleach, E. (2022). Assessing the accuracy of leg mounted sensors for recording dairy cow behavioural activity at pasture, in cubicle housing and a straw yard. Animals. 12(5):638 <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ani12050638</u>.
- Crump, A., Jenkins, K., Bethell, E. J., Ferris, C. P., and Arnott, G. (2019). Pasture access affects behavioral indicators of wellbeing in dairy cows. Animals. 9(11): 902.
- De Passille, A. M., Jensen, M. B., Chapinal, N., and Rushen, J. (2010). Use of accelerometers to describe gait patterns in dairy calves. Journal of Dairy Science. 93(7): 3287-3293.
- Deniz, M., de Sousa, K. T., do Vale, M. M., and Dittrich, J. R. (2021). Age and body mass are more important than horns to determine the social position of dairy cows. Journal of Ethology. 39: 19-27.
- Field, L., Hemsworth, L., Jongman, E., Patrick, C., and Verdon, M. (2023). Contact with mature cows and access to pasture during early life shape dairy heifer behaviour at integration into the milking herd. Animals. 13: 20-49. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ani13132049</u>.
- Freetly, H., Kuehn, L., Thallman, R., and Snelling, W. (2020). Heritability and genetic correlations of feed intake, body weight gain, residual gain, and residual feed intake of

beef cattle as heifers and cows. Journal of Animal Science. Volume 98(1): 1-6 https://doi.org/10.1093/jas/skz394.

- Grandl, F., Luzi, S. P., Furger, M., Zeitz, J. O., Leiber, F., Ortmann, S., and Schwarm, A. (2016).Biological implications of longevity in dairy cows: changes in feed intake, feeding behavior, and digestion with age. Journal of Dairy Science. 99(5): 3457-3471.
- Gregorini, P., Waghorn, G. C., Kuhn-Sherlock, B., Romera, A. J., and Macdonald, K. A. (2015). Grazing pattern of dairy cows that were selected for divergent residual feed intake as calves. Journal of Dairy Science. 98(9): 6486-6491.
- Hafla, A. N., Carstens, G. E., Forbes, T. D. A., Tedeschi, L. O., Bailey, J. C., Walter, J. T., and Johnson, J. R. (2013). Relationships between postweaning residual feed intake in heifers and forage use, body composition, feeding behavior, physical activity, and heart rate of pregnant beef females. Journal of Animal Science. 91(11): 5353-5365.
- Hart, R. H., Bissio, J., Samuel, M. J., and Waggoner, J. W. (1993). Grazing systems, pasture size, and cattle grazing behavior, distribution and gains. Journal of Range Management. 46(1): 81-87.
- Herd, R., and Arthur, P. (2009). Physiological basis for residual feed intake. Journal of Animal Science. 87(14): E64-E71. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas.2008-1345.
- Hill, J. O., Wyatt, H. R., and Peters, J. C. (2012). Energy balance and obesity. Circulation. 126(1): 126-132.
- Johanssen, J. R. E., Kvam, G. T., Logstein, B., and Vaarst, M. (2023). Interrelationships between cows, calves, and humans in cow-calf contact systems: An interview study among Norwegian dairy farmers. Journal of Dairy Science. 106(9): 6325-6341.
- Kang, K., Zeng, L., Ma, J., Shi, L., Hu, R., Zou, H., Peng, Q., Wang, L., Xue, B., and Wang, Z.(2022). High energy diet of beef cows during gestation promoted growth performance of

calves by improving placental nutrients transport. Frontiers in Veterinary Science. 9:1 -

- 13. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2022.1053730</u>.
- Kilgour, R. J. (2012). In pursuit of "normal": A review of the behaviour of cattle at pasture. Applied Animal Behaviour Science. 138(1-2): 1-11.
- Lachica, M., and Aguilera, J. F. (2005). Energy expenditure of walk in grassland for small ruminants. Small Ruminant Research. 59(2-3): 105-121.
- Lopes, F., Coblentz, W., Hoffman, P. C., and Combs, D. K. (2013). Assessment of heifer grazing experience on short-term adaptation to pasture and performance as lactating cows. Journal of Dairy Science. 96(5): 3138-3152.
- Mandok, K., Kay, J., Greenwood, S., Greenwood, S., McNamara, J., Crookenden, M., White, R., Shields, S., Edwards, G., and Roche, J. (2014). Efficiency of use of metabolizable energy for body weight gain in pasture-based, nonlactating dairy cows. Journal of Dairy Science. 97(7): 4639-4648. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2013-6912.
- Martín, N., Schreurs, N., Morris, S., López-Villalobos, N., McDade, J., and Hickson, R. (2021). Sire Effects on Carcass of Beef-Cross-Dairy Cattle: A Case Study in New Zealand. Animals. 11(3): 636. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani11030636.
- Maurya, V. P., Sejian, V., Kumar, K., Singh, G., and Naqvi, S. M. K. (2012). Walking stress influence on livestock production, Chapter 4, pp: 75-95, in Environmental stress and amelioration in livestock production. Springer-Verlag, Edited by, Sejian, V., Naqvi, S.M.K., Ezeji, T., Lakritz, J., and Lal, R, Heidelberg, Berlin.
- Moore, C. (2018). Activity budgets of rangeland cattle with divergent molecular breeding value. Chapter 2, pp 18-43, in Rangeland habitat use and activity of cattle with divergent molecular breeding values for residual feed intake, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Canada.

- National Research Council (NRC). Nutritional Requirements of Beef Cattle. Update (2000), Seventh Revised Edition. National Academy Press, Washington D.C, USA. pp 581. <u>PubMed Abstract</u>
- Neisen, G., Wechsler, B., and Gygax, L. (2009). Effects of the introduction of single heifers or pairs of heifers into dairy-cow herds on the temporal and spatial associations of heifers and cows. Applied Animal Behaviour Science. 119: 127-136. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APPLANIM.2009.04.006.
- Nelson, C. J., and Moser, L. E. (1994). Plant factors affecting forage quality. chapter 2, pg 115-154, in Forage quality, evaluation, and utilization, editted by George., C and Fahey J.R. America Society of Agronomy, Wisconsin, USA.
- Newberry, R. C., and Swanson, J. C. (2008). Implications of breaking mother–young social bonds. Applied Animal Behaviour Science. 110(1-2): 3-23.
- Oates, L. G., Undersander, D. J., Gratton, C., Bell, M. M., and Jackson, R. D. (2011). Management-intensive rotational grazing enhances forage production and quality of subhumid cool-season pastures. Crop Science. 51(2): 892-901.
- Parsons, C., Dafoe, J., Wyffels, S., Emon, M., DelCurto, T., and Boss, D. (2020). 282 The Influence of RFI classification and cow age on body weight and body condition change, supplement intake and grazing behavior of beef cattle winter grazing mixed-grass rangelands. Journal of Animal Science. 98: 208-208.

https://doi.org/10.1093/jas/skaa278.383.

Pauler, C., Isselstein, J., Berard, J., Braunbeck, T., and Schneider, M. (2020). Grazing Allometry: Anatomy, Movement, and Foraging Behavior of Three Cattle Breeds of Different Productivity. Frontiers in Veterinary Science. 7:494

https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2020.00494.

- Renquist, B., Oltjen, J., Sainz, R., and Calvert, C. (2006). Effects of age on body condition and production parameters of multiparous beef cows. Journal of Animal Science. 84 7: 1890-1895. https://doi.org/10.2527/JAS.2005-733.
- Riley, D., Burke, J., Chase, C., and Coleman, S. (2016). Heterosis and direct effects for
  Charolais-sired calf weight and growth, cow weight and weight change, and ratios of cow
  and calf weights and weight changes across warm season lactation in Romosinuano,
  Angus, and F cows in Arkansas. Journal of Animal Science. 94(1): 1-12.
  https://doi.org/10.2527/jas.2015-9484.
- Russell, M. L., Bailey, D. W., Thomas, M. G., and Witmore, B. K. (2012). Grazing distribution and diet quality of Angus, Brangus, and Brahman cows in the Chihuahuan Desert. Rangeland Ecology and Management. 65(4): 371-381.
- Russell, M. L., Bailey, D. W., Thomas, M. G., and Witmore, B. K. (2012). Grazing distribution and diet quality of Angus, Brangus, and Brahman cows in the Chihuahuan Desert. Rangeland Ecology and Management. 65(4): 371-381.
- Sahu, B. K., Parganiha, A., and Pati, A. K. (2020). Behavior and foraging ecology of cattle: A review. Journal of Veterinary Behavior. 40: 50-74.
- Schuermann, Y., Welsford, G., Nitschmann, E., Wykes, L., and Duggavathi, R. (2019).
   Association between pre-breeding metabolic profiles and reproductive performance in heifers and lactating dairy cows. Theriogenology. 131: 79-88.
   https://doi.org/10.1016/j.theriogenology.2019.03.018.
- Semchechem, R., Pértile, S., Simonelli, S., Canozzi, M., Filho, L., Zamboti, M., Zundt, M., Santos, M., Neto, A., and Rego, F. (2021). Relationship among productive and economic

variables of beef cattle in Brazil. Ciencia Rural. 51(4): e20190841.

https://doi.org/10.1590/0103-8478CR20190841.

- Sessim, A. G., De Oliveira, T. E., López-González, F. A., De Freitas, D. S., and Barcellos, J. O. J. (2020). Efficiency in cow-calf systems with different ages of cow culling. Frontiers in Veterinary Science. 7: 476.
- Sprinkle, J. E., Sagers, J. K., Hall, J. B., Ellison, M. J., Yelich, J. V., Brennan, J. R., and Lamb, J.
  B. (2021). Predicting cattle grazing behavior on rangeland using accelerometers. Rangeland Ecology and Management. 76: 157-170.
- Stroup, W. W., Milliken, G. A., Claassen, E. A., and Wolfinger, R. D. (2018). SAS for mixed models: introduction and basic applications. SAS Institute, Cary North Carolina, USA. Pp 381
- Tarrant, P. V. (1989). Animal behaviour and environment in the dark-cutting condition in beef: A review. Irish Journal of Food Science and Technology. 13: 70–107.
- VanWagoner, H. C., Bailey, D. W., Kress, D. D., Anderson, D. C., and Davis, K. C. (2006).
  Differences among beef sire breeds and relationships between terrain use and performance when daughters graze foothill rangelands as cows. Applied Animal Behaviour Science. 97(2-4): 105-121.
- Verdon, M., Horton, B., and Rawnsley, R. (2021). A case study on the use of virtual fencing to intensively graze angus heifers using moving front and back-fences. Frontiers in Animal Science. 2: 663963.
- Villalba, J. J., Cabassu, R., and Gunter, S. A. (2015). Forage choice in pasturelands: Influence on cattle foraging behavior and performance. Journal of Animal Science. 93(4): 1729-1740.
- Waghorn, G. C., and Clark, D. A. (2004). Feeding value of pastures for ruminants. New Zealand Veterinary Journal. 52(6): 320-331.

Zou, C., Liang, X., Yang, B., Liang, K., Liu, J., Zhongsheng, X., Zhao, F., and Wei, S. (2007).
 Study of energy metabolism of dairy buffalo heifers in Guangxi, China. Journal of
 Animal and Feed Sciences. 16: 54-58. <u>https://doi.org/10.22358/JAFS/74418/2007</u>.

# **Tables and Figures**

Table 3.1 Summary of all experimental animal used in the trials and their corresponding activity data from 2021 to 2023.

	Extrinsic factor				Intrinsic animal factor			Activity metrics data			
Herd	Breed	Year	Season	Age	Breed Composition	RFIfat	Summer		Fall		
							mean daily	mean daily	mean daily	mean daily	
							step counts	lying time	step counts	lying time	
							$(\text{step hd}^{-1} \text{ d}^{-1})$	percent	(step hd <sup>-1</sup> d	<sup>-1</sup> ) percent	
Small	KC	2021	Summer and Fall	1 and 3	0.2 – 0.6	-2.7 – 4.1	$4519\pm 603$	$40.4 \pm 3.7$	$\begin{array}{c} 3380 \pm \\ 441 \end{array}$	43.3 ± 3.8	
Small	KC	2022	Summer	1 and 3	0.2 – 0.5	-2.7 – 2.1	$5004\pm609$	$40\pm4.4$	N/A	N/A	
Small	KC	2023	Summer and Fall	3	0.2 – 0.5	-1.9 - 2.6	$5110\pm492$	$37.4 \pm 2.3$	$\begin{array}{c} 3576 \pm \\ 350.1 \end{array}$	$40 \pm 3.8$	
Large	KC	2023	Summer and Fall	3 and 4	0.03 – 0.5	-1.2 - 1.2	$4264\pm 627$	$38.3\pm3.4$	3529 ± 446	$40\pm3.7$	
Large	Angus	2022	Summer	3-11	N/A	N/A	$3486\pm522$	$37.5\pm4.1$	N/A	N/A	

*RFI-Fat* : This is the residual feed intake previously measured as heifers in drylot from January to March Breed Composition: This is the percentage of black Angus in relation to other breed among the Kinsella composite cross bred cattle

	<u>Extrinsic</u>	e animal/w	eather variables In	trinsic factor	Production variables				
	Breed	Year	Season	Age	Su	mmer	Fall		
Herd					mean cow weight gain (kg)	mean calf weight gain (kg)	mean cow weight gain gain (kg)	mean calf weight (kg)	
Small	KC	2021	Summer and Fall	1 (Heifer)	$19.0\pm12.0$	N/A	$-6.2 \pm 15.5$	N/A	
				3 (Cow)	19.3 ± 21.8)	$66.3 \pm 15.2$	$40.6 \pm 10.6$	$69.5\pm9.2$	
Small	KC	2022	Summer	1 (Heifer)	$69.8 \pm 18.1$	N/A	N/A	N/A	
				3 (Cow)	$72.4 \pm 27.7$	$65.5 \pm 6.8$	N/A	N/A	
Small	KC	2023	Summer and Fall	3 (Cow)	$42.3 \pm 18.6$	$60.8\pm8.3$	$-3.3 \pm 26.2$	$51.2\pm9.6$	
Large	KC	2023	Summer and Fall	3 and 4 (All Cows)	$27.6\pm20.10$	66.3 ± 15.2	$72.4 \pm 18.7$	$46.4 \pm 6.2$	
Large	Angus	2022	Summer	3-11 (All Cows)	43.4 ± 23	$109.7\pm13$	N/A	N/A	

**Table 3.2**: Summary of all experimental animals in the various trials and their corresponding production data from 2021 to 2023.

**Table 3.3:** Summary ANOVA results examining summer cow weight gain, summer calf weight gain, and cow-calf weight gain in relation to cow mean daily step counts (steps d<sup>-1</sup>), age, and their interactions as evaluated for Angus cows in the summer grazing season of 2022

Production Variable	Effect	df (num, den)	F-Value	p-value
Summer Cow	Steps	1,33	0.13	0.72
Weight Gain	Age	8,33	1.03	0.44
	Steps*Age	8,33	8.33	0.42
Summer Calf Weight	Steps	1,32	8.88	0.006
Gain	Age	8,32	3.78	0.003
	Steps*Age	8,32	4.24	0.0015
Cow Calf Weight	Steps	1,32	0.47	0.50
Gain	Age	8,32	4.65	0.0008
	Steps*Age	8,32	4.67	0.0007



**Figure 3.1** Summary of the relationship between A) mean daily steps counts and cow age, and B) mean daily lying time and cow age, as evaluated for Angus cows during the summer grazing season of 2022.



Cow's Steps

Figure 3.2: Relationship between calf weight gain and the interaction effect of cow age and mean daily step counts of Angus cows, as evaluated during the summer grazing season of 2022. The interaction is significant at P = 0.01,  $Adj-R^2 = 0.19$ .



**Figure 3.3:** Relationship between cow-calf aggregate weight gain and the interaction of cow age and mean daily step counts, as evaluated during the summer grazing season of 2022. The interaction is significant at p = 0.005 and Adj  $R^2 = 0.16$ 



**Figure 3.4:** Summary of the mean comparison between A) mean daily step counts and animal age class B) mean daily lying time percent and animal age class in the summer grazing season of 2021 and 2022.



**Figure 3.5:** Relationship between mean daily step counts of heifers and the interaction of RFI Fat adjusted and breed composition, as evaluated during the summer grazing seasons of 2021 and 2022. The interaction is significant at p = 0.0005 and Adj  $R^2 = 0.32$  and equation is given as: daily step counts = 3999 + 3119\*BC - 943\*RFI-fat + 3017 (RFI-fat\*BC).





**Figure 3.6:** Summary of the relationship between A) cows' weight gain and cows' mean daily step counts, B) cows' weight gain and cows' mean daily lying time percent, C) heifers' weight gain and heifers' mean daily step counts, and D) heifers' weight gain and heifers' mean daily lying time percent, as evaluated for KC cattle during the summer grazing season of 2021, 2022, and 2023.

# **Chapter 4: Synthesis**

# 4.1 General Overview

Beef cattle on rangelands are faced with complex decisions on how to move about and utilize pasture resources. Understanding grazing behavior of cattle on pasture may help ranchers make improved decisions to enhance pasture resource use and associated beef production. Tracking cattle activity on pasture can help ranchers understand animal response (i.e., sensitivity) to environmental conditions, including weather, resulting energetics and potential impacts on production. For instance, a continuous increase in lying time could indicate that a particular animal is challenged with poor health, which in turn, is responsible for their immobilization. Furthermore, characterizing the grazing behavior of beef cattle on pasture may help optimize forage utilization, for example, by designing pasture sizes and shapes that are consistent with preferred animal movement patterns. Finally, cattle activity patterns may be used in tracking reproductive behaviors, and may therefore have applications in reproductive herd management, for example estrus synchronization.

By conducting two focal studies on how cattle activity varies among animals and affects beef cattle production, this work is among the first to address the impact of extreme weather conditions on cattle activity, as well as the direct impact of cattle activity on important beef production metrics on pastures, including cow weight gain, calf weight gain and cow + calf aggregate weight gain. Characterizing cattle activity will not only help in understanding cattle fundamental movement patterns and monitoring welfare of the herd, but also relate these activities to animal performance, which can then be used to explore improvements in production for the entire beef cattle herd. Given the associated importance of energetics and potential

impacts on production industry-wide, increasing support for beef cattle production will help the growing human population globally by allowing producers to select for cattle that make improved decisions on energy use while grazing on pasture, such as those that put on more weight for a given activity level.

#### 4.2 Research Summary

Chapter 1 reviewed beef cattle production globally and in Canada. It reviewed determinants of pasture-based beef cattle production, which include extrinsic animal characteristics such as seasonal changes in forage quality and quantity with advancing phenological changes in the growing season. Weather and seasonal changes from the summer to fall grazing season may ultimately affect the activity budgets expressed by beef cattle. Additionally, intrinsic animal factors such as animal age, RFI (fat adjusted) feed efficiency, and breed composition were also reviewed for their effects on cattle activity on pasture. Furthermore, measurements of cattle activity through the use of pedometers were reviewed, including how activity budgets were measured and the accuracy limitations of such measurements and associated sampling time constraints. Finally, cow weight gain, calf weight gain, and cow + calf weight measurements were reviewed.

Chapter 2 specifically explored cattle movement rate (step counts) and lying time in a grazing season characterized by extreme hot weather (heat stress) conditions. Environmental weather data were downloaded, and heat stress conditions defined using the thermal heat index (THI) formula from the NRC equation. THI values of 68 and above were used as a benchmark for identifying days in which cattle were under heat stress (Bernaccubi et al., 2014). Mean step counts and mean lying times (%), calculated both on a daily and an hourly scale, were calculated

from the IceQube+ pedometers fitted to cattle. Activity budgets in daily step counts and daily lying times were compared between heat stress days and non-heat stress days; we initially postulated that activity would be reduced during heat stress days. However, our results surprisingly showed that daily step counts increased during heat stress conditions. Closer examination on a diurnal basis revealed distinct changes in movement patterns, with peak movement overnight (from 11:00 pm till about 4:00 am), and again from late morning through early afternoon (11 am till 2 pm). Heat stress conditions led to increased movement (step counts) overnight, and again during mid-day, with extended periods of reduced movement and increased lying time in the interim. This shows that cattle partition their activity in distinct periods of the day, and that this partitioning is exaggerated during heat stress conditions. Moreover, these changes can likely be explained by changes in behavior while feeding (higher movement during the cooler conditions at night) and in the need to travel to access drinking watering (mid-day), although these notions warrant further testing.

Chapter 3 examined cattle activity budgets in relation to seasonal foraging conditions (summer vs fall) and intrinsic animal factors such as cow age, RFI-fat and breed composition, and included an evaluation of cattle weight gain (cow weight gain, calf weight gain, and cow + calf aggregate weight gain) in relation to mean daily step counts and mean daily lying times. We examined two major breeds: purebred black Angus and a group of Kinsella Composite crossbred cattle. Overall, we generally found a decrease in movement activity, as demonstrated by step counts, with increased cow age. Relative to first calf cows, heifers exhibited higher step counts, but also spent greater time lying down. In contrast, little to no difference in cattle activity was observed in relation to RFI-fat or breed composition. We did, however, find that cow and/or calf weight gain was related to the activity budgets of cattle, but that this varied further depending on

whether this was tested across the purebred Black Angus herd (wide age range), or relatively young KC cattle (young animals only -3 yr old). In the case of the purebred Angus, cows traded off weight gain in relation to cows activity on calves vs themselves. Additionally, the weight gain of calves, rather than cows, largely varied in relation to dam daily step counts, but this varied further with age. While young cows travelling more had smaller calves, the opposite was found for older Angus cows. For the KC cows, all of which were relatively younger animals, no age-based dependence was detected, and instead, animals with higher step counts (both cows and heifers) and less lying time generally had greater weight gain on themselves, with no response among calves associated with these young cows.

## **4.3 Management Implications**

Characterizing cattle activity budgets on pasture is important to understand cattle grazing behavior, and thereby understand how this behavior may translate into energy use and conservation in cattle while grazing. This goal is challenging as activity budgets alone do not account for energy use and partitioning due to other physical activities undertaken by cattle, particularly dams through lactation. Thus, it might be difficult to measure cattle energetics using pedometers alone. Despite this, our work did show several significant relationships between cattle performance (weight gain) and activity metrics, thereby reinforcing the key role that activities (including movement rates) have on beef production. In doing so, it suggests that more work be done to understand cattle activity on pasture, and delve deeper into understanding the drivers of those activity responses, as well as how they may be used by commercial beef producers to improve their productivity and/or utilization of pasture resources.

Another major concern could be technical faults of the devices (pedometers) used. In this study a number of pedometers were lost while on pasture, and could not be found, and therefore represented a loss of data and sample size. Additionally, some pedometers stopped working, or wouldn't connect to the ice hub, preventing the timely downloading of data. As our cattle were brought in only at the end of each grazing season to download data, a significant number of observations were lost, reducing the robustness of the dataset available. On a final note, one major challenge if not the most important, is the ongoing welfare of young heifers fitted with pedometers. The use of pedometers on heifers that are actively growing require frequent checking, removal and refitting of pedometers straps (e.g., every 2-4 weeks), particularly if heifers undergo significant growth spurts on summer pasture (i.e., compensatory gain). If not properly monitored the use of pedometers can become welfare issues for heifers, and necessitate that health checks be performed regularly. However, regular health checks of cattle on pasture may also cause animals to take involuntary step counts, thereby distorting the data, which is not accounted for from the activity data. This was generally more likely to occur with the Black Angus cattle, which tended to be more shy in the presence of people.

# **4.4 Future Research Opportunities**

Many considerations for future research are topics centered around the characterization of activity budgets in extreme cold weather and how this affects the grazing behavior of cattle. While we reported cattle behavior in extreme hot weather, documenting their activity to extreme cold weather could also be important.

Furthermore, advanced research should focus on the development of more advanced biowearable devices, and these devices should not only track activity but other physiological

parameters such as rumination time, time spent grazing, and heart rate. Aside from physiological parameters, it should also be able to measure environmental data such as humidity, temperature, air pressure. This device will make it easier to correlate different behavioral metrics with activities to better understand cattle behavior and ultimately performance on pasture.

While we found a relationship between the contingency of RFI × breed composition effects, amongst heifers of KC composite cattle and not with cows, further studies on why cows may express other priority behavior should be tested to understand how other priority behavior such as mothering ability and supports to offsprings can influence their activity. Also, our study showed that younger black Angus cows with higher step counts leads to lower weight gain on calves while older black Angus with higher step counts lead to most weight gain on calves, further studies should be conducted in order to understand the contributing factors to this change over effect on calves performance among diverse age groups of the black Angus cows.

Similarly, while our study on KC cattle breed showed that increase activity as evidenced in higher step counts results into higher cow and heifer weight gain with no association on the calves, the mechanism behind this should be further studied, as well as understand what influence the weight gain on cows rather than calves.

After fully understanding the activity budget impact on beef cattle production, understanding how different genetic lines or breeds of cattle allocate their activity and their impact on production is also important, our studies have at least partly shown that different breeds may allocate their activity to production differently. Thus, farmers having access to different breeds of cattle may alter the performance of beef cows, with selection potential in the future a possibility to improve production.

### **Bibliography**

- Abeni, F., and Galli, A. (2017). Monitoring cow activity and rumination time for an early detection of heat stress in dairy cow. International Journal of Biometeorology. 61(3): 417–425. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00484-016-1222-z
- Adin, G., Solomon, R., Nikbachat, M., Zenou, A., Yosef, E., Brosh, A., Shabtay, A., Mabjeesh,
  S. J., Halachmi, I., and Miron, J. (2009). Effect of feeding cows in early lactation with
  diets differing in roughage-neutral detergent fiber content on intake behavior, rumination,
  and milk production. Journal of Dairy Science. 92(7): 3364–3373.
  https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2009-2078
- Agricultural Research Council (1980). The Nutrient Requirement of Livestock, Commonwealth Agricultural Bureau, Wantage, UK. 381 pp.
- Aharoni, Y., Henkin, Z., Ezra, A., Dolev, A., Shabtay, A., Orlov, A., Yehuda, Y., and Brosh, A. (2009). Grazing behavior and energy costs of activity: a comparison between two types of cattle. Journal of Animal Science, 87(8): 2719-2731. <u>https://doi.org/10.2527/jas.2008-1505</u>.
- Albright, J. L. (1993). Feeding behavior of dairy cattle. Journal of Dairy Science. 76(2): 485-498.
- Alemu, A. W., Amiro, B. D., Bittman, S., MacDonald, D., and Ominski, K. H. (2017).
  Greenhouse gas emission of Canadian cow-calf operations: A whole-farm assessment of 295 farms. Agricultural Systems. 151:73–83. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agsy.2016.11.013</u>
- Alemu, A.W., Amiro, B.D., Bittman, S., MacDonald, D., and Ominski, K.H. (2016). A typological characterization of Canadian beef cattle farms based on a producer survey.
Canadian Journal of Animal Science. 96(2): 87–202. <u>https://doi.org/10.1139/cjas-2015-</u>0060.

Alexandratos, N., and Bruinsma, J., (2012). Prospect for food and nutrition. Pg 23-41, In: World Agriculture Towards 2030/2050: The 2012 Revision., edited by Alexandratos, N., and Bruinsma, J, Food and Agriculture Organization, Rome, Italy. <u>https://doi.org/10.22004/AG.ECON.288998</u>

Allen, J. D., Hall, L. W., Collier, R. J., and Smith, J. F. (2015). Effect of core body temperature, time of day, and climate conditions on behavioral patterns of lactating dairy cows experiencing mild to moderate heat stress. Journal of Dairy Science, 98(1), 118–127. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2013-7704.

- American Society of Agricultural Engineers. (1997). Livestock environment 5: Proceedings of the fifth International Symposium, Bloomington, Minnesota, May 29-31, 1997. 2 (R. W. Bottcher and S. J. Hoff, Eds.; Vol. 2). ASAE.
- Armstrong, D. V. (1994). Heat Stress Interaction with Shade and Cooling. Journal of Dairy Science. 77(7): 2044–2050. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(94)77149-6
- Arthur, P. F., Archer, J. A., Johnson, D. J., Herd, R. M., Richardson, E. C., and Parnell, P. F.
  (2001a). Genetic and phenotypic variance and covariance components for feed intake,
  feed efficiency and other postweaning traits in Angus cattle. Journal of Animal Science.
  79: 2805-2811.
- Arthur, P. F., Herd, R. M., Wright, J., Xu, G., Dibley, K., Richardson, E. C., and Parnell, P. (1996). Net feed conversion efficiency and its relationship with other traits in beef cattle.
  Proceedings of Australia Society of Animal Production. 21: 107-110.

- Baena MM, Costa AC, Vieira GR, Rocha RFB, Ribeiro ARB, Ibelli AMG, Meirelles SLC
  (2019) Heat tolerance responses in a Bos taurus cattle herd raised in a Brazilian climate.
  Journal of Thermal Biology 81: 162–169. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtherbio.2019.02.017
- Bailey, A., McCartney, D., and Schellenberg M. (2010). Management of Canadian prairie rangeland. Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada, Swift Current Research and Development Centre, Swift Current, SK. pp 76.
- Bailey, D. W., Gross, J. E., Laca, E. A., Rittenhouse, L. R., Coughenour, M. B., Swift, D. M., and Sims, P. L. (1996). Mechanisms that result in large herbivore grazing distribution patterns. Journal of Range Management, 49(5): 386-400. https://doi.org/10.2307/4002919
- Bailey, D. W., Thomas, M. G., Walker, J. W., Witmore, B. K., and Tolleson, D. (2010). Effect of previous experience on grazing patterns and diet selection of Brangus cows in the Chihuahuan Desert. Journal of Rangeland Ecology and Management. 63(2): 223-232.
- Barrett, D., Tilling, O., Button, E., Hart, K., MacGillivray, F., Jansen, J., Fitzgerald, K., and Sherwin, G. (2020). Youngstock health: effective disease prevention today ensuring tomorrow's profitable herd. British Journal of Livestock Science. 25(2): 1-24. https://doi.org/10.12968/live.2020.25.s1.1
- Basarab, J. A., Colazo, M. G., Ambrose, D. J., Novak, S., McCartney, D., and Baron, V. S.
  (2011). Residual feed intake adjusted for backfat thickness and feeding frequency is independent of fertility in beef heifers. Canadian Journal of Animal Science. 91(4): 573–584. https://doi.org/10.4141/cjas2011-010
- Basarab, J. A., Price, M.A., Aalhus, J. L., Okine, E. K., Snelling, V. M., and Lyle, K. L. 2003. Residual feed intake and body composition in young growing cattle. Canadian Journal of Animal Science. 83:189-204.

- Bazeley, K., and Hayton, A. (2013). Practical cattle farming. Crowood Press Ltd. Ramsbury, Marlborough, Wiltshere, United Kingdom. pp 224.
- Beauchemin, K. A. (2018). Invited review: Current perspectives on eating and rumination activity in dairy cows. Journal of Dairy Science. 101(6): 4762–4784. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2017-13706
- Beck, P., Stewart, C., Sims, M., Gadberry, M., and Jennings, J. (2016). Effects of stocking rate, forage management, and grazing management on performance and economics of cow– calf production in southwest arkansas1. Journal of Animal Science. 94(9): 3996-4005. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas.2016-0634
- Berckmans, D.(2014). Precision livestock farming technologies for welfare management in intensive livestock systems. Revue Scientific Technique. 33(1):189-96. doi: 10.20506/rst.33.1.2273. PMID: 25000791.
- Berg, R. T., Makarechian, M., and Arthur, P. F. (2014). The University of Alberta beef breeding project after 30 years–A review. Beef and Range Report, 6.
- Bernabucci, U., Biffani, S., Buggiotti, L., Vitali, A., Lacetera, N., and Nardone, A. (2014). The effects of heat stress in Italian Holstein dairy cattle. Journal of Dairy Science. 97(1): 471– 486. <u>https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2013-6611</u>
- Bernabucci, U., Lacetera, N., Baumgard, L. H., Rhoads, R. P., Ronchi, B., and Nardone, A. (2010). Metabolic and hormonal acclimation to heat stress in domesticated ruminants. Journal of Animal Science. 4(7): 1167–1183.

https://doi.org/10.1017/S175173111000090X

Berry, I.L., Shanklin, M.D., and Johnson, H.D. (1964). Dairy Shelter Design Based on Milk Production Decline as Affected by Temperature and Humidity. Transactions of the American Society of Agricultural and Biological Engineers. 7(3): 0329–0331. https://doi.org/10.13031/2013.40772

- Bettaieb A, Averill-Bates DA (2015) Thermotolerance induced at a mild temperature of 40 °C alleviates heat shock-induced ER stress and apoptosis in HeLa cells. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta. 1853:52–62. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamcr.2014.09.016
- Bianca, W. (1962). Relative Importance of Dry- and Wet-Bulb Temperatures in Causing Heat Stress in Cattle. Nature. 195(4838): 251–252. https://doi.org/10.1038/195251a0
- Bishop-Williams, K. E., Berke, O., Pearl, D. L., Hand, K., and Kelton, D. F. (2015). Heat stress related dairy cow mortality during heat waves and control periods in rural Southern Ontario from 2010–2012. BMC Veterinary Research. 11(1): 291. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12917-015-0607-2
- Bouraoui, R., Lahmar, M., Majdoub, A., Djemali, M., and Belyea, R. (2002). The relationship of temperature-humidity index with milk production of dairy cows in a Mediterranean climate. Animal Research. 51(6): 479–491. https://doi.org/10.1051/animres:2002036
- Bork, E., Willms, W., Tannas, S., and Alexander, M. (2012). Seasonal Patterns of Forage
   Availability in the Fescue Grasslands Under Contrasting Grazing Histories. Rangeland
   Ecology and Management. 65(1): 47–55. https://doi.org/10.2111/REM-D-11-00087.1
- Bouraoui, R., Lahmar, M., Majdoub, A., Djemali, M., and Belyea, R. (2002). The relationship of temperature-humidity index with milk production of dairy cows in a Mediterranean climate. Animal Research. 51(6): 479–491. <u>https://doi.org/10.1051/animres:2002036</u>
- Brethour, J. (1992). The repeatability and accuracy of ultrasound in measuring backfat of cattle. Journal of Animal Science. 70(4) 1039-1044 . https://doi.org/10.2527/1992.7041039X

- Brosh, A., Henkin, Z., Ungar, E., Dolev, A., Orlov, A., Yehuda, Y., and Aharoni, Y. (2006).
  Energy cost of cows' grazing activity: Use of the heart rate method and the Global
  Positioning System for direct field estimation. Journal of Animal Science, 84 (7) 19511967. <u>https://doi.org/10.2527/JAS.2005-315</u>.
- Brosh, A., Aharoni, Y., Degen, A. A., Wright, D., and Young, B. A. (1998). Effects of solar radiation, dietary energy, and time of feeding on thermoregulatory responses and energy balance in cattle in a hot environment. Journal of Animal Science. 76(10): 2671. https://doi.org/10.2527/1998.76102671x
- Brown-Brandl, T.M., and Jones, D.D. (2011). Feedlot Cattle Susceptibility to Heat Stress: An Animal-Specific Model. Transactions of the American Society of Agricultural and Biological Engineers. 54(2): 583–598. https://doi.org/10.13031/2013.36462
- Brown-Brandl, T. M., Eigenberg, R. A., and Nienaber, J. A. (2010). Water spray cooling during handling of feedlot cattle. International Journal of Biometeorology. 54(6): 609–616. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00484-009-0282-8
- Brzozowska, A., Łukaszewicz, M., Sender, G., Kolasińska, D., and Oprządek, J. (2014).
   Locomotor activity of dairy cows in relation to season and lactation. Applied Animal
   Behaviour Science. 156: 6–11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applanim.2014.04.009</u>
- Calvin, K., Dasgupta, D., Krinner, G., Mukherji, A., Thorne, P. W., Trisos, C., Romero, J.,
  Aldunce, P., Barrett, K., Blanco, G., Cheung, W. W. L., Connors, S., Denton, F.,
  Diongue-Niang, A., Dodman, D., Garschagen, M., Geden, O., Hayward, B., Jones, C.,
  and Péan, C. (2023). IPCC, 2023: Climate change 2023: Synthesis report. Contribution of
  working groups I, II and III to the sixth assessment report of the intergovernmental panel
  on climate change [core writing team, Lee, H., and Romero, J. (eds.)]. IPCC, Geneva,

Switzerland. (First). Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC). pp 81 https://doi.org/10.59327/IPCC/AR6-9789291691647

- Campos, I. L., Chud, T. C. S., Oliveira, H. R., Baes, C. F., Cánovas, A., and Schenkel, F. S. (2022). Using publicly available weather station data to investigate the effects of heat stress on milk production traits in Canadian Holstein cattle. Canadian Journal of Animal Science. 102(2): 368–381. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjas-2021-0088
- Cardona, C., Ramírez, J., Morales, A., and Rosales, R. (2013). Energy use in cattle in intensive silvopastoral systems with Leucaena leucocephala and its relationship to animal performance. CES Medicina Veterinaria y Zootecnia. 8: 70-81.
- Cardoso, C.C., Peripolli, V., Amador, S.A., Brandão, E.G., Esteves, G.I.F., Sousa, C.M.Z.,
  França, M.F.M.S., Gonçalves, F.G., Barbosa, F.A., Montalvão, T.C., Martins, C.F.,
  Fonseca-Neto, A.M., and McManus, C. (2015) Physiological and thermographic response
  to heat stress in zebu cattle. Journal of Livestock Science. 182:83–92.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.livsci.2015.10.022
- Cardot, V., Le Roux, Y., and Jurjanz, S. (2008). Drinking Behavior of Lactating Dairy Cows and Prediction of Their Water Intake. Journal of Dairy Science. 91(6): 2257–2264. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2007-0204

Carvajal, M. A., Alaniz, A. J., Gutiérrez-Gómez, C., Vergara, P. M., Sejian, V., and Bozinovic, F. (2021). Increasing importance of heat stress for cattle farming under future global climate scenarios. Science of The Total Environment. 801: 149661. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.149661

CCA, 2019. Canada's beef industry: Fast facts. Canadian Cattlemen's Association. https:// canadabeef.ca/canadian-beef-industry-fast-facts/ (accessed 13.07.2020).

- Charlton, G., Gauld, C., Veronesi, F., Rutter, S., and Bleach, E. (2022). Assessing the accuracy of leg mounted sensors for recording dairy cow behavioural activity at pasture, in cubicle housing and a straw yard. Animals. 12(5):638 <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ani12050638</u>.
- Collier, R. J., and Gebremedhin, K. G. (2015). Thermal Biology of Domestic Animals. Annual Review of Animal Biosciences. 3(1): 513–532. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-animal-022114-110659
- Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organization (CSIRO). 1990. Feeding systems for Australian livestock: Ruminants. CSIRO Publications, Melbourne, Australia. pp 265
- Cook, N. B., Mentink, R. L., Bennett, T. B., and Burgi, K. (2007). The Effect of Heat Stress and Lameness on Time Budgets of Lactating Dairy Cows. Journal of Dairy Science, 90(4): 1674–1682. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2006-634
- Crump, A., Jenkins, K., Bethell, E. J., Ferris, C. P., and Arnott, G. (2019). Pasture access affects behavioral indicators of wellbeing in dairy cows. Animals. 9(11): 902.
- De Passille, A. M., Jensen, M. B., Chapinal, N., and Rushen, J. (2010). Use of accelerometers to describe gait patterns in dairy calves. Journal of Dairy Science. 93(7): 3287-3293.
- De Rensis, F., Garcia-Ispierto, I., and López-Gatius, F. (2015). Seasonal heat stress: Clinical implications and hormone treatments for the fertility of dairy cows. Theriogenology, 84(5): 659–666. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.theriogenology.2015.04.021
- Deniz, M., de Sousa, K. T., do Vale, M. M., and Dittrich, J. R. (2021). Age and body mass are more important than horns to determine the social position of dairy cows. Journal of Ethology. 39: 19-27.

- Di Marco, O. N., and Aello, M. S. (1998). Energy cost of cattle walking on the level and on a gradient. Journal of Range Management. 51(1): 9-13. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/4003556</u>
- Dikmen, S., Alava, E., Pontes, E., Fear, J. M., Dikmen, B. Y., Olson, T. A., and Hansen, P. J. (2008). Differences in thermoregulatory ability between slick-haired and wild-type lactating Holstein cows in response to acute heat stress. Journal of Dairy Science, 91(9): 3395–3402. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2008-1072
- Dikmen, S., and Hansen, P. J. (2009). Is the temperature-humidity index the best indicator of heat stress in lactating dairy cows in a subtropical environment? Journal of Dairy Science, 92(1), 109–116. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2008-1370
- Dohme-Meier, F., Kaufmann, F.D., Görs, S., Junghans, P., Metges, C.C., Van Dorland, H.A.,
  Bruckmaier, R.M., and Münger, A. (2014). Comparison of energy expenditure, eating
  pattern and physical activity of grazing and zero-grazing dairy cows at different time
  points during lactation. Journal of Livestock Science. 162: 86 96.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.livsci.2014.01.006.
- Dunks, A. and Guye, M. (2022). Review on dairy cattle reproductive performance under different production system in Ethiopia. American Journal of Food Science and Technology. 1(1): 1-9. <u>https://doi.org/10.54536/ajfst.v1i1.407</u>
- Dzowela, B. H., Kumwenda, M. S. L., Msiska, H. D. C., Hodges, E. M., and Gray, R. C. (1990). Seasonal trends in forage dry matter production of some improved pastures and animal performance in relation to chemical composition in Malawi. Animal Feed Science and Technology. 28(34): 255-266.
- Eisler, M. C., Lee, M. R. F., Tarlton, J. F., Martin, G. B., Beddington, J., Dungait, J. A. J., Greathead, H., Liu, J., Mathew, S., Miller, H., Misselbrook, T., Murray, P., Vinod, V. K.,

Van Saun, R., and Winter, M. (2014). Agriculture: Steps to sustainable livestock. Nature: 507(7490): 32–34. https://doi.org/10.1038/507032a

- Elmore, M., and Mullenix, K. (2022). 137 Application of Performance Metrics to Evaluate Cow Performance: A Collaboration of the Alabama Beef Cattle Improvement Association and the Alabama Cooperative Extension System. Journal of Animal Science. 100(1) pp 5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jas/skac028.008</u>
- Ehrlemark, A.G., and Sallvik, K.G. (1996). A model of heat and moisture dissipation from cattle based on thermal properties. Transaction of American Society of Agricultural and Biological Engineers. 39:87–194
- Emerton, R., Brimicombe, C., Magnusson, L., Roberts, C., Di Napoli, C., Cloke, H. L., and Pappenberger, F. (2022). Predicting the unprecedented: Forecasting the June 2021 Pacific Northwest heatwave. Weather. 77(8): 272–279. https://doi.org/10.1002/wea.4257
- Fancy, S. G., and White, R. G. (2018). Incremental cost of activity, chapter 7 pg: (143-160)In Bioenergetics of wild herbivores. CRC Press, Boca Raton, Florida, United States.
- FAOSTAT, 2020. Food and agriculture data. Retrieved on 15 October 2020 from <a href="http://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#home">http://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#home</a>.
- Fernández-Peña, C., Reimúndez, A., Viana, F., Arce, V. M., and Señarís, R. (2023). Sex differences in thermoregulation in mammals: Implications for energy homeostasis. Frontiers in Endocrinology. 14: 1093376. https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2023.1093376
- Ferrell, C. L., and Jenkins, T. G. (1985). Cow Type and the Nutritional Environment: Nutritional Aspects. Journal of Animal Science. 61(3): 725–741. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas1985.613725x

- Field, L., Hemsworth, L., Jongman, E., Patrick, C., and Verdon, M. (2023). Contact with mature cows and access to pasture during early life shape dairy heifer behaviour at integration into the milking herd. Animals. 13: 20-49. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ani13132049</u>.
- Fordyce, G., Shephard, R., Moravek, T., and McGowan, M. (2021). Australian cattle herd: a new perspective on structure, performance and production. Animal Production Science. 63(4): 410-421. https://doi.org/10.1071/an20342
- Freetly, H., Kuehn, L., Thallman, R., and Snelling, W. (2020). Heritability and genetic correlations of feed intake, body weight gain, residual gain, and residual feed intake of beef cattle as heifers and cows. Journal of Animal Science. Volume 98(1): 1-6 https://doi.org/10.1093/jas/skz394.
- Gantner, V., Bobić, T., Potočnik, K., Gregić, M., and Kučević, D. (2019). Persistence of heat stress effect in dairy cows. Mljekarstvo. 69(1): 30–41. https://doi.org/10.15567/mljekarstvo.2019.0103
- Gantner, V., Mijic, P., Kuterovac, K., Barac, Z., and Potocnik, K. (2015). Heat stress and milk production in the first parity Holsteins – threshold determination in eastern Croatia. Poljoprivreda/Agriculture. 21(1 Supplement): 97–100. https://doi.org/10.18047/poljo.21.1.sup.22
- Gauly, M., Bollwein, H., Breves, G., Brügemann, K., Dänicke, S., Daş, G. and Wrenzycki, C.
  (2013). Future consequences and challenges for dairy cow production systems arising from climate change in Central Europe–a review. Journal of Animal Science. 7(5): 843-859.

- Gelsinger, S., Heinrichs, A., and Jones, C. (2016). A meta-analysis of the effects of preweaned calf nutrition and growth on first-lactation performance. Journal of Dairy Science. 99(8): 6206-6214. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2015-10744.
- Ghodasara, S., Murthy, K., Gajbhiye, P., and Savsani, H. (2015). Effects of suckling versus weaning on performance of primiparous (Bos indicus) cows and on growth rate of their calves. The Indian Journal of Veterinary Sciences and Biotechnology. 11: 44-48.
- Godyń D, Herbut P, Angrecka S (2019) Measurements of peripheral and deep body temperature in cattle – a review. Journal of Thermal Biology. 79:42–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtherbio.2018.11.011
- González Pereyra, A. V., Maldonado May, V., Catracchia, C. G., Herrero, M. A., Flores, M. C., and Mazzini, M. (2010). Influence of Water Temperature and Heat Stress on Drinking Water Intake in Dairy Cows. Chilean Journal of Agricultural Research. 70(2): 328–336. https://doi.org/10.4067/S0718-58392010000200017
- Goonewardene, L. A., Wang, Z., Price, M. A., Yang, R.-C., Berg, R. T., and Makarechian, M. (2003). Effect of udder type and calving assistance on weaning traits of beef and dairy×beef calves. Livestock Production Science. 81(1): 47–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0301-6226(02)00194-X
- Gorniak, T., Meyer, U., Südekum, K.-H., and Dänicke, S. (2014). Impact of mild heat stress on dry matter intake, milk yield and milk composition in mid-lactation Holstein dairy cows in a temperate climate. Archives of Animal Nutrition. 68(5): 358–369. https://doi.org/10.1080/1745039X.2014.950451

- Grandl, F., Luzi, S. P., Furger, M., Zeitz, J. O., Leiber, F., Ortmann, S., and Schwarm, A. (2016).
  Biological implications of longevity in dairy cows: changes in feed intake, feeding behavior, and digestion with age. Journal of Dairy Science. 99(5): 3457-3471.
- Grant, K., Kreyling, J., Dienstbach, L. F., Beierkuhnlein, C., and Jentsch, A. (2014). Water stress due to increased intra-annual precipitation variability reduced forage yield but raised forage quality of a temperate grassland. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment. 186: 11-22.
- Grant, R. J., and Miner, W. H. (2007). Taking Advantage of Natural Behavior Improves Dairy Cow Performance. https://api.semanticscholar.org/CorpusID:195810617
- Grant, R. J., and Albright, J. L. (1995). Feeding behavior and management factors during the transition period in dairy cattle. Journal of Animal Science. 73(9): 2791-2803.
- Gregorini, P., Waghorn, G. C., Kuhn-Sherlock, B., Romera, A. J., and Macdonald, K. A. (2015). Grazing pattern of dairy cows that were selected for divergent residual feed intake as calves. Journal of Dairy Science. 98(9): 6486-6491.
- Hafla, A. N., Carstens, G. E., Forbes, T. D. A., Tedeschi, L. O., Bailey, J. C., Walter, J. T., and Johnson, J. R. (2013). Relationships between postweaning residual feed intake in heifers and forage use, body composition, feeding behavior, physical activity, and heart rate of pregnant beef females. Journal of Animal Science. 91(11): 5353-5365.
- Hahn, G. L., Mader, T. L., and Eigenberg, R. A. (2003). Perspective on development of thermal indices for animal studies and management. Lacetera, N., Bernabucci, U., Khalifa, H.H., Ronchi, N., and Nardone, A. (Eds.), Interaction between climate and animal production (pp. 31–44). Brill, Wageningen Academic, Wageningen, Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.3920/9789086865178\_004

- Hammami, H., Bormann, J., M'hamdi, N., Montaldo, H. H., and Gengler, N. (2013). Evaluation of heat stress effects on production traits and somatic cell score of Holsteins in a temperate environment. Journal of Dairy Science. 96(3): 1844–1855.
  https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2012-5947
- Hart, R. H., Bissio, J., Samuel, M. J., and Waggoner, J. W. (1993). Grazing systems, pasture size, and cattle grazing behavior, distribution and gains. Journal of Range Management. 46(1): 81-87.
- Hatfield, J. L., Boote, K. J., Kimball, B. A., Ziska, L. H., Izaurralde, R. C., Ort, D., Thomson, A. M., and Wolfe, D. (2011). Climate Impacts on Agriculture: Implications for Crop Production. Agronomy Journal. 103(2): 351–370.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.2134/agronj2010.0303">https://doi.org/10.2134/agronj2010.0303</a>
- Heinicke, J., Hoffmann, G., Ammon, C., Amon, B., and Amon, T. (2018). Effects of the daily heat load duration exceeding determined heat load thresholds on activity traits of lactating dairy cows. Journal of Thermal Biology. 77: 67–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtherbio.2018.08.012
- Heitschmidt, R. K., and Stuth, J. W. (1991). Grazing management: An ecological perspective. Timber Press, University of Michigan, pp 259.
- Herbut, P., and Angrecka, S. (2018). Relationship between THI level and dairy cows' behaviour during summer period. Italian Journal of Animal Science. 17(1): 226–233. https://doi.org/10.1080/1828051X.2017.1333892
- Herd, D. B., and Sprott, L. R. (1986). Body condition, nutrition and reproduction of beef cows. Texas Agricultural Extension Service, College Station, Texas. pp 12.

- Herd, R. M. and Arthur, P. F. (2009). Physiological basis for residual feed intake. Journal of Animal Science. 87: 64- 71.
- Herd, R. M., Arthur, P. F., Hegarty, R. S. and Archer, J. A. (2004). Potential to reduce greenhouse gas emissions from beef production by selection for reduce residual feed intake. Proceedings of the 7th world congress on genetics applied to livestock production, Montpellier, France. Communique Number. 10-22.
- Herd, R., and Arthur, P. (2009). Physiological basis for residual feed intake. Journal of Animal Science. 87(14): E64-E71. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas.2008-1345.
- Hill, J. O., Wyatt, H. R., and Peters, J. C. (2012). Energy balance and obesity. Circulation. 126(1): 126-132.
- Holmes, P. (1993). Interactions between parasites and animal nutrition: the veterinary consequences. Proceedings of the Nutrition Society. 52: 113 - 120. https://doi.org/10.1079/PNS19930043.
- Igono, M. O., Bjotvedt, G., and Sanford-Crane, H. T. (1992). Environmental profile and critical temperature effects on milk production of Holstein cows in desert climate. International Journal of Biometeorology. 36(2): 77–87. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01208917
- Jochims, F., Soares, É., Oliveira, L., Kuinchtner, B., Casanova, P., Marin, L., and Quadros, F. (2020). Timing and Duration of Observation Periods of Foraging Behavior in Natural Grasslands. Frontiers in Veterinary Science. 7(01):519698.
  https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2020.519698
- Johanssen, J. R. E., Kvam, G. T., Logstein, B., and Vaarst, M. (2023). Interrelationships between cows, calves, and humans in cow-calf contact systems: An interview study among Norwegian dairy farmers. Journal of Dairy Science. 106(9): 6325-6341.

- Jorns, T. R., Derner, J. D., Augustine, D. J., Briske, D. D., Porensky, L. M., Scasta, J. D., Beck, J. L., and Lake, S. (2022). Movement Dynamics and Energy Expenditure of Yearling Steers Under Contrasting Grazing Management in Shortgrass Steppe. Rangeland Ecology and Management. 85: 38–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rama.2022.09.001
- José R. Bicudo and Richard S. Gates. (2002). Water Consumption, Air and Water Temperature Issues Related to Portable Water Systems for Grazing Cattle. 2002 Chicago, IL July 28-31, 2002. 2002 Chicago, IL July 28-31, 2002. pp 1-11. https://doi.org/10.13031/2013.12628
- Jožef, I., Gregić, M., Bobić, T., Važić, B., and Gantner, V. (2018). Determination of the Effect of Daily Production Level of Primiparous Holstein Cows on Response to Heat Stress Conditions (THI Threshold) in Eastern Croatia. AΓPO3HAHE, 19(2): 89-90. https://doi.org/10.7251/AGREN1802089J
- Kadzere, C. T., Murphy, M. R., Silanikove, N., and Maltz, E. (2002). Heat stress in lactating dairy cows: A review. Livestock Production Science. 77(1): 59–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0301-6226(01)00330-X
- Kang, K., Zeng, L., Ma, J., Shi, L., Hu, R., Zou, H., Peng, Q., Wang, L., Xue, B., and Wang, Z.
  (2022). High energy diet of beef cows during gestation promoted growth performance of calves by improving placental nutrients transport. Frontiers in Veterinary Science. 9:1 –

13. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2022.1053730</u>.

Kaufmann, J., Bork, E., Alexander, M., and Blenis, P. (2013). Habitat selection by cattle in Foothill landscapes following variable harvest of aspen forest. Forest Ecology and Management. 306:15–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2013.06.004

- Kie, J. G., and Boroski, B. B. (1996). Cattle Distribution, Habitats, and Diets in the Sierra Nevada of California. Journal of Range Management. 49(6): 482-488. https://doi.org/10.2307/4002286
- Kilgour RJ (2012). In pursuit of 'normal': A review of the behaviour of cattle at pasture. Applied Animal Behaviour Science. 138: 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applanim.2011.12.002.
- Koch, R. M., Swiger, L. A., Chambers, D. and Gregory, K. E. (1963). Efficiency of Feed Use in Beef Cattle. Journal of Animal Science. 22(2) 486-494.
- Kramer, P. A., and Sylvester, A. D. (2011). The energetic cost of walking: a comparison of predictive methods. PLoS One. 6(6): e21290.
- Kulshreshtha, S., and Kort, J. (2009). External economic benefits and social goods from prairie shelterbelts. Agroforestry System. 75(1): 39–47. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10457-008-9126-5
- Lachica, M., and Aguilera, J. F. (2005). Energy expenditure of walk in grassland for small ruminants. Small Ruminant Research. 59(2-3): 105-121.
- Lamb, G. C., Mercadante, V. R. G., Henry, D. D., Fontes, P. L. P., Dahlen, C. R., Larson, J. E., and DiLorenzo, N. (2016). Invited review: advantages of current and future reproductive technologies for beef cattle production. The Professional Animal Scientist. 32(2): 162-171.
- Lamy, E., van Harten, S., Sales-Baptista, E., Guerra, M. M. M., and de Almeida, A. M. (2012). Factors influencing livestock productivity, Chapter 2 pg: 19-51, in Environmental stress and amelioration in livestock production. Springer Heidelberg, New York Dordrecht, London.

- Laske, C., Teixeira, B., Dionello, N., and Cardoso, F. (2012). Breeding objectives and economic values for traits of low input family-based beef cattle production system in the State of Rio Grande do Sul. Revista Brasileira De Zootecnia. 41: 298-305. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1516-35982012000200010.
- Lees, A. M., Sejian, V., Wallage, A. L., Steel, C. C., Mader, T. L., Lees, J. C., and Gaughan, J.
  B. (2019). The impact of heat load on cattle. An Open Access Journal from MDPI. 9(6):
  322. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ani9060322</u>.
- Legesse, G., Beauchemin, K., Ominski, K., McGeough, E., Kroebel, R., Macdonald, D. and McAllister, T. (2016). Greenhouse gas emissions of Canadian beef production in 1981 as compared with 2011. Animal Production Science, 56(3):153-168.

https://doi.org/10.1071/an15386

Linvill, D. E., and Pardue, F. E. (1992). Heat Stress and Milk Production in the South Carolina Coastal Plains1. Journal of Dairy Science. 75(9): 2598–2604.

https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(92)78022-9

- Lopes, F., Coblentz, W., Hoffman, P. C., and Combs, D. K. (2013). Assessment of heifer grazing experience on short-term adaptation to pasture and performance as lactating cows. Journal of Dairy Science. 96(5): 3138-3152.
- Lopes, P., Adelman, J., Wingfield, J., and Bentley, G. (2012). Social context modulates sickness behavior. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology. 66: 1421-1428. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00265-012-1397-1.
- Macoon, B., Sollenberger, L. E., Moore, J. E., Staples, C. R., Fike, J. H., and Portier, K. M. (2003). Comparison of three techniques for estimating the forage intake of lactating dairy cows on pasture. Journal of Animal Science. 81(9): 2357-2366.

- Mandok, K., Kay, J., Greenwood, S., Greenwood, S., McNamara, J., Crookenden, M., White, R., Shields, S., Edwards, G., and Roche, J. (2014). Efficiency of use of metabolizable energy for body weight gain in pasture-based, nonlactating dairy cows. Journal of Dairy Science. 97(7): 4639-4648. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2013-6912.
- Martín, N., Schreurs, N., Morris, S., López-Villalobos, N., McDade, J., and Hickson, R. (2021). Sire Effects on Carcass of Beef-Cross-Dairy Cattle: A Case Study in New Zealand. Animals. 11(3): 636. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ani11030636</u>.
- Matthews, L. R., Cameron, C., Sheahan, A. J., Kolver, E. S., and Roche, J. R. (2012).
  Associations among dairy cow body condition and welfare-associated behavioral traits.
  Journal of Dairy Science. 95(5): 2595–2601. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2011-4889
- Maurya, V. P., Sejian, V., Kumar, K., Singh, G., and Naqvi, S. M. K. (2012). Walking stress influence on livestock production, Chapter 4, pp: 75-95, in Environmental stress and amelioration in livestock production. Springer-Verlag, Edited by, Sejian, V., Naqvi, S.M.K., Ezeji, T., Lakritz, J., and Lal, R, Heidelberg, Berlin.
- McKinnon, K. A., and Simpson, I. R. (2022). How unexpected was the 2021 pacific northwest heatwave? Geophysical Research Letters. 49(18): e2022GL100380. https://doi.org/10.1029/2022GL100380
- Melo, C. D., Maduro Dias, C. S., Wallon, S., Borba, A. E., Madruga, J., Borges, P. A. and Elias,
  R. B. (2022). Climate variability and soil fertility influence forage quality and
  productivity in Azorean pastures. Agriculture. 12(3): 358.
- Meyer, A. M. Kerley, M. S. and Kallenbach, R. L. 2008. The effect of residual feed intake classification on forage intake by grazing beef cows. Journal of Animal Science. 86(10): 2670-2679.

- Meyer, U., Everinghoff, M., G\u00e4deken, D., and Flachowsky, G. (2004). Investigations on the water intake of lactating dairy cows. Livestock Production Science. 90(2–3): 117–121. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.livprodsci.2004.03.005
- Moore, C. (2018). Activity budgets of rangeland cattle with divergent molecular breeding value. Chapter 2, pp 18-43, in Rangeland habitat use and activity of cattle with divergent molecular breeding values for residual feed intake, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Canada.
- Morignat, E., Perrin, J. B., Gay, E., Vinard, J. L., Calavas, D., and Henaux, V. (2014). Assessment of the impact of the 2003 and 2006 heat waves on cattle mortality in France. PLoS One. 9(3): e93176.
- Morrison, S. R. (1983). Ruminant Heat Stress: Effect on production and means of alleviation. Journal of Animal Science. 57(6): 1594–1600. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas1983.5761594x
- Mróz, P., Wójcik, P., Department of Animal Genetics and Breeding, National Research Institute of Animal Production, Balice, Poland, Pankowski, M., and Alta Polska Ltd., Łowicz, Poland. (2017). Daily activity of polish holstein-friesian cows depending on variable housing conditions during lactation. Folia Pomeranae Universitatis Technologiae Stetinensis Agricultura, Alimentaria, Piscaria et Zootechnica. 338(44): 119–130. https://doi.org/10.21005/AAPZ2017.44.4.13

Munksgaard, L., Jensen, M. B., Pedersen, L. J., Hansen, S. W., and Matthews, L. (2005).
Quantifying behavioural priorities—Effects of time constraints on behaviour of dairy cows, Bos taurus. Applied Animal Behaviour Science. 92(1): 3–14.
<a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applanim.2004.11.005">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applanim.2004.11.005</a>

- Murphy, M. R. (1992). Water Metabolism of Dairy Cattle. Journal of Dairy Science. 75(1): 326– 333. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(92)77768-6
- Murphy, M. R., Davis, C. L., and McCoy, G. C. (1983). Factors Affecting Water Consumption by Holstein Cows in Early Lactation. Journal of Dairy Science. 66(1): 35–38. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(83)81750-0
- Mwangi, F. W., Charmley, E., Gardiner, C. P., Malau-Aduli, B. S., Kinobe, R. T., and Malau-Aduli, A. E. (2019). Diet and genetics influence beef cattle performance and meat quality characteristics. Foods. 8(12): 648.
- Mysterud, A. (2006). The concept of overgrazing and its role in the management of large herbivores. Wildlife Biology. 12(2): 129-141.
- Natural regions and subregions of Alberta: Natural Regions Committee. (2006). Government of Alberta.
- National Research Council (NRC). Nutritional Requirements of Beef Cattle. Update (2000), Seventh Revised Edition. National Academy Press, Washington D.C, USA. pp 581. <u>PubMed Abstract</u>
- Neisen, G., Wechsler, B., and Gygax, L. (2009). Effects of the introduction of single heifers or pairs of heifers into dairy-cow herds on the temporal and spatial associations of heifers and cows. Applied Animal Behaviour Science. 119: 127-136.

https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APPLANIM.2009.04.006.

Nelson, C. J., and Moser, L. E. (1994). Plant factors affecting forage quality. chapter 2, pg 115-154, in Forage quality, evaluation, and utilization, editted by George., C and Fahey J.R. America Society of Agronomy, Wisconsin, USA.

- Newberry, R. C., and Swanson, J. C. (2008). Implications of breaking mother–young social bonds. Applied Animal Behaviour Science. 110(1-2): 3-23.
- Nicholson, M. (1987). Effects of night enclosure and extensive walking on the productivity of zebu cattle. The Journal of Agricultural Science. 109:445 - 452. https://doi.org/10.1017/S002185960008165X.
- Nkrumah, D. J., Okine, E. K., Mathison, G. W., Schnid, K., Li, C., Basarab, J. A., Price, M. A., Wang, Z. and Moore, S. S. 2006. Relationships of feedlot feed efficiency, performance, and feeding behaviour with metabolic rate, methane production, and energy partitioning in beef cattle. Journal of Animal Science. 84: 145-153
- Nordlund, K. V., Strassburg, P., Bennett, T. B., Oetzel, G. R., and Cook, N. B. (2019).
  Thermodynamics of standing and lying behavior in lactating dairy cows in freestall and parlor holding pens during conditions of heat stress. Journal of Dairy Science. 102(7): 6495–6507. <u>https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2018-15891</u>
- Oates, L. G., Undersander, D. J., Gratton, C., Bell, M. M., and Jackson, R. D. (2011).
   Management-intensive rotational grazing enhances forage production and quality of subhumid cool-season pastures. Crop Science. 51(2): 892-901.
- Ominski, K. H., Kennedy, A. D., Wittenberg, K. M., and Moshtaghi Nia, S. A. (2002).
  Physiological and Production Responses to Feeding Schedule in Lactating Dairy Cows
  Exposed to Short-Term, Moderate Heat Stress. Journal of Dairy Science. 85(4): 730–737.
  https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(02)74130-1
- Omontese, B., Zakari, F., and Webb, M. (2022). Rumination and Activity Patterns in Angus and Angus-Cross Beef Calves: Influences of Sex, Breed, and Backgrounding Diet. Animals. 12(14): 1835. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani12141835

- Ouellet, V., Grenier, P., Santschi, D. E., Cabrera, V. E., Fadul-Pacheco, L., and Charbonneau, É. (2021). Projected economic losses from milk performance detriments under heat stress in Quebec dairy herds. Canadian Journal of Animal Science. 101(2): 242–256. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjas-2020-0069
- Owen-Smith, N. (2008). Effects of temporal variability in resources on foraging behaviour.
   Chapter 8, pp 159-181, in Resource ecology: Spatial and temporal dynamics of foraging.
   Springer, Edited by, Herbert, H.T., and Frank, V.L, Dordrecht, Netherlands.
- Parsons, C., Dafoe, J., Wyffels, S., Emon, M., DelCurto, T., and Boss, D. (2020). 282 The Influence of RFI classification and cow age on body weight and body condition change, supplement intake and grazing behavior of beef cattle winter grazing mixed-grass rangelands. Journal of Animal Science. 98: 208-208.

https://doi.org/10.1093/jas/skaa278.383.

Pauler, C., Isselstein, J., Berard, J., Braunbeck, T., and Schneider, M. (2020). Grazing Allometry:
 Anatomy, Movement, and Foraging Behavior of Three Cattle Breeds of Different
 Productivity. Frontiers in Veterinary Science. 7:494

https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2020.00494.

Peiper, U., Edan, Y., Devir, S., Barak, M., and Maltz, E. (1993). Automatic Weighing of Dairy Cows. Journal of Agricultural Engineering Research. 56: 13-24. https://doi.org/10.1006/JAER.1993.1057.

Peischel, A., Schalles, R., Owensby, C., and Smith, E. (1980). Intake of milk and range forage by nursing calves. Kansas Agricultural Experiment Station Research Reports. pp 24-25. <u>https://doi.org/10.4148/2378-5977.2607</u>.

- Piccione, G., Giannetto, C., Giudice, E., and Refinetti, R. (2020). Persistent homeothermy in large domestic mammals maintained under standard farming conditions. Journal of Basic and Clinical Physiology and Pharmacology. 31(2): 20180121. https://doi.org/10.1515/jbcpp-2018-0121
- Pogue, S.J., Kröbel, R., Janzen, H.H., Beauchemin, K.A., Legesse, G., de Souza, D.M., Iravani, M., Selin, C., Byrne, J., McAllister, T.A., 2018. Beef production and ecosystem services in Canada's prairie provinces: A review. Agricultural System. 166: 152–172. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agsy.2018.06.011.
- Polsky, L., and Von Keyserlingk, M. A. G. (2017). Invited review: Effects of heat stress on dairy cattle welfare. Journal of Dairy Science. 100(11): 8645–8657. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2017-12651
- Qian, B., Smith, W., Jing, Q., Kim, Y. M., Jégo, G., Grant, B., Duguid, S., Hester, K., and Nelson, A. (2023). Climate conditions in the near-term, mid-term and distant future for growing soybeans in Canada. Canadian Journal of Plant Science. 103(2): 161–174. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjps-2022-0233
- R Core Team. (2023). R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing. https://www.R-project.org/
- Reiczigel, J., Solymosi, N., Könyves, L., Maróti-Agóts, Á., Kern, A., and Bartyik, J. (2009).
  Examination of heat stress caused milk production loss by the use of temperature-Humidity indices. Magyar Allatorvosok Lapja. 131: 127–144.
- Renquist, B., Oltjen, J., Sainz, R., and Calvert, C. (2006). Effects of age on body condition and production parameters of multiparous beef cows. Journal of Animal Science. 84 7: 1890-1895. <u>https://doi.org/10.2527/JAS.2005-733</u>.

- Richardson, E. C. Herd, R. M., Oddy, V. H., Thompson, J. M., Archer, J. A. and Arthur, P. F. 2001. Body composition and implications for heat production of Angus steer progeny of parents selected for and against residual feed intake. Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture. 41: 1065-1075.
- Richardson, F. (1979). Analysis of some factors which affect the productivity of beef cows and of their calves in a marginal rainfall area of Rhodesia. 4. The growth and efficiency of live-weight gain of weaned and sucking calves at different ages. Journal of Animal Production. 28: 213-222. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0003356100042513.
- Riley, D., Burke, J., Chase, C., and Coleman, S. (2016). Heterosis and direct effects for
  Charolais-sired calf weight and growth, cow weight and weight change, and ratios of cow
  and calf weights and weight changes across warm season lactation in Romosinuano,
  Angus, and F cows in Arkansas. Journal of Animal Science. 94(1): 1-12.

https://doi.org/10.2527/jas.2015-9484.

- Romanello N, Junior JBL, Junior WB, Brandão FZ, Marcondes CR, Pezzopane JRM, Pantoja MHA, Botta D, Giro A, Moura ABB, Barreto AN, Garcia AR (2018) Thermoregulatory responses and reproductive traits in composite beef bulls raised in a tropical climate.
  International Journal of Biometerology. 62:1575–1586. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00484-018-1557-8
- Romanzini, E., Bernardes, P.A., Munari, D.P., Reis, R.A., and Malherios, E.B. (2018). A review of three important points that can improve the beef cattle productivity in Brazil. Animal Husbandry, Dairy and Veterinary Science. 2(3): 1-4. https://doi.org/10.15761/ahdvs.1000140

- Russell, M. L., Bailey, D. W., Thomas, M. G., and Witmore, B. K. (2012). Grazing distribution and diet quality of Angus, Brangus, and Brahman cows in the Chihuahuan Desert. Rangeland Ecology and Management. 65(4): 371-381.
- Sackett D, H. P. (2006). Assessing the economic cost of endemic disease on the profitability of Australian beef cattle and sheep producers. Final Report of Project AHW.087. Meat and Livestock Australia, Sydney. https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.2.30417.48487
- Sahu, B. K., Parganiha, A., and Pati, A. K. (2020). Behavior and foraging ecology of cattle: A review. Journal of Veterinary Behavior. 40: 50-74.
- Sales-Baptista, E., d'Abreu, M. C., and Ferraz-de-Oliveira, M. I. (2016). Overgrazing in the Montado? The need for monitoring grazing pressure at paddock scale. Agroforestry Systems. 90: 57-68.
- Schindler, D. W., and Donahue, W. F. (2006). An impending water crisis in Canada's western prairie provinces. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 103(19): 7210-7216.
- Schirmann, K., Chapinal, N., Weary, D. M., Heuwieser, W., and Von Keyserlingk, M. A. G. (2012). Rumination and its relationship to feeding and lying behavior in Holstein dairy cows. Journal of Dairy Science. 95(6): 3212–3217. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2011-4741
- Schlecht, E., Hiernaux, P., Kadaouré, I., Hülsebusch, C., and Mahler, F. (2006). A spatiotemporal analysis of forage availability and grazing and excretion behaviour of herded and free grazing cattle, sheep and goats in Western Niger. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment. 113(14): 226-242.
- Schröder, U., and Staufenbiel, R. (2006). Invited review: Methods to determine body fat reserves in the dairy cow with special regard to ultrasonographic measurement of backfat

155

thickness. Journal of Dairy science. 89(1):1-14. <u>https://doi.org/10.3168/JDS.S0022-</u>0302(06)72064-1.

- Schuermann, Y., Welsford, G., Nitschmann, E., Wykes, L., and Duggavathi, R. (2019). Association between pre-breeding metabolic profiles and reproductive performance in heifers and lactating dairy cows. Theriogenology. 131: 79-88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.theriogenology.2019.03.018.
- Schütz, K. E., Rogers, A. R., Cox, N. R., Webster, J. R., and Tucker, C. B. (2011). Dairy cattle prefer shade over sprinklers: Effects on behavior and physiology. Journal of Dairy Science. 94(1): 273–283. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2010-3608
- Schütz, K. E., Rogers, A. R., Poulouin, Y. A., Cox, N. R., and Tucker, C. B. (2010). The amount of shade influences the behavior and physiology of dairy cattle. Journal of Dairy Science. 93(1): 125–133. <u>https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2009-2416</u>
- Schütz, K., Davison, D., and Matthews, L. (2006). Do different levels of moderate feed deprivation in dairy cows affect feeding motivation. Applied Animal Behaviour Science. 101: 253-263. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APPLANIM.2006.02.008</u>.
- Segnalini, M., Bernabucci, U., Vitali, A., Nardone, A., and Lacetera, N. (2013). Temperature humidity index scenarios in the Mediterranean basin. International Journal of Biometeorology. 57(3): 451–458. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00484-012-0571-5
- Semchechem, R., Pértile, S., Simonelli, S., Canozzi, M., Filho, L., Zamboti, M., Zundt, M., Santos, M., Neto, A., and Rego, F. (2021). Relationship among productive and economic variables of beef cattle in Brazil. Ciencia Rural. 51(4): e20190841. <u>https://doi.org/10.1590/0103-8478CR20190841</u>.

- Senft, R. L., Coughenour, M. B., Bailey, D. W., Rittenhouse, L. R., Sala, O. E., and Swift, D. M. (1987). Large Herbivore Foraging and Ecological Hierarchies. BioScience. 37(11): 789– 799. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/1310545</u>
- Sessim, A. G., De Oliveira, T. E., López-González, F. A., De Freitas, D. S., and Barcellos, J. O. J. (2020). Efficiency in cow-calf systems with different ages of cow culling. Frontiers in Veterinary Science. 7: 476.
- Sheppard, S. C., Bittman, S., Donohoe, G., Flaten, D., Wittenberg, K. M., Small, J. A.,
  Berthiaume, R., McAllister, T. A., Beauchemin, K. A., McKinnon, J., Amiro, B. D.,
  MacDonald, D., Mattos, F., and Ominski, K. H. (2015). Beef cattle husbandry practices
  across Ecoregions of Canada in 2011. Canadian Journal of Animal Science. 95(2): 305–321. https://doi.org/10.4141/cjas-2014-158
- Solymosi, N., Torma, C., Kern, A., Maróti-Agóts, Á., Barcza, Z., Könyves, L., Berke, O., and Reiczigel, J. (2010). Changing climate in Hungary and trends in the annual number of heat stress days. International Journal of Biometeorology. 54(4): 423–431. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00484-009-0293-5
- Spiers, D. E., Spain, J. N., Sampson, J. D., and Rhoads, R. P. (2004). Use of physiological parameters to predict milk yield and feed intake in heat-stressed dairy cows. Journal of Thermal Biology. 29(7): 759–764. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtherbio.2004.08.051</u>
- Sprinkle, J. E., Sagers, J. K., Hall, J. B., Ellison, M. J., Yelich, J. V., Brennan, J. R., and Lamb, J.
  B. (2021). Predicting cattle grazing behavior on rangeland using accelerometers. Rangeland Ecology and Management. 76: 157-170.

- Statistics Canada, 2019a. Table: 32-10-0155-01 Selected livestock and poultry, historical data. Statistics Canada, Ottawa, ON, Canada doi: 10.25318/3210015501-eng (accessed 15.01.2019).
- Statistics Canada. (2023). Number of cattle, by class and farm type [dataset]. Government of Canada. https://doi.org/10.25318/3210013001-ENG
- St-Pierre, N. R., Cobanov, B., and Schnitkey, G. (2003). Economic Losses from Heat Stress by US Livestock Industries1. Journal of Dairy Science. 86: E52–E77. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(03)74040-5
- Stroup, W. W., Milliken, G. A., Claassen, E. A., and Wolfinger, R. D. (2018). SAS for mixed models: introduction and basic applications. SAS Institute, Cary North Carolina, USA. Pp 381
- Stull, C. L., Messam, L. L.McV., Collar, C. A., Peterson, N. G., Castillo, A. R., Reed, B. A.,
  Andersen, K. L., and VerBoort, W. R. (2008). Precipitation and Temperature Effects on
  Mortality and Lactation Parameters of Dairy Cattle in California. Journal of Dairy
  Science. 91(12): 4579–4591. <u>https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2008-1215</u>
- Tarrant, P. V. (1989). Animal behaviour and environment in the dark-cutting condition in beef: A review. Irish Journal of Food Science and Technology. 13: 70–107.
- Tasdemir, S., Urkmez, A., and Inal, S. (2011). Original papers: Determination of body measurements on the Holstein cows using digital image analysis and estimation of live weight with regression analysis. Computers and Electronics in Agriculture. 76(2) 189-197. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.COMPAG.2011.02.001</u>.
- Therneau, T., and Atkinson, B. (2023). rpart: Recursive Partitioning and Regression Trees. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=rpart

Thom, E. C. (1959). The Discomfort Index. Weatherwise. 12(2): 57–61. https://doi.org/10.1080/00431672.1959.9926960

- Thompson, V., Kennedy-Asser, A. T., Vosper, E., Lo, Y. T. E., Huntingford, C., Andrews, O., Collins, M., Hegerl, G. C., and Mitchell, D. (2022). The 2021 western North America heat wave among the most extreme events ever recorded globally. Science Advances. 8(18): eabm6860. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.abm6860
- Thompson, P. B., and Nardone, A. (1999). Sustainable livestock production: Methodological and ethical challenges. Journal of Livestock Production Science: 61(23): 111–119. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0301-6226(99)00061-5
- Tucker, C., and Schütz, K. (2009). Behavioral responses to heat stress: Dairy cows tell the story. Western Dairy Nutrition Conference, Tepme, AZ February. Erişim: Http://Animal. Cals. Arizona. Edu/Swnmc/Proceedings/2009/02Tucker\_09. Pdf. Visited, 3–04.
- United Nations. 2015 Revision of World Population Prospects, United Nations. Available online: https://esa.un.org/unpd/wpp/publications/files/keyfindingswpp2015.pdf (accessed on 25 April 2016)
- USDA. (2024). Livestock and Poultry: World Markets and Trade. United States Department of Agriculture. 1400 Independence Ave., S.W. Washington D.C. pp 19
- Vallentine, J. F. (2000), chapter 1 Introduction to grazing, pp 1-19, in Grazing management, Academic press, Utah, United States.
- VanderZaag, A., Riche, E. L., Qian, B., Smith, W., Baldé, H., Ouellet, V., Charbonneau, É., Wright, T., and Gordon, R. (2024). Trends in the risk of heat stress to Canadian dairy cattle in a changing climate. Canadian Journal of Animal Science. 104(1): 11–25. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjas-2023-0040

- VanRaden, P. M., Tooker, M. E., Cole, J. B., Wiggans, G. R., and Megonigal Jr, J. H. (2007). Genetic evaluations for mixed-breed populations. Journal of Dairy Science. 90(5): 2434-2441.
- VanWagoner, H. C., Bailey, D. W., Kress, D. D., Anderson, D. C., and Davis, K. C. (2006).
  Differences among beef sire breeds and relationships between terrain use and performance when daughters graze foothill rangelands as cows. Applied Animal Behaviour Science. 97(2-4): 105-121.
- Veira, D. M. (2007). Meeting water requirements of cattle on the Canadian prairies1. Journal of Rangeland Ecology and Management. 29(1): 79-86.
- Verdon, M., Horton, B., and Rawnsley, R. (2021). A case study on the use of virtual fencing to intensively graze angus heifers using moving front and back-fences. Frontiers in Animal Science. 2: 663963.

Vesna, Gantner, Marković, B., Gavran, M., Šperanda, M., Kučević, D., and Gregić, M. (2020). The effect of response to heat stress, parity, breed and breeding region on somatic cell count in dairy cattle. Veterinarski Arhiv. 90(5): 435–442. https://doi.org/10.24099/vet.arhiv.0697

Villalba, J. J., Cabassu, R., and Gunter, S. A. (2015). Forage choice in pasturelands: Influence on cattle foraging behavior and performance. Journal of Animal Science. 93(4): 1729-1740.

Vitali, A., Segnalini, M., Bertocchi, L., Bernabucci, U., Nardone, A., and Lacetera, N. (2009). Seasonal pattern of mortality and relationships between mortality and temperaturehumidity index in dairy cows. Journal of Dairy Science. 92(8): 3781–3790. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2009-2127

- Von Keyserlingk, M. A. G., Rushen, J., de Passillé, A. M., and Weary, D. M. (2009). Invited review: The welfare of dairy cattle—key concepts and the role of science. Journal of Dairy Science. 92(9): 4101-4111.
- Waghorn, G. C., and Clark, D. A. (2004). Feeding value of pastures for ruminants. New Zealand Veterinary Journal. 52(6): 320-331.
- Walker, J. W. (1995). Viewpoint: Grazing management and research now and in the next millennium. Journal of Range Management. 48(4): 350-357. https://doi.org/10.2307/4002488
- Walmsley, B. J., Lee, S. J., Parnell, P. F., and Pitchford, W. S. (2016). A review of factors influencing key biological components of maternal productivity in temperate beef cattle. Animal Production Science. 58(1): 1-19.
- Wang, J., Li, J., Wang, F., Xiao, J., Wang, Y., Yang, H., Li, S., and Cao, Z. (2020). Heat stress on calves and heifers: A review. Journal of Animal Science and Biotechnology. 11(1): 79-87. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40104-020-00485-8
- Wang, Z., Nkrumah, J.D., Li, C., Basarab, J. A., Goonewardene, L. A., Okine, E. K., Crews, Jr.D. H. and Moore, S.S. 2006. Test duration for growth, feed intake and feed efficiency in beef cattle using the GrowSafe system. Journal of Animal Science. 84: 2289-2298.
- Webster, A. J. F. (1989). Bioenergetics, bioengineering and growth. Journal of Animal Science.48(2): 249-269.
- Welch, J. G., and Smith, A. M. (1970). Forage Quality and Rumination Time in Cattle. Journal of Dairy Science. 53(6): 797–800. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(70)86293-2
- West, J. W. (2003). Effects of Heat-Stress on Production in Dairy Cattle. Journal of Dairy Science. 86(6): 2131–2144. <u>https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(03)73803-X</u>

- Wickham, H., Averick, M., Bryan, J., Chang, W., McGowan, L., François, R., Grolemund, G., Hayes, A., Henry, L., Hester, J., Kuhn, M., Pedersen, T., Miller, E., Bache, S., Müller, K., Ooms, J., Robinson, D., Seidel, D., Spinu, V., and Yutani, H. (2019). Welcome to the Tidyverse. Journal of open source Software. 4(43): 1686. https://doi.org/10.21105/joss.01686
- Widi, T. S. M. (2015). Mapping the Impact of Crossbreeding in Smallholder Cattle Systems in Indonesia (Order No. 28233198). Available from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global.(2563500808).<u>https://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=https://www.pro quest.com/dissertations-theses/mapping-impact-crossbreeding-smallholdercattle/docview/2563500808/se-2</u>
- Williams, G. J. (2011). Data Mining with Rattle and R: The art of excavating data for knowledge discovery. Springer, Jamson centre, Australia. pp 382. https://rd.springer.com/book/10.1007/978-1-4419-9890-3
- Winchester, C. F., and Morris, M. J. (1956). Water Intake Rates of Cattle. Journal of Animal Science. 15(3): 722–740. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas1956.153722x
- Wójcik, P. T., and Olszewski, A. (2015). Use of pedometers to analyse 24-hour activity and fertility of Limousin cows. https://api.semanticscholar.org/CorpusID:78726329
- Yukun, S., Pengju, H., Yujie, W., Ziqi, C., Yang, L., Baisheng, D., Runze, L., and Yonggen, Z.
  (2019). Automatic monitoring system for individual dairy cows based on a deep learning framework that provides identification via body parts and estimation of body condition score. Journal of Dairy Science. 102(11): 10140-10151. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2018-16164.

- Zhang, X., Vincent, L. A., Hogg, W. D., and Niitsoo, A. (2000). Temperature and precipitation trends in Canada during the 20th century. Atmosphere-ocean. 38(3): 395-429.
- Zimbelman, R., Rhoads, R., Rhoads, M., Duff, G., Baumgard, L., and Collier, R. (2009). A Reevaluation of the Impact of Temperature Humidity Index (THI) and Black Globe Humidity Index (BGHI) on Milk Production in High Producing Dairy Cows. Proceeding of Southwest Nutrition and Management Conference, Tempe, AZ. University of Arizona. pp 158-168.
- Zou, C., Liang, X., Yang, B., Liang, K., Liu, J., Zhongsheng, X., Zhao, F., and Wei, S. (2007). Study of energy metabolism of dairy buffalo heifers in Guangxi, China. Journal of Animal and Feed Sciences. 16: 54-58. <u>https://doi.org/10.22358/JAFS/74418/2007</u>.

## Appendices A



**Figure A2.1.** Relationship between mean daily step counts and thermal heat index (THI >68) during the 2021 summer grazing season at the Kinsella Research Ranch.



**Figure A2.2.** Relationship between mean daily lying time and thermal heat index (THI >68) during the 2021 summer grazing season at the Kinsella Research Ranch.



**Figure A2.3.** Relationship between mean daily lying time and animal class during the 2021 summer grazing season at the Kinsella Research Ranch.
## **Appendices B**

**Table B3.1** Summary of the model selection of cow mean daily step counts, evaluated in comparison to various intrinsic factors on Kinsella Composite cattle during the summer grazing season of 2023 (July 14 – Sept. 12). Intrinsic factors include cow age, breed composition (percentage Angus) and RFI-fat (measured in drylot as a heifer).

Number of Variables	Variables in Model	AIC Values	$\Delta$ AIC Values
1	Age	101.98	0.00
1	Breed Composition	102.78	0.80
1	Residual Feed Intake- Fat Adjusted	103.08	1.10
2	RFI Fat and Age	103.82	1.83
2	Breed Composition and Age	103.93	1.94
2	BC and RFI Fat	104.37	2.40
3	Age, BC, and RFIF	105.74	3.75

**Table B3.2** Summary of the linear regression parameters explaining cow mean daily step counts, in relation to cow age, breed composition (percentage Angus) and RFI-fat adjusted (measured in drylot as a heifer) of Kinsella Composite crossbred cattle, as evaluated during the summer grazing season of 2023 (July 14 -Sept. 12, 2023).

Dependent Variable	Intrinsic	Mean Estimate (β)	Intercept	P-Value	Adj-R <sup>2</sup>
	Variable				
Daily Steps	Cow Age	-33	4375	0.87	-0.023
Daily Steps	Cow BC	-530	4425	0.57	-0.016
Daily Steps	RFI-fat	60.20	4245	0.72	-0.022

**Table B3.3** Summary of the model selection of cow mean daily step counts in relation to various intrinsic factors on Kinsella Composite crossbred cows, including cow age, breed composition (percentage Angus) and RFI-fat, as evaluate during the fall grazing season of 2023 (Sept. 15 -Nov. 2).

Number of Variables	Variables in Model	AIC Values	∆AIC Values
1	Age	518.87	0.00
1	Breed Composition	518.98	0.11
1	Residual Feed Intake- fat adjusted	518.99	0.12
2	Breed Composition and Age	520.27	1.40
2	RFI-fat and Age	520.63	1.78
2	BC and RFI-fat	520.86	2.00
3	Age, BC, and RFI-fat	521.94	3.10

**Table B3.4** Summary of the linear regression parameters explaining cow mean daily step counts, in relation to cow age, breedcomposition (percentage Angus) and RFI-fat (measured in drylot as a heifer) of Kinsella Composite crossbred cattle, evaluatedduring the fall grazing season of 2023 (Sept. 15 – Nov. 2).

Dependent Variable	Intrinsic Variable	Mean Estimate (β)	Intercept	P-Value	Adj-R <sup>2</sup>
Daily Steps	Cow Age	-249	4377	0.09	0.05
Daily Steps	Cow BC	-16	3527	0.98	-0.03
Daily Steps	RFI-fat	-48	3542	0.72	-0.02

**Table B3.5:** Summary of the linear regression parameters explaining cow weight and calf weight gain, in relation to cow mean daily step counts of large Kinsella Composite crossbred cattle, evaluated during the summer grazing season of 2023 (July 14– Sept. 12) and fall grazing season of 2023 (Sept. 15 - Nov. 2)

Grazing Season:		Summer 2	2023				Fall 2	023		
Dependent variable	Activity variable	Mean Estimate (β)	Intercept	P- Value	Adj-R <sup>2</sup>	Activity variable	Mean Estimate (β)	Intercept	P - Value	Adj-R <sup>2</sup>
Cow Weight Gain	Cow daily step counts	-0.002	34.71	0.75	0.02	Cow daily step counts	0.01	41.94	0.23	0.01
Calf Weight Gain	Cow daily step counts	0.003	53.57	0.43	0.01	Cow daily step counts	0.00	45	0.59	0.03

**Table B3.6** Summary of the model selection of cow mean daily lying time percent in relation to various intrinsic factors on Kinsella Composite crossbred cows, including cow age, breed composition (percentage Angus) and RFI-fat, as evaluate during the summer grazing season of 2023 (July. 14 - Sept. 12).

Number in Model	Variables in Model	AIC Values	∆AIC Values
1	Age	101.98	0.00
1	Breed Composition	102.78	0.80
1	Residual Feed Intake Fat Adjusted	103.08	1.10
2	RFI Fat and Age	103.82	1.84
2	Breed Composition and Age	103.93	1.95
2	BC and RFIF	104.37	2.40
3	Age, BC, and RFIF	105.74	3.76

**Table B3.7** Summary of the linear regression parameters explaining cow mean daily lying time percent, in relation to cow age, breed composition (percentage Angus) and RFI-fat (measured in drylot as a heifer) of Kinsella Composite crossbred cattle, evaluated during the summer grazing season of 2023 (July. 14 – Sept. 12).

Dependent Variable	Variable	Mean Estimate (β)	Intercept	P-Value	Adj-R <sup>2</sup>
Lying Time (%)	Cow Age	-1.44	43.14	0.18	0.02
Lying Time (%)	Cow BC	4.49	36.92	0.37	-0.004
Lying Time (%)	RFI-fat	-0.61	38.28	0.52	-0.01

Number in Model	Variables in Model	AIC Values	ΔAIC Values
1	Age	99.42	0.00
1	Breed Composition	101.38	1.96
1	Residual Feed Intake-fat Adjusted	101.41	1.99
2	Breed Composition and Age	101.47	2.05
3	Age, BC, and RFI-fat	103.35	3.93
2	RFI-fat and Age	103.47	4.05

**Table B3.8** Summary of the model selection of cow mean daily lying time percent in relation to various intrinsic factors on Kinsella Composite crossbred cows, including cow age, breed composition (percentage Angus) and RFI-fat, as evaluate during the fall grazing season of 2023 (Sept. 15 -Nov. 2)

**Table B3.9** Summary of the linear regression parameters explaining cow mean daily lying time percent, in relation to cow age, breed composition (percentage Angus) and RFI-fat (measured in drylot as a heifer) of Kinsella Composite crossbred cattle, evaluated during the fall grazing season of 2023 (Sept. 15 - Nov. 2).

Dependent Variable	Variable	Mean Estimate (β)	Intercept	P-Value	Adj-R <sup>2</sup>
Lying Time (%)	Cow Age	-1.05	40.75	0.35	0.002
Lying Time (%)	Cow BC	3.58	28.73	0.56	-0.01
Lying Time (%)	RFI-fat	-0.66	43.71	0.75	-0.05

**Table B3.10** Summary of the linear regression parameters explaining cow weight and calf weight gain, in relation to cow mean daily lying time percent of large Kinsella Composite crossbred cattle, evaluated during the summer grazing season of 2023 (July 14– Sept. 12) and fall grazing season of 2023 (Sept. 15 – Nov. 2)

Grazing Season:		Summe	er 2023				Fall 20	23		
Dependent variable	Activity variable	Mean Estimate (β)	Intercept	P- Value	Adj-R <sup>2</sup>	Activity variable	Mean Estimate (β)	Intercept	P - Value	Adj-R <sup>2</sup>
cow weight gain	cow daily lying time percent	0.9	45.2	0.43	0.01	cow daily lying time percent	-0.80	104.5	0.37	0.01
calf weight gain	cow daily lying time percent	-1.04	106.2	0.14	0.03	cow daily lying time percent	-0.32	59.2	0.27	0.01

**Table B3.11** Summary ANOVA results examining summer cow weight gain, summer calf weight gain, and cow-calf weight gain in relation to cow mean daily lying time percent (LTP), age, and their interactions as evaluated for Angus cows in the summer grazing season of 2022

Production Variable	Effect	df (num, den)	F-Value	p-value
Summer Cow Weight	lying time	1,33	0.53	0.65
Gain	Age	8,33	1.31	0.73
	lying time*Age	8,33	5.77	0.39
Summer Calf Weight	lying time	1,32	1.88	0.55
Gain.	Age	8,32	2.65	0.49
	lying time*Age	8,32	1.67	0.70
Cow Calf Weight Gain	lying time	1,32	0.74	0.81
	Age	8,32	1.65	0.89
	lying time*Age	8,32	2.67	0.77

**Table B3.12** Summary of the linear regression parameters explaining cow mean daily step counts, in relation to breed composition (percentage Angus) and RFI-fat (measured in drylot as a heifer) of Kinsella Composite crossbred cattle, evaluated during the summer grazing season of 2021(June 24 -Aug. 26), 2022 (July 6 – Sept.12) and 2023 (July14. – Sept. 12).

Dependent Variable	Variable	Mean Estimate (β)	Intercept	P-Value	Adj-R <sup>2</sup>
Daily step counts (step d <sup>-1</sup> )	Cow BC	-982	5160	0.25	0.003
Daily step counts (step d <sup>-1</sup> )	RFI-fat	41	4855	0.60	-0.01
Daily step counts (step d <sup>-1</sup> )	Cow BC * RFI-fat	960	5181	0.60	-0.02

**Table B3.13** Summary of the linear regression parameters explaining cow mean daily lying time percent, in relation to breed composition (percentage Angus) and RFI-fat (measured in drylot as a heifer) of Kinsella Composite crossbred cattle, evaluated during the summer grazing season of 2021(June 24 -Aug. 26), 2022 (July 6 – Sept. 12) and 2023 (July14. – Sept. 12).

Dependent Variable	Variable	Mean Estimate (β)	Intercept	P-Value	Adj-R <sup>2</sup>
Lying time (%)	Cow BC	-6.2	39.4	0.15	0.01
Lying time (%)	RFI-fat	0.27	37.2	0.50	-0.01
Lying time (%)	Cow BC * RFI-fat	-3.8	39.3	0.43	-0.002

**Table B3.14** Summary of the linear regression parameters explaining heifers mean daily lying time percent, in relation to breed composition (percentage Angus) and RFI-fat (measured in drylot as a heifer) of Kinsella Composite crossbred cattle, evaluated during the summer grazing season of 2021(June 24 -Aug. 26) and 2022 (July 6 – Sept.12)

Dependent Variable	Variable	Mean Estimate (β)	Intercept	P-Value	Adj-R <sup>2</sup>
Lying time (%)	Cow BC	-11.8	47	0.14	0.04
Lying time (%)	RFI-fat	0.31	43	0.43	-0.01
Lying time (%)	Cow BC * RFI-fat	-5.7	46.8	0.27	0.04

**Table B3.15** Summary of the linear regression parameters explaining cow weight and calf weight gain, in relation to cow mean daily lying time percent of Kinsella Composite crossbred cattle, evaluated during the fall grazing season of 2021 (Aug. 27-Nov. 10), 2022 (Sept. 15 - Nov. 10) and 2023 (Sept. 15 - Nov. 2)

Animal Age	Cows	Heifers
Class:		

Dependent variable	Activity variable	Mean Estimate (β)	Intercept	P- Value	Adj-R <sup>2</sup>	Activity variable	Mean Estimate (β)	Intercept	P - Value	Adj-R <sup>2</sup>
cow weight gain	cow daily lying time percent	-1.11	40.4	0.31	0.001	cow daily lying time percent	-1.55	47.4	0.38	-0.01
calf weight gain	cow daily lying time percent	-0.11	66.7	0.83	-0.02	cow daily lying time percent	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A

**Table B3.16** Summary of the linear regression parameters explaining cow weight and calf weight gain, in relation to cow mean daily step counts percent of Kinsella Composite crossbred cattle, evaluated during the fall grazing season of 2021 (Aug. 27-Nov. 10), 2022 (Sept. 15 - Nov. 10) and 2023 (Sept. 15 - Nov. 2)

Animal Age	Cows				Heifers						
Class:											
Dependent variable	Activity variable	Mean Estimate (β)	Intercept	P- Value	Adj-R <sup>2</sup>	Activity variable	Mean Estimate (β)	Intercept	P - Value	Adj-R <sup>2</sup>	
cow weight gain	cow daily step counts	0.01	-25	0.42	-0.01	cow daily step counts	0.003	-23.5	0.75	-0.01	
calf weight gain	cow daily step counts	-0.003	71.7	0.50	-0.01	cow daily step counts	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	

**Table B3.17** Summary of the linear regression parameters explaining calf weight gain, in relation to cow mean daily lying time percent of Kinsella Composite crossbred cattle, evaluated during the evaluated during the summer grazing season of 2021(June 24 -Aug. 26), 2022 (July 6 – Sept.12) and 2023 (July14. – Sept. 12).

Dependent variable	Activity variable	Mean Estimate (β)	Intercept	P- Value	Adj-R <sup>2</sup>	Activity variable	Mean Estimate (β)	Intercept	P - Value	Adj-R <sup>2</sup>
calf weight gain	cow daily lying time percent	-0.75	75.36	0.65	0.001	cow mean daily step counts	0.06	64.67	0.45	-0.01



Figure B3.1 Summary of the relationship between cow weight gain and calf weight gain of the Kinsella composite cross bred cattle in the summer and fall grazing season of 2021, 2022, and 2023.